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“FRESH THINKING QUALITY LIVING”
“JE JL WG AE > 5 E 22 T

Headquartered in Shanghai, SPG Land (Holdings) Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 337) is a reputable property developer
that is principally engaged in the development of quality residential and hotel properties, (“SPG Land” or the “Group”).
Since the incorporation of the Group, it has successfully developed three exemplar large-scale trophy projects in Shanghai,
namely, Cambridge Forest Newtown, Cambridge Waters (“Tiffany”) and Cambridge Watertown (“Oriental Garden").
These trophy projects have enhanced the Group’s brand name and reputation. With exquisite residential design, unique
living environment, innovative architectural style and outstanding sales performance, the Group is awarded as “Shanghai
Top Ten Foreign Property Developers in 18 Years”, “Star of the Top 100 Developers” amongst the top real estate
developers in China. “Most Influential Brand Enterprise” and various other awards. The listing of the Group on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in October 2006 has further reinforced the Group’s profile in the international
capital market. In March 2007, the Group is elected as a constituent stock of the 200-Stock Hang Seng Composite Index Series
and Hang Seng Freeflow Index Series.

Since the listing of SPG Land in 2006, the Group has expanded its development projects geographically and strategically
to cities in Yangtze River Delta, such as Wuxi, Changshu, Suzhou, Huangshan and also various provincial capital cities that
are emerging and developing with high-potential such as, Kunming Haikou and Taiyuan. The rapid growth sustained in
the China’s economy has accelerated the progress of urbanization. This results in an increase of disposable income from
the urban population, in particular the middle-to-high income sector. The Group is committed to providing high-quality
products and distinctive services to enhance the standard of living to its customers. To achieve this objective, the Group
works with world renowned design and architectural teams in the development of their projects. As for the land bank,
the Group adopts a proactive yet prudent approach in their selection of projects to ensure the land bank is replenished
with quality and high-growth potential land. The management team firmly believes that the healthy and sustainable
development of the Group, in the long run, depends on the provision of quality products and projects with good growth
potential.

The excellent track record of the Group'’s in property development
and active co-operation with leading hotel management groups in
the investment and development of hotel properties has brought
promising outcomes and recurring income for the Group. The current
hotel projects include the crown-jewel Shanghai Peninsula Hotel, the
Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn, and the Crowne Plaza Resort Hotel
located in the world-renowned scenic Huangshan. These projects
under the Group’s hotel business development will benefit greatly
from the prosperous tourism industry in China and the upcoming 2010
World Expo in Shanghai. This increase in recurrent income from hotel
operations and investment properties will strengthen the business
foundation of SPG Land in the long run.

“Fresh Thinking, Quality Living” is the corporate creed of SPG Land. This, along with the international and professional
background of the Group, enables SPG Land to stand out in the real estate market in China. With professional
management skills, excellent quality products and prudent financial operation, SPG Land look towards to building
a better future for cities in China, creating a comfortable and harmonious society and maximizing returns for the
stakeholders of the Group.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B 7% i B2

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS ¥#&/E
For the year ended 31 December #Z+=-A=+—HILFE

2010 2009

—g-%f ot S

RMB Million RMB Million Change
ARBAET ARBEBEETT i it

Revenue Uz 3,065 +39%
Gross Profit £ 914 +39%
Profit from Operating Activities 2 [ 48 & & &) 7 693 +45%
Net Profit J5 830 +9%
Attributable to: JA N A &L :
— Equity Holders of the Company — AR RIBEAERH A A 679 +31%
— Minority Interests — > #{ & R AE S 151 -93%
Earnings Per Share (RMB) & & & #| (A B # 7T)
— Basic (re-stated) — &4 0.644+ +32%
— Diluted (re-stated) —#5& 0.524+ +57%
* ‘Earnings per share’ has been restated for the impact of * (SR ABFBEREE T HREN T
the bonus issue as explained in note 18 of the consolidated 1I8SFTMEBMARETINT ZE/EL

financial statements. Rl

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS
EERE




BEEHEZERERAIE —T-TFFH 3

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B 5 Ji 2

2010 REVENUE ANALYSIS —ZE—ZFEWE T

2010 2009
—2-%F —TENE

RMB Million RMB Million Change
AR¥EETR AREBET e

Sales of Property ¥ % 4&

Lease of Property %M E 27 +7%
Property Management & Others ¥ &1 & H A 111 +15%
Total &&T 3,065 +39%

As at 31 December A+ =—HA=+—H

2010 2009

—E-EF —ETNF
RMB Million RMB Million Change
AR¥EETR ARBAET e

Total Assets & & 4258
Total Liabilities B {&42%8
Total Equity #4858

12,862 +36%
4,107 +10%

2010 REVENUE ANALYSIS
—E-FHFREIMN




4 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2010

KEY EVENTS OF THE YEAR
A B K 55 ]

2010

In January, the second phase of Xi Shui Dong in Wuxi was
launched with overwhelming market response and all units
were sold out within a day. This demonstrates that our brand
brings in strong influence and impact to the market.

In February, two pieces of land were required in Wuxi,
which located at Taihu New Town and along Taihu Avenue
respectively, through public listing. This is the first land bank
replenishment in the year 2010 and the volume of our YRD
land bank has increased by 1.46 million sqg m and our overall
land bank now reaches 5.2 million sq m.

In February, SPG Land entered into an agreement with
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China for available loan
facilities of RMB10 billion.

On March 18th, the grand opening of the Shanghai Peninsula
Hotel, symbolized a grand welcome to top-of-the-line hotel
services into Shanghai and it is another showcase of the
successful implementation of the Group’s product strategy.
The Shanghai Peninsula becomes the new landmark amongst
the buildings on the Shanghai Bund.

In March, the Group acquired 50.1% equity interest of a
project held by Hainan Tianyuan Lifeng Shiye Co., Ltd., which
was acquired through listing-for-sale in October 2009. The
site is situated at the west coast of Haikou city and next to the
New City Hall of the Government Administration of Haikou.
The project will be developed on a site area of approximately
339,720 sq.m.

In July, completed an acquisition of the 29% issued share
capital of projects of Kunming the Metropolitan and Shanghai
Watertown owned by a fund managed by Mausica Investment
Limited. Upon completion, the Group held the entire issued
share capital of these projects.

In July, China Welfare, SPG Land held the ceremony of
donation in Taiyuan for the “Project Good Health for Mothers
and Babies”. On the ceremony, SPG Land (Holdings) Limited
donated RMB3.23 million to Project Good Health for Mothers
and Babies in Shanxi through China Song Qingling Foundation,
and established “China Welfare, SPG Land - Project Good
Health for Mothers and Babies” Foundation.
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KEY EVENTS OF THE YEAR
A BE K 5 ] B

. In July and August, Tiffany achieved outstanding sales . tAMNA BB RENFTE AN

performance with sales of approximately 300 units within only HEXLE FISAEEMEARN
two months. Sales amount reached RMB575 million which HE EHIM300E - HE & 8 ES75
was about 1/3 of the annual sale target. In both months the B - E2FHEBEFRE1/3 KA
Group was ranked among top 10 in the ranking by Shanghai AUAZB L EERETHEE S
Commodities Residential Units Sold. 171 top 10 °

o In September, Xi Shui Dong project was grandly launched and . NA EBETESAKEIEBEKX

500 people were present for the 150 units, and over RMB320 8 - S00A RIS EBIS0ERIR -
million worth of property units were sold in an hour. This TNEREBI2EB T L AEBRRA
launch was the first centralized sale activity after the dual- KEEFoORAIE®mGEMIE B 8
record-breaking sale in September last year which had record- EReE HEAREIEMIHEN
high single-day sales amount and record-high speed of sale BREFREES EHEBAESTED
in the property market of Wuxi. This launch was again well AR

received by the property market in Wuxi.

. In October, the Company exercised the early redemption . THA ARAFRTHEREE L EEEN

option to repurchase all of its Outstanding USD Settled Zero BOHEMEHMAEENETLHEES
Coupon Convertible Bonds. Upon the Redemption, all the EAHEBES - BEEE FEWARE
Outstanding Bonds have been cancelled. BEFDOKTHE-

o In October, the Group actively participated in a major disaster- o + A EBEEBLNMTEESLODERS
relief performance held in Haikou by Haikou Broadcasting BERTHEOMARIKLEEETE -
and Television and donated RMB3 million to fund the WIRH B R308B T UK RERESE
reconstruction of homes for victims. FXRE -

. On 30 October, Hidden Tiger Golf Club in Huangshan was . +A=Z+H BELUBRESBERIER

grandly opened and more than a hundred honorable guests AR¥X - BHREcHEEEEEE.
were present to celebrate. 19 membership cards were ERXNERIIREEFRHNHEE HE
sold on the day and sales amount was in excess of RMB10 EWFE -sLEAESBR 2= 1L
million. Hidden Tiger Golf Club in Huangshan is the first AEHEBENGEEKNEE  EE
completed project in Huangshan Taiping Lake Resort. Upon ERZN%Z BHAAELAEER®RAEB
full completion, the project will comprise a multitude of EtELERRE FEERAE -
constructions including a five-star Crowne Plaza Hotel, a seven- PEMBEEALTSESSERERNS
star Chedi Hotel, specialty resort villas, apartments and yacht 4B e
club.

. For the whole year 2010, the Group's contracted sales reached . T E-EFE - AEENANEESR
RMB6,390 million, another record in the company’s history and EARBIOEBIL B EHE
exceeded our revised annual target of RMB6,000 million. WEBBEMETENFREEREAR

¥ 6018 JT °
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES
B T [ Bk R

2010

1.

10.

11.

12.

Shanghai Cambridge Forest Newtown e Xiuxi Apartment is
awarded “Most Popular New Landmark Property Project in
Shanghai 2010” (China Index Academy, Soufun)

Haikou Florea is awarded “Renowned Leading Property Project
in Hainan” (Sohu focus)

Haikou Florea is awarded Recommended Community
Residential Project in Hainan (Soufun)

Haikou Florea is awarded “Real Estate Enterprise with Strong
Brand in Hainan” (Sohu focus)

Kunming The Metropolitan is awarded the Grand Prize for
Innovative Environmental Planning for Residential Areas
in China 2010 (Real Estate Promotions Unit under the
Construction Sector Sub-Association of China International
Trade Promotions Association, Soufun)

Kunming The Metropolitan is awarded “Citizens’ Most
Preferred Property Project in Kunming 2010” (Organizing
Committee, Real Estate Trade Fair in Kunming 2010)

Kunming The Metropolitan is awarded “Property Project in
Kun-dian with Golden Investment Value 2010"” (Assessment
Committee for Golden Property Projects in Yunnan 2010)

Kunming The Metropolitan Phases | and Il is awarded “First-
class Prize under ‘Spring City Cup’ — Kunming’s Outstanding
Construction Award 2010” (Kunming Construction Federation)

Kunming The Metropolitan is awarded a “Leading Golden Real
Estate Enterprise in Kun-dian 2010" (Assessment Committee
for Golden Property Projects in Yunnan 2010)

Kunming The Metropolitan is awarded a “Golden Real Estate
Management Company in Kun-dian 2010"” (Assessment
Committee for Golden Property Projects in Yunnan 2010)

Kunming SPG Land Property Development Co., Ltd. is awarded
“The Most Attention-Drawing Property of Home Buyers 2010”
(Sohu focus; Sunshine Frequency 100.8)

Wuxi Xi Shui Dong is awarded “2010 Real Estate Civil
Livelihood Year — Top Ten Property Project with Most
Innovation Advertising” (Jiangsu 365 Network Company
Limited (Wuxi Branch)
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES
B8 I ] Bk R

20.

21.

22.

Wuxi Xi Shui Dong is awarded “Property Project with the Best
Investment Value in Wuxi, Jiangsu 2010” (Jiangsu Broadcasting
and Television Group — Publication Centre)

Wuxi Xi Shui Dong is awarded “Oscar Award for Property
Project with the Best Investment Value in Wuxi 2010” (Wuxi
Daily Press Group — Mobile phone Magazine “Property Market
Next Magazine"”)

Global 188 is awarded “Grand Prize of Most Applauded
Property Project 2009 — 2010"” (365 Property and Home
Website)

Global 188 is awarded “Popular Property Project in Spring
Television Housing Fair in Suzhou 2010” (Suzhou Broadcasting

and Television Main Station)

Global 188 is awarded “Recommended Metro Line Project for
the World Expo Year” (Shanghai Property Market)

Global 188 is awarded “Top Ten Model Real Estate Enterprise
2010" (Netcoc.com)

Global 188 is awarded “Ten Most Notable Landmark Project
2010" (Netcoc.com)

Global 188 is awarded “Signpost Commercial Complex in
Suzhou 2010" (Suzhou Broadcasting and Television Main
Station)

Global 188 is awarded “Top Ten New Landmark Commercial
Property in Suzhou 2010” (Suzhou Industry and Commerce
Federation, Suzhou Commerce Federation, and Suzhou
Industry and Commerce Federation — Real Estate Chamber of

Commerce)

Global 188 is awarded
Investment Value in Suzhou,

"Property Project with the Best
Jiangsu 2010" (Jiangsu
Broadcasting and Television Group)

15.

16.

18.

20.

21.

22.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Subsequent to the global economic crisis, the PRC economy witnessed strong recovery in year 2010.
At the same time, a new round of austerity measures was adopted by the central government for
curbing the overheated real estate sector. As inflation expectation is coming into reality, the central
bank’s interest rate is entering a rising cycle... Despite the ups and downs and drastic changes in the
real estate market, SPG Land managed to attain its outstanding performance in 2010 and secured
stable growth of the Company. The past year was one comprising both crisis and opportunities. SPG
Land made good use of it and initiated its strategic corporate rebranding plan. Such positive and
orderly innovation and reform, implemented in response to market changes, did not only help SPG
Land to successfully over-perform the market but also identified a clear strategic goal of becoming “the
most influential high-end property developer” and highlighted the core competence of SPG Land, but
also enabled us to kick off our plan for gathering human resources that cater to the future. All these
have contributed to SPG Land'’s reinforced solid foundation and firmly safeguarded the skyrocketing
growth of it business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESi R o

HIGH-END REAL ESTATE BUSINESS OFFERING
FINE WORK

Selecting high-quality land, fabricating innovative products,
and seeking to construct local landmark buildings with historic
significance in each and every city have been our focus over the past
13 years of our development and have contributed to SPG Land's
emergence from a “fine-work real estate business” to a “high-
end real estate business”. In 2010, we duly announced our grand
strategic goal of becoming a “most influential high-end property
developer”. The declaration of such notion of a “high-end real
estate business” represented a key step in the strategic skyrocketing
development of SPG Land and shall enable us to push forward the
construction of SPG Land more clearly in terms of its corporate scale,
sustainable growth, investment return, humanity value and brand
recognition. Under the notion of “high-end real estate business”,
SPG Land delivered a sequence of outstanding performance. That
includes Peninsula Shanghai which was recognized as one of “The
World's Best Business Hotel 2010” by Fortune and Wallpaper
magazines. Regarding acquisition of land, SPG Land successfully
acquired in a bidding parcels of premium land reserve in the new city
centres of Wuxi, Haikou and Ningbo. Our first project in Huangshan
Taiping Lake area has been successful, with the grand opening
of the Hidden Tiger Golf Club in Huangshan in October this year,
which signified the commencement of SPG Land’s development of
its high-end tourism business. Under fierce market competition, SPG
Land sustained its strength from the previous year and managed
to achieve record-breaking sales figures in the respective local real
estate markets in Wuxi, Haikou, Kunming, Suzhou, Changshu etc.

LAYING CENTURY-OLD FOUNDATION IN
RELIANCE UPON HUMAN RESOURCES

To lay a solid foundation which lasts for a century, human resources
would be the most important to gather and cultivate. Today, SPG
Land has become a publicly-listed integrated property development
conglomerate with multiple product lines, more than five hundred
employees, nearly 20 projects and spanning across eight cities and
provinces. In this important stage, we streamlined our corporate
structure and cultivated a pool of human resources in 2010, getting
ourselves prepared for further glorious development.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
F R HH

SPG Land will adhere to the cultivation of a management system
with core competence in its products. In this regard, we formulated

r “2+x" product strategy last year, where “2" refers to mixed-
use development projects and residential communities in cities,
whereas “x"” refers to the recreational property projects in cities.
Working around three product lines, SPG Land will form three new
business divisions, each of which being directly responsible for the
development of products in the respective categories. Our goal is to
work finely and intensively on each and every category of projects
under our strategy of producing fine works. We do not only aim to
become a regional benchmark in individual projects, but also seek to
enrich our experience and lay the foundation for the rapid growth
of our standardized and large-scale construction development. Such
new business models require the use of a systematic workflow and
management processes and the deployment of the dedicated and
specialized human resources in different segments of the system.
In future, the notion of “standardized, systematic and specialized”
human resources deployment will play a pivotal role in propelling our
rapid development on the path of “gradual and innovative growth”.
Our corporation will consistently keep itself competitive among its
industry peers in terms of the remuneration offered to its employees,
so as to attract high-calibre people and practically implement the
notion of “Putting Efforts with Hearts, Reaping Rewards with
Happiness”, thereby cultivating a professional team of people who
are stable, down-to-earth and innovative.

CONTINUE TO STRENGTHEN THE THREE
ELEMENTS OF OUR CORE COMPETENCE

The sound development of SPG Land is attributable to the three
elements of our core competence, namely our ongoing innovation,
outstanding capability in integrating resources and the all-rounded
marketing capability. Our ongoing innovation has enabled us to
fabricate a batch of landmark projects in the PRC market especially
the Yangtze River Delta region, such as Suzhou Global 188, the
tallest in Suzhou, and Xi Shui Dong, a central living area in Wuxi. Our
innovative products have not only won our market but also granted
us recognition by governmental bodies in our acquisition of land
parcels. The enormous influence of our projects in their respective
localities has repeatedly echoed the brand equity of SPG Land. Our
outstanding capability in integrating resources is derived from our
more-than-decade-old team of design, planning and operation
of commercial and hotel projects, which boasts international
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vision, spirit of innovation and the ability in exploring international
cooperation with top teams around the globe. At present, SPG Land
has a stable team of core people, long-term strategic cooperation
partners and a chain of quality suppliers. Our goal is to integrate
good resources and create premium projects in different cities. Our
all-rounded marketing capability represents our advantage enjoyed
over the years. In recent years, we have further extended and
developed its breadth and depth. As early as in the stage of land
acquisition, we would thoroughly understand the culture and market
from a marketing perspective, setting the benchmark of prices and
having the strongest profitability in the respective local markets. To
secure the brand equity of SPG Land, we treat customer service as
a key factor in judging marketing capability, which approach would
truly direct our marketing capability to service our projects on an all-
rounded basis. All these are important factors contributing to our
leading position in terms of selling prices and sales volume on the
market, especially Yangtze River Delta region.

It has been one year already and we are starting the next. On behalf
of the board of directors, | would like to thank all shareholders,
investors, strategic and business partners for their trust and support
for the Group during the year. Whilst the economic crisis is fading
away, the uncertainties in the global market have not thoroughly
changed, and negative factors still exist in the PRC’s property market
albeit its prosperous outlook. It can be envisaged that 2011 will be a
year full of ups and downs and challenges. “It gives you wider view
if you stand at a higher point”, a Chinese proverb goes. SPG Land
has taken the chance to formulate its notion of “high-end real estate
business”, adjust its corporate structure and established the core
competence of SPG Land. | believe that our ongoing efforts in laying
solid foundation for SPG Land, the refinement of the system of
gradual innovation and the construction of a platform for rapid and
module-based development will definitely create outstanding values
for our shareholders tomorrow and in the more distant future.
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| have much pleasure to present the operating results of
SPG Land (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31 December 2010 (“FY2010").
Despite the strictest tightening measures in history that
were implemented by the Chinese government on the real
estate market, the Group managed to maintain a steady
and sustainable growth momentum during the FY2010.
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During the year under review, the Group has achieved contracted
sales of RMB6,390 million, another record in the company’s history,
and exceeded our revised annual target of RMB6,000 million. During
the year, the Group recognized a total revenue of RMB4,271 million,
up by 39% over the RMB3,065 million in FY2009. Net profit of the
Group, amounted to RMB902 million, increased by 8.7% over last
year; in particular, total comprehensive income attributable to equity
holders of the Group recorded a year-on-year increase of 31.1% to
RMB890 million (2009: RMB679 million).

The Board of Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMB6.5 cents per share for FY2010 (interim dividend: nil).

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

The China’s real estate market marked a robust growth throughout
the year of 2009. While in mid-April 2010, the Central Government
started to introduce a series of tightening policies, aiming to curb
the market speculation and to prevent a housing bubble burst. The
austerity measures have effectively reined in property prices in some
cities. Under such circumstances, the Group has adopted flexible
marketing tactics for new product launches and reacted swiftly and
decisively, in response to the market changes.

Leveraging our established position in Shanghai and accumulated
experience in large-scale and quality real estate developments, since
our listing in October 2006 we have successfully expanded our
business to other cities in the Yangtze River Delta (“YRD") region,
including Wuxi, Suzhou and Changshu, and then to various other
provincial capital cities that we believed to have strong growth
potential, including Kunming, Haikou and Taiyuan.

Adhering to the Group’s “2+X" product strategy, namely large scale
residential communities, city center integrated projects and leisure
and resort facilities, we have developed a diversified product mix
to serve the discerning needs of our customers. We firmly believe
that our different project types complement with each other and a
diversified product portfolio has allowed us to achieve revenues in
different economic conditions, so that the Group is able to reach a
good balance between maintaining satisfactory sales in a tightening
market and maximizing the long-term value of its portfolio.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Continued)

Here, | am delighted to report that our business growth is on track,
notwithstanding the challenges of uncertainties and diminished
transactions in the real estate market.

Sales Performance

2010 is a year of our continued growth when the Group persistently
executed well-defined geographic strategy, especially in second-
tier cities. Our residential projects in YRD region and selected
provincial capital cities such as La Casa in Changshu, Metropolitan
in Kunming, and Florea in Haikou achieved great successes and
became the best-selling residential projects in respective cities.
Particularly, Metropolitan in Kunming was able to secure single-
day sales in May of about 1,000 units. Besides, all of our city-
center integrated projects in the YRD region, such as Global 188 in
Suzhou and XiShuiDong in Wuxi, are regarded as landmark projects
and have gained tremendous market popularity since the project
launches. Featuring exquisite style and premium quality, together
with deliberate sales, marketing and pricing strategies for our
products, our projects continue to command price premiums over
other projects in the same location.

As a result, we achieved contracted sales of approximately RMB6.4
billion, exceeding the target we revised in the middle of the year.
Out of which, about 71% of the contracted sales came from projects
outside Shanghai, verifying our successful implementation of
strategic geographic diversification.

Development Progress

As of December 31, 2010, we had a total of 16 projects under
development in eight cities, with a total gross floor areas (“GFA")
over 1.119 million sq.m., a record in the Group’s development
history. During the year under review, total GFA completed and
delivered was 305,798 sg.m..
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Continued)
Development Progress (Continued)
Large-scale Residential Community Projects

Our large-scale residential community project category remained
the largest contributor in 2010, accounting for nearly 50% of total
recognized revenue. These mainly include our three exemplary
large-scale residential communities in Shanghai (Cambridge Forest
Newtown, Tiffany and Oriental Garden) and Metropolitan in
Kunming. By end of FY2010, the Group sold and delivered later
phases of projects in Shanghai with a total of 134,194 sq.m.
Metropolitan, with a total GFA of over 600,000 sg.m., is one of the
largest and most popular residential projects in Kunming. The Phase
Il of the project has been progressing well.

Our low-density residential community in Taiyuan, Andaluz, is in
active construction stage. Planned with townhomes and villas of total
GFA about 328,000 sq.m., the project will have its first phase to be
launched in mid 2011.

City-centre Integrated Projects

Our first and crown-jewel city-centre integrated project, the
Peninsula Shanghai development on the historic Bund, had its hotel
and shopping arcade grand opening in March 2010, marking one of
the biggest events in town. Since its opening, the hotel has achieved
numerous awards from hospitality and travel industries, including
the “The World's Best Business Hotel 20710" award by Wallpaper
and Fortune magazines. The serviced apartment component of the
development, Peninsula Residences, is undertaking final fit-out stage
and will receive its first tenants later in 2011.

As a significant contributor in our recognized revenue of FY2010,
Global 188 in Suzhou, was completed well on schedule. Located in
the central business district of Suzhou Industrial Park, Global 188,
an integrated mixed-use project consisting of grade A office towers,
serviced apartments (Frasers Suites), a five-star boutique hotel (Ched)),
and an upscale retail podium, enjoys the panoramic view of Jin Ji
Lake. The project was recently awarded as the ""Top New Landmark
in China”.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Continued)
Development Progress (Continued)
City-centre Integrated Projects (Continued)

Another important city-centre integrated project of the Group is
XiShuiDong in Wuxi. With an unparallel location at the heart of
Wuxi, next to the historic canal and the Liangxi River where Rong'’s
Factory, a famous historic landmark which symbolizes the birth place
of the Chinese industrial and commercial development, XiShuiDong
is an integrated mixed-use project with a total planned GFA of
about 681,000 sq.m. The project is planned as a multi-phase mixed-
use development comprising high-end residential buildings and
shopping spaces. Various phases of this landmark project are under
construction and the first phase of this landmark project is expected
to be completed and delivered in 2011.

Leisure and Resort Projects

As an indispensable extension of our product line, the recognized
revenue in FY2010 for our leisure and resort project category was
largely attributed by the great success of La Casa in Changshu and
Florea in Haikou.

La Casa in Changshu was all sold out as of end of 2010 and ranked
as the most popular villa project of Changshu. The Group completed
and delivered the first phase of villas with a total of 36,364 sq.m. The
success of La Casa has well underpinned the Group’s position and
brand recognition in Changshu market and laid a solid foundation
for our second leisure project in Changshu — Emerald Bay.

Florea is one of the first seashore property developments in Haikou.
Located at the north of Haidian Island in Haikou and west of the
Baishamen Ecology Park, the project is planned with a total planned
GFA of approximately 222,000 sq.m. Vast majority of Phase | and
Phase Il have already been pre-sold and completed by end of 2010,
of which 29,952 sq.m. was delivered in 2010.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Continued)
Development Progress (Continued)
Leisure and Resort Projects (Continued)

Hidden Tiger Golf Club in Huangshan, a new 18-hole signature golf
course, had its grand opening in October 2010. Gary Player, whose
accolades as a golf course designer in parallel with a legendary
career, along with other VIPs gathered together to witness this
inauguration. Following the first completed phase of Taiping Lake
Resort, a series of later developments including hotels and residential
apartments is under active construction. Crowne Plaza Hotel, with its
ancillary recreational facilities, is scheduled to be completed by 2012.

Our second hotel in Shanghai, Holiday Inn Shanghai PuDong
Kanggiao, was practically completed in 2010 and will start business
in 2011. With a number of hotel developments of the Group in the
pipeline, hotel operation will increasingly complement our residential
and commercial property development business.

Land Bank Replenishment

As early as in the first quarter of 2010, we already accomplished
our whole-year goal of adding quality land bank of 2.5 million sq.m.
We have strategically penetrated and expanded our business and
footholds in Wuxi and Haikou by acquiring three quality development
sites.

In February 2010, the Group successfully won the bids for two
prime sites in Wuxi, Jiangsu Province. Our land bank in Wuxi has
now reached a total GFA of approximately 2,154,581 sg.m. and
the Group has become one of the major developers in Wuxi. At
the Central Business District (‘CBD’) of Taihu New Town and next
to the new Wuxi government head office and the city hall, Jin Gui
Li is a city-center integrated mixed-use project in Wuxi. The project
occupies a total site area of approximately 272,376 sg.m. with a
total planned GFA of approximately 778,000 sq.m. The project
already started construction by end 2010 and the first batch of the
Jin Gui Li will be launching into the market by end 2011.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Continued)
Land Bank Replenishment (Continued)

Our second acquisition in Wuxi for the year, Taihu Avenue No. 1,
is a large scale residential community project along Taihu Avenue.
The project is conveniently located in Xishan District, along the
main road in Wuxi, Taihu Avenue. The project occupies a total site
area of approximately 263,300 sq.m. with a total planned GFA of
approximately 682,000 sg.m. The project construction will start in
early 2011 and the Group will launch the first phase of Taihu Avenue
No. 1 also by end 2011.

In April 2010, the Group completed the acquisition of the 50.1%
equity interest in Haikou Hai Chang Liu project. The project is well-
located at the prime location of west coast area of Haikou city and
next to the New City Hall of the Government Administration of
Haikou. Consisting of high-end residential, office and commercial
components and retail facilities, the project has a site area of
approximately 339,720 sq.m. and a total GFA of approximately
1,000,652 sq.m. The first launch of the Hai Chang Liu units is
scheduled in the fourth quarter of 2011.

In July 2010, the Group decided to buy back shares in the two
projects in Kunming and Shanghai from our fund partner, reinforcing
our belief on the long-term prospects of these projects.

Our land bank as of end 2010 stood at a total GFA of approximately
5,950,000 sg.m., sufficient for the next five years’ development and
well in line with the Group’s sustainable business strategy.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Continued)
Prudent and Efficient Financial Management

Despite the short-term uncertainties, the Group is determined to
maintain the soundness and efficiency of our financial management.
The Group has demonstrated solid track record of reliable financial
position since our IPO, and thus successfully forged strategic alliances
with major banking partners during the year under review.

In March 2010, the Group entered into strategic cooperation
agreements with Industrial and Commercial Bank of China ('ICBC’),
which granted loan facilities of RMB10 billion to finance the Group's
project development over the next two years.

In July 2010, the Group arranged with the Bank of East Asia Limited
('BEA’) for a 3-year term loan facility of up to HK$500 million and
a RMB600 million project loan for Global 188 project in Suzhou.
Throughout the year, we had maintained healthy financials to uphold

our rapid business expansion.

Given the intensive capital needs of property developments,
efficient financial management is critical to the Group's sustainable
development. Adopting a prudent approach in arranging financial
means and maintaining our financial strengths, we have continued to
explore various funding resources to meet our capital requirements
for business growth and development.
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PROSPECTS

While solid progress was made in 2010 according to our business
plan, we well understand that there will be increasing impacts on
the real estate market by numerous government policies, macro-
economic factors, consumer demand and the overall economy.
The year of 2011 is anticipated to be a challenging ahead for real
estate players in China as the Central Government has showed its
strong determination to curb soaring property prices through a wide
variety of austerity measures. Although the real estate market will be
experiencing a sequence of stricter policies and is expected to remain
so in the short term, the Group considers that it will become more
rational and well-regulated in the long run.

As witnessing in previous cycles, we believe that further consolidation
in our industry will be accelerated along with the market volatility
and uncertainties. Many of the small and mid-sized players in the
market will be more vulnerable to capital constraints and may be
squeezed out of the market. If 2008 has taught us anything, it is that
we are a resilient listed developer well-positioned to perform well in
the changing competitive landscape. Our complementary product
strategy and geographic focus give us a strong footprint from which
to selectively pursue growth and cast a wide net as we search for
profitable opportunities. Our brand name associated with premium
design, quality and services increasingly differentiate us from other
players. And our seasoned management team will emerge from the
current consolidation even more experienced and able to cope with
bigger challenges ahead.
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

With these factors in mind, we continue to focus on maintaining a
strong balance sheet and healthy cash flow as we wrestle with the
correction. Currently, the Group has put extra efforts to accelerate
the development of existing projects and roll out new projects in a
timely manner so as to capture emerging market opportunities. We
will remain disciplined in our capital commitments, including land
acquisition and control of development costs.

Last but not least, | would like to express my deep appreciation to
our shareholders for their unfailing support, our capital providers
for their confidence in us, our customers for their choice on our
products and services, our staff for their fervent hard work and our
suppliers and contractors for their co-operative relationships with us.
2011 is going to be a challenging yet fruitful year for all of us.
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Propevty Projects Tort{olio
1581

4
Kunming

[=2L

—

-The Metropolitn
DA RN




— ﬁlﬂﬁ$fﬁﬂrf§xﬁlﬁ 8

\
4 Haikou
&:i=
- The Florea
IR B - 8
- Hai Chang Liu

BE - BRR

BREBHwERIERAT —T—
- Suzhou - Global 188
g — | BE - IRIR188
- Xi Shui Dong
B - KR
’X;’ - Taihu New Project
""" AAFTLIE B
- Taihu Avenue Project
. AWREIEE
Yangtze River Delta B A el
T — 4 - Changshu
L ‘E}I:ﬁ/}ﬂ we — p | -laCasa
. R . /rAE:ﬁg
C o [A] RS
HU&TQS_D_QQ Shanghal - Emerald Bay
=1 I'{ B . g R
ook J:IE DI SEY
- Taiping Lake Resort Project

- Cambridge Forest Newtown

- Oriental Garden (Cambridge Watertown)
B - RARER (RfEKE)

- Tiffany (Cambridge Waters)
BE - BRE (FREKE)

- The Peninsula Shanghai

LEFBBEERER

- Shanghai Cambridge Holiday Inn
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
Yy & JH H i Jr

Slmm@lu\i Projects Lip78 8
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Large-scale Residential Community Projects KA {FE+4EIEH
1. Tiffany (Cambridge Waters) 225 - &% # (B8 K EB)
Site area (sq.m) HuAREITE ((F75°K) : 439,667 ‘.

GFA (sq.m) #8322 mETE (FAK) : 579,696

Brief Introduction E B & :

A large-scale property development comprising mainly
residential properties targeted at middle class customers

HREEERFERHESBERNARETHE - UPE
BREREZZERER

Within 5 minutes to the nearest Metro station and within 20
minutes to the city center by the subway

FESE AR OIS DIEITIZ - =+ DN A
Ao

Phase | & Il have been completed; Tiffany (Phase Ill) is partly
completed and delivered, others pre-saled in 2010
—HM-—HEAKRT - HRE (Z8) EEBHRIER
i HEREhH BASTE2010 FEITIEE
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
Yy 2 JH H i Jr

2. Cambridge Forest Newtown EEfS ¥ 5

Site area (sq.m) HuA&EITE (F75°K) : 1,584,334
GFA (sq.m) #8532 %EmEE (FAK) 1,150,697

Brief Introduction B &) :

- One of the largest low-density residential developments in
Shanghai
EESRAMERETERE 2 —

- Within 25 minutes’ driving distance to the city center

PEEEM 025 D EEIE

- Phase |-V have been completed, Phase VI commenced its
pre-sale in 2010
—EREIBETEK - NER2010 FERES

Site area (sq.m) AR EE (F52K) : 42,750
GFA (sq.m) #325EEE (F77K) 59,630

Brief Introduction E B & :

- The project is located close to the airport, the 2010 World Expo
site and the upcoming Shanghai Disneyland
ZEBUNEREER - ABEE5 - 2010 FHEESEL K
REIFE st E%E

- The hotel has 400 guest rooms. This project also consist of
apartments, retail space, conference facilities and the
clubhouse.

BRI EBEERHE - AF - B - FHRHEREH

- The project development was completed in 2010. The Holiday
Inn will open in 2011 and the apartments have been all sold out
IHEBR2010 FEEEEK o REBEHR201FERXR
¥ BEALBELARHERE
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
Yy & JH H i Jr

4. Oriental Garden (Cambridge Watertown) % & - 3R 75 2Bz (EE#5K 45)

Site area (sq.m) #uA&EITE (F752K) : 304,001
GFA (sq.m) #832EEmETE (F2K) 202,629

Brief Introduction B 4} :

- Thelargest Chinese-style, lakeside villa development in Shanghai

SR AHEHIZE R

- The project has approximately 700 houses; Located in Qingpu
District; 25km from Honggjiao Airport
IR FBEEE - AX7005R5E EHER - BERRITE#%525
nE

- Adjacent to ancient water town Zhujiajiao; 1,700-year history
and a famous tourist site; excellent ecological area
MERRAERESHEERA - KRAREHF,70089/F £
7K 3R - DAELB S AL RE TR R 1T Bt

- Lot VIl have been completed

City Center Integrated Projects i h#r & BB B
5. The Shanghai Peninsula L& BH/E

Site area (sq.m) #E&ETE (FF5K) : 13,898
GFA (sq.m) Z832gEmEE (F73°K) 92,520

includes:
B
Peninsula Hotel, Peninsula Residences and Peninsula Arcade

FEEE  DEFBBEABREEES

Brief Introduction & B &) :

Peninsula Hotel has a total of 235 rooms; Peninsula Residences
has a total of 39 units.

FHEEER23SEFH - DEFEREABHEFIIEEN

- The Peninsula Hotel has full facilities including the signature
Peninsula lobby lounge, jazz bar, Peninsula Aqua Treatment
Centre, swimming pool and 5 restaurants
FEEERRRETH  BEELNFERENRSE - 8

LORIE - FEKERL - FPKERZES R RER

U=

[l B Bl W)

- The signature development was completed in 2009 and the
hotel was opened at March 2010
AIEFEIE R 2009 &K - DEFEBER201053
AIEAFZ
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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Yangtze River Delta “Projects P2z B35 B
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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City Center Integrated Projects i /L iR S B8 18 B

1. Xi Shui Dong B & - FAk R

Site area (sq.m) HAEETE (F75K) : 248,800 LA
GFA (sq.m) #B25EmEE ((FA2K) : 695,400

Brief Introduction B & :

- Located in the heart of Wuxi and in close proximity to the central
commercial and business district. Currently the largest city-core
development project in Wuxi, designed as a multi-phase and
large-scale city-centre integrated development comprising
residential and commercial compound
ISR D - A AR - 28D B TSR
mRLBEREAR - RERFAKNRREEIRHEMNAD
ZHREN A BIER

- About two hours driving distance to Shanghai
EBEE IBAR/ TR

- Phase | started to pre-sale in Q4 2009, other phases started pre-
sale as planned in 2010 by phases
TAE —HAE & M2009 FEMNEFERKBTAE - AME SRt
ZIER2010FHETTIEE

2. Taihu New Town Project B2 & - A H #7318 B

Site area (sq.m) #uA&EITE (F752K) : 272,376
GFA (sq.m) #32semia ((F2K) : 778,383

Brief Introduction HE B &) :

- Situated at the core of Taihu New Town Central Business District
(CBD) next to new Wuxi government head offices and city hall
and echoing SPG’s Xi Shui Dong, the new project has excellent
future prospect
R AR R ISR AR DM B - BEAR RS T RN HUTHE
PERTHEY © Faks - F/KRIEBEAWE - JHEAS
BFHERAIR

s LLCEELLCCCERRR

- Alliance with top-notch architects and design teams, transform
the premium site into a new landmark at the core of Taihu New

Town CBD
P R TEAR R SERM R ARG TRD + 5278 B TR A MR IIZ
DHBER B RTHIAS

- Construction and pre-sale will startin 2011
15742011 FEF T FARTES
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Large-scale Residential Community Projects X {X £ E1E B

3. Taihu Avenue Project B 5 - A AEEE

Site area (sq.m) #AREIFE ((FJ52K) © 263,300
GFA (sq.m) #3258 EE (F72K) : 681,690

Brief Introduction E B &4 :

- Thesite s in close proximity to the Management Committee of
Xishan Economic Development Zone and is along the key artery
of Wuxi city — Taihu Avenue
AR B B LR EEIWAANER EARAEE" HA
WREZ

- Well-covered by comprehensive transportation network, the
district is close to the YRD High Speed Rail - one of the biggest
stimulating factor for the future development of the district,
which will gradually become the preferred choice for home
buyers from urban area
[AEEERE - 10 E FIER N E S Z i E BRI B
AHEBEROBESE - WIERPKATREEE R EHE

- Construction commence in 2011 and expected to pre-sale in the
same year

BR2011FH TR FRIRTES
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
Yy & JH H i Jr

Juzhou Project %‘?“’ﬂ?’ﬁﬁ

City Center Integrated Projects 7 #1242 & B8 78 B

Suzhou Global 188 %15 - 3R 5k 188

Site area (sq.m) HER TR ((F757K) : 14,896
GFA (sq.m) #32EemiE ((F75°K) : 149,308

Brief Introduction HE B &) :

Located in the CBD of Suzhou Industrial Park, near Jinji Lake,
underground connected to the subway

AR & HOH a0ERIN TEE T REHR - tEER M E
U

A landmark project consisting of serviced apartment (Frasers
Suites), hotel (Chedi Hotel), grade A office tower and retail
podium, the tallest building under construction in vicinity
HIRBAAE (BRE) BE HIBEE) FASTER
PIEREPTAAR MR - BEE AR &R

Awarded “Top 10 New landmarksin China”

#S [FRET-AFIRIRE | 185
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The pre-sale of the project started in 2009; Overall project

completed in 2010
72009 FHIATEE - BEEEMR20105F58
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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Changshu “Projects @3@7@5

Large-scale Residential Community Projects X ! 1¥ £ #t & 1§ B

LaCasaX 5-fa = &

Site area (sq.m) #i A& EFE (F5K) 119,769
GFA (sq.m) #83E5EmETE (F77K) : 86,728

Brief Introduction E B &4} :

- Situated at the fringe of Yu Mountain, facing the national park
and with established amenities and infrastructures
SREILEE - MRRRAR - A om0 X b kit R &
R

- Aprestigious project in the area consisting of townhouses and
duplexes units
REEHERIE KB RIE AKX B EEEER

- Thefirst phase of the project has been completed and phase Il is
in the process of construction pre-sale started in 2010
THE—HBA&TT - EEEEWEN2010 FHETES

Site area (sq.m) HuA&EITE (F752K) : 107,391
GFA (sq.m) #8ZsEmE (FAK) 121,325

Brief Introduction B ) :

- Situated at the unique location and is adjoining the scenic
Shang lake to the north along with impressive mountain views
ZIHBUREREERA RSP - WEES AERTIEA
s

- Commencement of construction in 2010 and also started the
pre-sale
BER2010 FH IR E EFKBEE
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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Kunming “Froject Ssv8 74 B

Large-scale Residential Community Projects X ! 1¥ £ 4t & 1§ H

The Metropolitan & & - X 3

Site area (sq.m) #b & EF& (F757K) © 170,806
GFA (sq.m) #8322 miE (F752K) : 614,994

Brief Introduction B & :

- Located along Dianchi Road in the metropolitan area of
Kunming, where the Provincial Central Administration Offices
are located, is a high quality multi-phase residential and
commercial project
REBATHROREEDE D - T ERE P RITEHA
& - RO PEEROADEBEETRAFEFSER

- Designated as the recommended urban living residential project
by China Real Estate Index System in 2009
152009 FREEEBREFAUNERE BT EEET
|HE"

- Phase | & lll are completed and Phase Il has commenced the
construction. The pre-sale started in the year of 2010
—HE=HE RN - IR KR TIE LN 20105HA
BE
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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Haikou /onjuts 5@07@5

Tourism and Leisure Projects jf 3¢k it &= 18 B

The Florea 5& 0O - 815

Site area (sq.m) HIAREIFE ((F5K) : 292,174
GFA (sq.m) #832gEmE (F/32K) 252,759

Brief Introduction EE &4 :

- Located at the first-tier waterfront in the northern part of
Haikou, the Florea enjoys an unobstructed ocean view,
comprising Spanish-style residential development
U BEEaEaeRmERILES e - Ll —28
BERES  RANRTNEEHEE

- Phase I is completed, Phase Il is under construction and
commenced the pre-sale in 2010
—HIRSERK - —HAERRISR02010 FIREE

- Adjacent to on the National Tourism Island planning, the project
has a great potential of appreciation
FRERKESHE - AEENER

Hai Chang Liu B85 - B8R f
Site area (sq.m) HARETE (FHK) : 339,720
GFA (sq.m) #BE25EmEE (FF752K) 1,000,652

Brief Introduction E B ) :

- Located at the core area of New CBD, just close to the New
administration Center of Haikou. The new administrative center
was ready and occupied at the end of 2010
A0/ AT 3T R0 & 180(CBD) - B8 0T TR F
& o FATHRAR L E R 20105 E A HE A

- The land connects the Coast Avenue from North, and faces the
being built International Exhibition Centre
ZUIITE O MREENEFGE ——BEKNE B
HEmEEERPHERERAO

- The project is under the process of design and is planned to
commence the pre-sale in the year of 2011

BN TR EIRRET T © BETR201MEEIRBE
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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’\)ﬂﬁ\@um Project K J3.78 B

Large-scale Residential Community Projects X &£t EIEH

Andaluz Taiyuan 85 - B &R L

Site area (sq.m) #bA&EITE (F752K) : 429,000
GFA (sq.m) #832%EmETE (FA2K) : 352,900

Brief Introduction HE B &) :

- Acquired in July 2009, located in Xiaodian District, southeast of
Taiyuan City, the capital of Shanxi Province, an area with
enormous potential as the local government intends to develop
the area into a multi-functional residential, commercial and
leisure new town center
AR 200957 ARG - N ILFEE B KRR/ VER ©
ZBAIEAEEE S - REMBNHERNZINEE
£ BERKRERRTHTRL

- Planned to be a low-rise residential community with leisure,
sports and retail facilities. The topography of the land is raised so
the development will overlook the whole of Taiyuan City
REISEERRE  BEREERENEREETHE - 8
BIfEAR  REER

- The project is under planning and is expected to presale in 2011
18 B RN R EIREERIE B R 2011 FEr THEE
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. 3z
‘HMAM@SW\K /PVOJect @M?@iﬁ

Huangshan Resort Project | EREEH

Site area (sq.m) #E&ETE (F5K) : 2,283733
GFA (sq.m) #B32EEmEE (F2K) 1,141,867

Brief Introduction EE &4 :

- Located in the northern part of Huangshan, close to the
legendary scenic Taiping Lake
(R EILIEER - B 2 YRR Bt A M

- Multi-phase resort development comprising five-star hotels, golf
course, resort villas and apartments
REZPEROARIER BEREABE - SRKRKS -
ERRIZRAE

- Agolf practicing facility designed by world-renowned Gary
Player was trial to run by the end of 2009 as scheduled
Rt ARTER A SRR ET RN Gary Player it HUm R REIZH
2009 FIEMERAFEL

- Construction of resort housing started and the pre-sale is
expected to commence in 2011
BHERETER BRI EFH2011FRIRTES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The financial year ended 31 December 2010 (“FY2010") was a year
of continued steady growth for the Group notwithstanding that the
Chinese Central Government introduced and implemented a series
of tightening measures. During the year under review, the Group
recorded a total revenue of approximately RMB4,271,189,000 (2009:
RMB3,065,441,000), representing an increase of approximately
39%. Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
was approximately RMB890,206,000 (2009: RMB678,520,000),
up 31% over the same period last year. Basic and diluted earnings
per share attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted
to RMB0.847 and RMB0.823 (2009 (restated): RMB0.644 and
RMBO0.524) respectively for the twelve months ended 31 December
2010. The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
for 2010 of RMB6.5 cents per share.

For FY2010, the Group conducted its business activities in the
following major business segments: property development, hotel
development, property investment and ancillary business. Among all,
property development remains the core business and key revenue
generator of the Group.

Under the current economic conditions, the Group proceeded
with its planned schedule for development projects, proactively
adjusted its marketing strategies to tailor the consumers’ needs and
persistently strengthened its internal management to further explore
cost-saving potentials.

£ JE)

Bz Z—ZF+_-_A=+—H LT
FEIZZ-—ZFUWHRFED BEAFEH
PRENELERERE —EREHEE B
AEBEDASZEBRRER REBEFE -
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T(ZZTZENF: AR¥3,065441,0007T) -
EIMNAI39% - MA R A RERFE AEIML
F# B AR %890,206,000T (=T F A F -
A R #678,520,0007T) * ® & F R 8 £ F
31 % HE_ZE-—ZTF+_HA=+—HB1
TZEA AEEREFBEAERGERE
AEEBEERMND N AARKNSTT KA
RE0823(ZEZNF(KEY): AR
Bo644t M ARKOS24T) c EEEE B
BN ZZE—ZEZFRIKRESTRARK6S
/)—}o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) XK EEGE)

Property Development MEBR

In FY2010, the Group satisfactorily accomplished its completion and RZZE—ZFHREFE AESEEEFTE
delivery targets as planned. The total GFA sold and delivered was ERTMNEITER H BER-BEEHEXR

305,798 sq.m. (2009: 306,885 sq.m.) while the revenue booked I8 B B4 2% TE 18 E305,798F 7 Mr’(:

from property sales added up to approximately RMB4,114 million, E T L F 306,885F 5 oK) ¥ E G E W
representing a year-on-year (“YoY") increase of approximately 41% =M A A R 4,114,000,000 7T - 1% F 120
(2009: RMB2,926 million). The growth of revenue from property DA% (ZZEZE N F: AR ¥2,926,000,000
sales was on track. The revenue growth was mainly attributable to TO) M EHERSERMFAESH Mk
the additions of several key projects in Yangtze River Delta region. BEFTEAEARZEREIL=Z AN

BEEEFREEIREAR -

Approximate  Approximate

area sold and sales Average
delivered recognized selling
in 2010 in 2010 price
ER=Z2—ZF BER=Z-ZF
EHRRAY FEZ
BN EE BAHERE FIgEE
sg.m. RMB’000 RMB/sq.m.
(AR
7K AR®ET T )
Cambridge Forest Newtown R85 —%EVDH 2,552 52,868 20,716
— Phase VD
Cambridge Forest Newtown BEEYE—FVFERIEE 1,346 43,500 32,318
— Phase VF villa
Cambridge Waters-Phase Il D2 BERGKE — SEIHD2 — A8 19,041 193,034 10,138
— apartments
Cambridge Waters-Phase Il D3 FRIE/KEB — ZBIHAD3 — BRI & 954 10,277 10,773
—villas
Cambridge Waters-Phase Il F FREKE — FBIHF— 2 103,252 1,314,338 12,729
— apartments
Cambridge Watertown — Villas BEFE /K40 — RlEE 5,672 102,485 18,069
Cambridge Watertown B /KA —EHE R 22 1,377 16,706 12,132
— Townhouses
Haikou Florea-Phase | — A GOt —FI— AR 620 4,719 7,611
Haikou Florea-Phase | — B g Ot — 51— BE 2,713 25,591 9,433
Haikou Florea-Phase | — C EOgsE —F1—CH 589 4,655 7,903
Haikou Florea-Phase | — D EOgsE — 5 1—DHA 1,184 10,993 9,285
Haikou Florea-Phase Il - F 8 M 815 — 2811 — F A 24,846 200,138 8,055
Kunming Metropolitan — Phase | BB A — 1 27,525 185,953 6,755
Kunming Metropolitan — Phase Il EBAAS & A — S 111E7 1,171 5,573 4,759
Changshu La Casa — Phase | villas ~ E#ER& — S8R 22 36,364 360,348 9,909
Suzhou Global 188 — Office building # /M 3&Ek188 — &g /E 23,829 472,917 19,846
Suzhou Global 188 — Apartments &R JIIREK188— A 36,750 828,615 22,547
Holiday Inn — Serviced apartment- BRBB/E -RERXQE —{E= 14,318 246,558 17,220
residential
Holiday Inn — Serviced apartment-loft & HE/E —REXNAE —TEE 1,695 34,396 20,293

Total st 305,798 4,113,664 13,452
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Property Development (Continued)

During the year under review, the Group's contracted sales reached
approximately RMB6,390 million and aggregate contracted GFA
was 482,173 sq.m.. This represents a YoY growth of approximately
15% in value (2009: RMB5,544 million) and a YoY increase of 1%
in GFA (2009: 476,995 sq.m). We also achieved an increase in
average selling price (“ASP"”) from RMB11,623 per sg.m. in 2009 to
RMB13,252 per sq.m in FY2010, representing an increase of 14%.

During FY2010, the contracted sales from the 2nd-tier cities
contributed a major part of the Group’s total contracted sales,
reaching to approximately 71%. This included Kunming the
Metropolitan (20%), Wuxi Xi Shui Dong (16%), Changshu La Casa
(12%), Suzhou Global 188(9%), and Haikou the Florea (9%) and
Changshu Emerald Bay (5%).

In response to the strict tightening measures launched by the Central
Government, the Group adopted flexible marketing strategies in
launching new projects, prudent treasury management and credit
control, and managed to achieve satisfactory sales performance and
maximize the value of its property projects portfolio.

Land Bank Replenishment

The Group adheres to a land bank replenishment strategy of
maintaining the pipeline of land bank that is sufficient to support the
Group's development in the future five years. In FY2010, the Group
strategically and selectively expanded its land bank and accomplished
the whole-year target by adding quality land bank of approximately
2.5 million sq.m.. The Group was able to further penetrate the
business presence and footholds in Haikou and Wuxi.

X% o E(R)
E 3916 )

REBFE AEEBANHEHEBENAAR
#6,390,000,0007C * & #) 2 £ H 15 42 58 =
A42173F A K @ IR F R M H15% (=
T TN F 0 AR ¥5,544,000,00070) K 2 2E
AEEFENI%(ZEZ N F 476,995 F
FR) - AEBZFHHEEBTA-_ZZ
NEBFEFRFRARBNN 23T EAZEZZE
—ZEUBRFEEFHRKARK13,2527T
#AN14% o

RZE—ZFUBFE ZGHTELOHE
EREEAEBLENEEEAR KBy

EN71% BEEBEERKNRQI%) - &5
FAKE(6%) & 16 5= E(12%) ~ & M IR
%188(9%) & /B O £ (9%) R F AR & o 35

§2i< %)
HEPRBAELEENZAER A&
BRHEEHRERRRNELED S RE &F
EmMEEE REEZES - 8= D 28 H
EXE LEAKMEXBEEAAGHNEEES
R

+ i R R

AEBEBRSN-—EMALIHFERE 2
P EELTHREREHREBEAEBERREF
NER- R_ZT-—FTFPRFE X&H
ARBEBZEEBAT LG CEKIE
m#2s0B8F T KEBEELHEBODEFAR
R AEBE-—TRERBEOREHHE
MR E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) X% OE(E

+ i 5 5 A % ()

Land Bank Replenishment (Continued)

Jin Gui Li and Taihu Avenue No. 1, Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province

On 8 February 2010, the Group successfully won the bids
for two prime sites in Wuxi, Jiangsu Province. At the Central
Business District ('CBD’) of Taihu New Town, with planned
GFA of approximately 778,383 sg.m., the development
site was acquired at a total consideration of approximately
RMB3.53 billion. The new project is designated to become a
landmark development in Taihu New Town, echoing the glory
of Xi Shui Dong (one of the prominent city-centre integrated
development projects in Wuxi being developed by the
Group). The project is adjacent to the Jin Gui Park and will be
developed into a high-end residential community with a total
GFA of approximately 604,880 sq.m. and the remaining GFA of
approximately 173,503 sq.m. will be allocated for commercial
development. The project is a joint-venture between the Group
(60%) and Wuxi Taihu New Town Construction Investment and
Management Co., Ltd. (40%).The second project is situated
along Taihu Avenue where a parcel of land of approximately
263,000 sg.m. (GFA of approximately 682,000 sq.m.) was
acquired at a consideration of RMB1.42 billion. The mixed-
use project will be developed into a large-scale residential
community set at international standards, with a sizeable
commercial component along the frontage of Taihu Avenue.

Hai Chang Liu Project, Haikou City, Hainan Province

On 29 March 2010, the Group further acquired 50.1% equity
interest of a project held by Hainan Tianyuan Lifeng Shiye
Co., Ltd. which acquired it through listing-for-sale in October
2009. The site is situated at the west coast of Haikou city and
next to the New City Hall of the Government Administration
of Haikou. The project will be developed on a site area of
approximately 339,720 sqg.m. (GFA of approximately 1,000,652
sg.m.). The project is expected to be launched into the market
in the fourth quarter of 2011.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group held a quality land bank
of approximately 5.95 million sgq.m., well in line with the
Group's sustainable expansion strategy.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Strategic Cooperation with Banking Partners

In March 2010, the Group entered into strategic cooperation
agreements with Industrial and Commercial Bank of China ('ICBC’).
During the year under review, the Group was granted with
international loan facilities of RMB10 billion to support the financing
needs of the Group's project development over the next two years.

On 6 July 2010, the Group entered into a 3-year term loan facility
agreement relating to the provision of a term loan facility of up
to HK$500 million with the Bank of East Asia Limited (‘BEA’).
In addition, the Bank of East Asia (China) Limited (‘"BEA China’),
Shanghai Branch, granted a RMB facility of up to RMB600 million to
the Company for the development of Suzhou Global 188 project.

Hotel Development

To ensure stable and long-term recurring income, the Group
develops the hotel business through expansion of product line and
diversification of our portfolio. The Group has worked closely with a
number of internationally reputable operators such as the Peninsula
Group, the Inter Continental Hotel Group, Fraser Hospitality, GHM
Hotels, etc.

Our first and crown-jewel city-centre integrated project, the
Peninsula Shanghai development on the historic Bund, had its hotel
and shopping arcade grand opening in March 2010. The World Expo
in 2010 has no doubt brought huge success and opportunities for
Peninsula Shanghai. On top of that, the hotel has achieved numerous
awards from hospitality and travel industries.

The Hidden Tiger Golf Club in Huangshan, Anhui Province, was also
put into services on 30 October 2010. The club, boasting its world-
class golf practicing facility and first-rated IMG management, is the
first completion of Taiping Lake holiday resort. Crowne Plaza Hotel,
with its ancillary recreational facilities, is scheduled to be completed
by 2012.

Our second hotel in Shanghai, the Holiday Inn Shanghai Pudong
Kangqgiao, located strategically within Cambridge Forest Newtown
and close to Pudong International Airport and Shanghai Disney’s
future site, will have 400 hotel rooms, food and beverage facilities,
conference rooms and clubhouse. This hotel was practically
completed in 2010 and is scheduled to start business in March 2011.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Investment Properties and Ancillary Services

To generate stable and recurring income, the Group holds some of
its properties for leasing. The Group leased out an aggregate GFA
of approximately 97,941 sq.m.. The two-storey Peninsula Arcade
features a collection of leading international luxury brands and
flagship stores standing as the trophy investment asset of the Group.

The Group also takes part in educational segment, by operating
one of the most prestigious kindergartens in Shanghai (The China
Welfare Institute Kindergarten), a post-secondary college (Shanghai
Sipo Polytechnic) and a training centre (Shanghai Sipo Vocational
Technical Training Centre). Revenue from this segment represents
approximately 2% of the Group’s total revenue as long-term
recurring income.

Property Management and Related Services

By the end of 2010, Shanghai New Independence House Property
Management Co., Ltd. (subsequently renamed to “Shanghai SPG
Property Services Co., Ltd. in January 2011), a subsidiary of the
Group was providing property management services, generated
property management and related services income, after intra-group
elimination, amounting to approximately RMB38 million, an increase
of 47% from last year. As in 2010, the Group provided property
management services to properties with a total GFA of around
1,583,762.75 sq.m..

To further enhance the value of Peninsula development, the
associated company of the Group, Peninsula Shanghai Waitan,
signed a 10-year exclusive management contract for Building No. 1
and a 20-year leasing contract for Buildings No. 2 & 3 for 33 The
Bund.

Outlook

In spite of all the uncertainties surrounding the Chinese property
market, we envisage more opportunities will arise in future and
our ability to pursue such opportunities selectively will lead us to
achieve even better results in the coming years. Going forward, the
Group will closely observe the future market trends in a pro-active
and rational manner. The Group will continue to adopt its “2+X"
product strategy, enhance its brand name and diversify product line
and geographic span. To maximize the value of its shareholders,
the Group will persistently develop and deliver premium quality
products and services to our customers. As many of our large-scale
developments in second-tier cities will reach more mature stages in
terms of GFA available for sale and GFA to be delivered, together
with the commencement of newly acquired projects, the Group is
anticipated to experience sustainable business growths in the years
to come.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Revenue

The total revenue for the Group for the year 2010 increased by
approximately 39% from approximately RMB3,065 million to
approximately RMB4,271 million. In terms of the overall unit selling
price and volume of transactions, a table of analysis on the sales of

properties is provided as follows:

Bt % o A
W z=

AEBEBR-_ZTE—ZEFHBRF LAY
39% ' A 4 A K #3,065,000,000T £ F =
4 A R #4,271,000,0007T ° 5t B 8 E U &
BERXGEME EEMEHSEENHN
£l i

GFA sold Average
& delivered selling price

EERRIMTH
BEMEME FHEE
Villas lIE 44,336 11,652
Apartments, office buildings and NE - PREREHRIE 261,462 13,757

townhouse

Total #BEt 305,798 13,452

In 2010, the Group successfully completed the development and
delivered residential units in Cambridge Watertown, Kunming
Metropolitan Phase | & lll, Haikou Florea — Phase | & Il, Changshu
La Casa-Phase |, Holiday Inn residential apartments, Suzhou Global
188-Office Building & Apartment |, Cambridge Forest Newtown and
Cambridge Waters. The total GFA delivered reached 305,798 sq.m.
(2009: 306,885 sg.m.).

The averaging selling price increased by 14% in year 2010, which
was mainly attributable to the newly-delivered Holiday Inn residential
apartments & lofts and Suzhou Global 188 office building in year
2010.

Segmental Information

The Group's business is currently categorized into four operating
segments — sales of property, lease of property, property
management and other related services, and education. An analysis
of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Revenue Stream

Bt %% 2 7 ()
W & R

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2010 2009 Change

—E—ZF =T NF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBTTT ARBTTT
Sales of property YIEHE 4,113,664 2,926,572 1,187,092
Rental income GEERON 29,069 27,271 1,798

Property management income & ¥EEBILA M E A

other related service MR AR5 51,227 36,850 14,377
Education HE 77,229 74,748 2,481
Total FE 4,271,189 3,065,441 1,205,748

Sales of property remained to be the core business activity, and
generated a revenue of RMB4,114 million (2009: RMB2,927 million),
accounting for 96% of the total revenue, and representing a year-
on-year increase of 40.6%. Revenue from the leasing business
grew by 6.6% to RMB29.1 million (2009: RMB27.3 million). Income
derived from property management and related services grew by
38.8% to approximately RMB51.2 million (2009: RMB36.9 million).
Revenue from education was approximately RMB77.2 million (2009:
RMB74.8 million), representing an increase of 3.3% over the year.

Cost of Sales

Total cost of sales in 2010 increased by 39.7% from RMB2,151
million to RMB3,004 million, which is in line with the increase in

revenue.
Gross Profit and Margin
Gross profit increased by 38.6% from RMB914 million in 2009 to

RMB1,267 million in 2010 while gross profit margin maintained at a
stable level of about 29.7% for the year 2010 (2009:29.8%).
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Other Operating Income

In 2010, other operating income decreased from RMB5.02 million in
2009 to RMB3.42 million.

Operating Expenses

In 2010, the selling and marketing costs increased to approximately
RMB150 million from approximately RMB117 million in 2009 as a
result of the significant increase of contracted sales occurred during
the year by launching effective marketing campaigns.

Administrative expenses increased from RMB154 million to
RMB260 million, representing a rise of 68.9% over the year 2009,
mainly because of the increase in travelling, transportation and
entertainment expenses in connection with the acquisition of land
outside Shanghai in 2010, the increase in the number of employees
and the increase in professional fees.

Other operating expenses increased from approximately RMB5
million in 2009 to approximately RMB24 million, which was mainly
because of the donation to Charity Fund.

Net Finance Income

The net finance income of approximately RMB26 million in 2010
compared to net finance expenses of approximately RMB20 million
in 2009. This significant increase over the previous year was mainly
attributable to interest income from long term receivables.

Share of Profit of Associates

The Group enjoyed a net profit from the share of operating results of
associates in 2010 that amounted to approximately RMB282 million
as compared to approximately RMB67 million in last year. The profit
was attributable to the contribution from the Peninsula Shanghai
Waitan Hotel project.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Revaluation Gain on Investment Properties

The Group recorded revaluation gains totaled approximately RMB229
million in 2010, as compared with RMB517 million in last year,
which was mainly due to the market value of investment properties
in China which rose in year 2010.

Income Tax

Income tax increased by approximately 44.6% from approximately
RMB428 million in 2009 to approximately RMB618 million in 2010,
while the effective tax rate remained at a stable level of 21% (2009:
19%) The increase in tax amount was mainly attributable to the
increase of sales volume.

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the
Company

The Group achieved a profit attributable to equity holders of
RMB890 million (2009: RMB679 million), up RMB211 million or
31% over the previous year. Earnings per share rose by 31.5% to
RMBO0.847 from RMBO0.644 (restated) in 2009.

Net profit margin for the year decreased from 27% in 2009 to 21%
in 2010, which was mainly attributable to decrease in Revaluation

Gains on Investment Properties.
Financial Position

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company reached
approximately RMB4,419 million as at 31 December 2010 (31
December 2009: RMB3,763 million). Total assets amounted to
approximately RMB21,992 million (31 December 2009: RMB16,969
million) and total liabilities stood at approximately RMB17,465
million (31 December 2009: RMB12,862 million).
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Liquidity and Financial Resources

The long-term funding and working capital required by the Group
primarily comes from income generated from core business
operations, bank borrowings and cash proceeds raised from the
issuance of the convertible bonds in late April 2007, which were used
to finance its business operations and investment in development
projects. The Group’s liquidity position was well-managed in 2010
and net gearing (total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents
including restricted cash over total equity) stood at a healthy level of
52.6% as at 31 December 2010. The Group had total cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB3,500 million, total borrowings
approximately of RMB5,882 million and the stronger equity base of
approximately RMB4,527 million as at 31 December 2010 (2009:
RMB4,107 million).

Of the total borrowings, approximately RMB1,535 million was
repayable within one year while approximately RMB4,347 million
was repayable after more than one year. The effective interest rate
for 2010 was 6.24% (2009: 5.03%).

Treasury Policy

The business transactions of the Group were mainly denominated
in Renminbi. Except for fund raising transactions in capital market,
there is limited exposure in foreign exchange risk.

The Group has established a treasury policy with the objective of
better controlling of treasury functions and lowering cost of funds.
In providing funds to all its operations, funding terms have been
centrally reviewed and monitored at Group level.

In accomplishing the aim of minimizing interest risk, it is the policy
of the Group to continue to closely monitor and manage the Group's
loan portfolio by its existing agreements’ interest margin spread with
market interest rates and offers from banks.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Credit Policy

Trade receivables mainly arose from sales and lease of properties.
Receivables in respect of sales and lease of properties are settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in the sales and purchase
agreements or lease agreements.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2010, the Group pledged properties and land
use rights with carrying amount of approximately RMB8,107 million
to secure bank facilities granted to the Group. The total secured
loan balance outstanding as at 31 December 2010 amounted to
approximately RMB5,252 million.

Financial Guarantees

As at 31 December 2010, the Group provided guarantees to banks
for:

Mortgage facilities granted to purchasers
of property units
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Capital Commitment

BEARESE

2010
—E-TF TTNF
RMB’000
ARBTT

RMB’000
AR® TR

Property development activities: MEBRER
— Contracted but not provided for — DRI EREE 3,094,452 2,607,856
— Authorized but not contracted for —BEERERRETLH 3,122,908 2,841,889
6,217,360 5,449,745
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Management of proceeds from the 2007
Convertible Bond issuance

In April 2007 the Group raised net proceeds of approximately
RMB 1,158 million from a convertible bond issuance. The company
had applied the proceeds in the existing as well as new development
projects, land acquisitions as well as repayment of borrowings. The
issue will mature and due for redemption in 2012.

The Company repurchased Convertible Bonds as follows:

Bt % 2 #7 (4&)

E-_ZZLFRTUTERES
Fﬁ?%,*k

RZZZELFOA AEEEHTAERE
FETEGRIEFHELH ARKI,158,000,000
T ARARBCEAAMERERIRE R H
BRNEE - THRENEEEXRNAR-
BRETER T ——FIHER-

AARBENABREZNT

Consideration

Nominal value

EE R{E

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

29/12/2008 —EENF+=ZR=+NAH 100,000 40,000
25/02/2009 —EEAF-_A-+EH 54,000 27,540
19/05/2009 —ETZAFRATANAE 114,400 96,096
27/04/2010 —E-TFMNA=-+tH 817,700 874,471
27/10/2010 —E-EF+A-++H 71,900 77,757
Total @t 1,158,000 1,115,864

As at 31 December 2010, all of the outstanding Convertible Bonds
have been repurchased.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group employed a total 1,290
employees (2009: 913 employees). The Group has adopted a
performance-based rewarding system to motivate its staff. In
addition to a basic salary, year-end bonuses will be offered to those
staff with outstanding performance. Share option and share award
schemes were adopted to attract and retain talents to contribute
to the Group. In relation to staff training, the Group also provide
different types of programs for its staff to improve their skills and
develop their respective expertise.

RZE-ZF+-_A=+—-RH BE&EMD
FrA M AEEEH®ES-

5

s

ABER
R—ZE—ZTEFE+_AZ+—B KEBHL
HEAI120BEBE(ZZEZNF 9134 &

B) - RHBBI AKREERA-—EHZX
EHONBBHE-BEAHFIN T E
MAALEREEBMNE TREFREL
AR 5RO B R M AT Bl R B 2R B 5t 8 A
Bl RBEATBAEERN-FHET
BITEH AEETERAFETITRHASR
BEANBIRE URARSHRME
BRBEESAMNEER



BEEHEZERERAIE —T-TFFR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

o AR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company treasure the
shareholders’ confidence and trust in the ability and vision of the
management team and have pledged to maintain an open and
responsive attitude in shareholders’ communications that are on
par with other leading corporations in the industry. The Board has
been adamant in upholding best practice in corporate governance
to ensure the timeliness, transparency and fairness of disclosure to
maximize the Group’s corporate values and will continue to enhance
its disclosure practices to display an exemplary corporate governance
practice.

It is the Board’s belief that a sound corporate governance system
has been and will remain as an instrumental element to the healthy
growth of the Group.

Compliance with the CG Code

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “CG Code”) and the rules on the Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Rules”) as set out respectively in
Appendices 14 and 23 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the year ended 31 December
2010, except for code provisions A.1.1 and A.4.2 with respect to
the holding of at least 4 regular Board meetings a year and the re-
election by shareholders of all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy at the first general meeting after their appointment, as
explained in paragraphs A.1.1 and A.4.2 respectively below.

AAREFTREREERRREETR
BN RERMBENELREME X
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES TEEREHRE)
(Continued)

The following outlines how the Company has adopted and complied TERBAARAQABD WA FEANRBETLES

with the CG Code and the CG Rules to achieve good corporate BEBRETRRERLPEEARERIUNER

governance. ROECEERMFE-

A DIRECTORS A EEXE

A.1 The board A1 ESE
Principle of Good Governance: The board should assume REFERRA  EFETREAREBER
responsibility for leadership and control of the company and BEHARMNET TEBAEERERD
be collectively responsible for promoting the success of the AIRER) BEFEEEFAE RN
company. The directors should take decisions objectively in the RATIR TEREEBIRTE -

interests of the company.

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

<F A % 32 2EREEF? AREAR-ZB—ZFNETHRE

A1

Board meetings should be held  Deviation explained The Board held 11 meetings in 2010. Individual
at least four times a year. BEEH AR attendance of each director on a named basis is set out
ExgeaRRERELER " Bt % 18 below:

BAITHIR o EEER_ZZHERTT T -RgE -BLE

FRCAa T ACENBEARZSBERHI DT

Executive directors: #i 77 2 % -

Mr. WANG Weixian 4/11
TEEBERAE

Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones 1M/11
R kA&

Ms. WANG Xuling 11/11
FRELZL

Non-executive director: F£ # 77 & F -
Mr. LAl Kin, Jerome 3/11
kA
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A1

DIRECTORS (Continued)

The board (Continued)

Code Provisions

Compliance?

A EE(#E)

A1 EEE(HE)

Compliance by the Company in 2010

<F Al 5 XX

A.1.1 (Continued)

REBEE?

KARAR-ZZE-—ZFNETHE

A1 (#&)

Independent non-executive directors: B 17 FEH7T7E E -

Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 3/11
ok 3 O A

Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP 3/11
I AN O )

Mr. JIANG Simon X. 3/11
7 /NBR St

Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong 3/11
B RRE k&

In addition to obtaining Board approval through the
circulation of written resolutions of the directors, two
regular Board meetings were held by the directors
during the year ended 31 December 2010. The directors
consider that such arrangements are appropriate and
adequate for addressing all the Company’s affairs which
require the Board’s direction and supervision during the
past year.

hERENEE EARZERMEREST S A4
N RBEZE-—FTF+_A=T—BLEFER
EFRTTRRAFHMNES SR "EFRARA
BLHRBE—FORARAMERTEZEE I
THNEBEZEBEMs BEZRREH-
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A

DIRECTORS (Continued)

A.1 The board (Continued)

Code Provisions
<F All 5 XX

A.1.2

All directors should be given
opportunity to include matters

in the agenda for regular board
meetings.
MEESFEOBEHRSREE A
FHIABHREZTGEEEZR -

A.1.3

Notice of at least 14 days should
be given of a regular board
meeting.
BOUEREFEERRED
RATIAREHBA -

A4

All directors should have access

to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary.
FFEESREHAES QAW
ENBERRRR-

Compliance?

A E=(H)

A1 ESE(HE)

Compliance by the Company in 2010
ARARE-ZEENETHE

All directors are invited to include matters in the agenda
for regular Board meetings.
MAEEFYERFREBIFREIATHREFS
AR

The Company generally gives 14 days prior written notice
of a regular Board meeting and reasonable prior notice
for all other Board meetings.

ARBIBRTEREFEETEZ —REEI4RED
EEBHN MBTHEELESFTEENERA
EaEREELBEM-

All directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with.
FMEESZRHAESAAMENERLRRL MU
HMREFSEFRMBERRNRAMHEEST -
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A DIRECTORS (Continued) A EXE(H)

A.1 The board (Continued) A1 EEE(HE)

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

3 8 X EEEI? AAAR-E-BENETHE

A.1.5

Minutes of board meetings and
meetings of board committees
should be kept by a duly
appointed secretary of the
meeting and such minutes should
be open for inspection.
EEgeahEEFELER
TENLEEREEEXE
THMERTFT BEZEFERL
SRER M ARER -

A.1.6

Minutes should record in sufficient
detail the matters considered by
the board and decisions reached.
Draft and final versions of minutes
should be sent to all directors

for their comment and records
within a reasonable time after the
meeting.
EELABEFMALETES
FREZREEREMEBRE
FE - FRLEEFNTREE
MELTERAERENEGER
BAFTETHAEE S UHRKE
ERRERRIFLRH-

Z B

The minutes are kept by the Company’s legal advisers
and they are open for inspection by the directors and
the members of the Board committees.
ERLBAARAEERARTE BEZEeRL
BAHEELREEELZEENNESH-

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking the
minutes and all the matters considered and the decisions
reached in the Board meeting are recorded in sufficient
detail. The draft minutes are sent to the directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final versions are sent to all directors for their
records.
AEWEBBREFLEZLT S LB FMLH
TEESFEERTMERFERMEBATNF
B-aBzaBniRkfREBAEZEREN
EEREFHAFETHEES UHEREEHER
MERE-
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A DIRECTORS (Continued) A EE(A)
A.1 The board (Continued) A1 ESE(H)
Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010
SF A % 32 EAET? AREAR-ZB—ZFNETHRE
A1.7
There should be a procedure v All the directors have recourse to independent
agreed by the board to enable professional advice at the Company’s expense.
the directors to seek independent FMEBESEHINSRKBIEXER BRAHBARQT
professional advice, at the XA e

company’s expense, to assist them
to discharge their duties.
RAFEHE —EBRESFE
BEMRF FEFRSKE
VYHEEER UBBHREFRET
HBE ERBRAIXM-

A.1.8

If a substantial shareholder or a v/ The voting and quorum requirements specified in the
director has a conflict of interest Company’s Articles of Association (the "Articles”)

in a matter which the board has conform with the Code’s requirements.

determined to be material, a RAAGEZER@AANHBDAEINNEREREE
board meeting should be held ABREHFETUNHRTE-

(and not by way of circulation or
by a committee). Independent
non-executive directors who,

and whose associates, have no
material interest in the transaction
should be present at such board
meeting.
MEERRAEENEETED
EEBEANEFENFAEN
nER BAERTEFSSE
(MTREBREMNXHFT AR
B XHBAZEESRE) - K~ F
REBEATERISHHESR
£l 8 K F & &9 B 3 3F 8 17
EEHELETERESTST SR -
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A DIRECTORS (Continued)
A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle of Good Governance: There should be a clear division
of responsibilities at the board level — the management of the
board and the day-to-day management of the business — to
ensure a balance of power and authority.

Code Provisions Compliance?

<F Al R X ERE?

A EE(H)
A2 EERTHAR

RFERRA - HEEFENEE W
TENEETAEFENEERER
MAFER)EBERDME AR
REHNEFZERNSE-

Compliance by the Company in 2010
ARAR-F-BENETHE

A.2.1

The roles of chairman and

chief executive officer should

be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities
between them should be clearly
established and set out in writing.
FRETHAHRNACESR
EH TNEE—-ARBRE-
FEZEBRENI D EBE

R A E & e

A2.2

The Chairman should ensure all
directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings.
ITREBRIMBESFE TR
HENREFTEZ LARD
M EH -

A.2.3

The Chairman should ensure that
the directors receive adequate
information, which must be
complete and reliable, in a timely
manner.
ITREBRESFREHRI TR
ER - EFHEERATERASE -

Mr. Wang Weixian is the Chairman who is responsible
for the overall investment and business development
strategies of the Group. Mr. Tse Sai Tung, Stones is
the Chief Executive Officer who is responsible for the
Group’s business operations and execution of the
Group’s long term business development policies.
ITREBEALERIF BELAEFENEBREBERRE
RBERRER FEREERTHER BEAE
EXBKEE VAEBRTAEENRBEBER
B -

The Chairman has a clear responsibility to provide the
whole Board with all the information that is required for
the discharge of the Board’s responsibilities.
ITENARBECSANEFSTERNERMMEA
HETEFEREBHEANER-

The Chairman has been continually improving the quality
and timeliness of the dissemination of information to
directors.

IR ERENEANESAETREEMNRAEER -
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A.3

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition

Principle of Good Governance: The board should have a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the company. The board should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) so that it can effectively
exercise independent judgement.

A EE(HE)
A EEEWNAEAR

RgE R - EFERARBERN A
MEBRERERNGERTD RER -
EFEETHTEFEFATES(E
EBILIFATES) N ABHEK L
ERHOE EEEFTS OB
1 %8 2 # i -

A4

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

<F Al 4% 32 =BETF? KRARAR-ZZ-—ZFNETHE

The independent non-executive v/ The composition of the Board, by category of the
directors should be expressly directors, including names of Chairman, executive
identified as such in all corporate directors, non-executive director and independent
communications. non-executive directors, is disclosed in all corporate
FrERRBAP - EHEHA communications.

BIRITEENFH - REFEEEIRE ATESE FRATEERBY

FRTEENB RS ENEETEERR A LD
MM RTHE -

Appointment, Re-election and Removal

Principle of Good Governance: There should be a formal,
considered and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors. There should be plans in place for orderly
succession for appointments to the board. All directors should
be subject to re-election at regular intervals.

AAZEF - EBERER

RFERFRA: AR EHFTER &
ERERBEAZARNHESTZMA
BFE-EE2RBIESE URRERF
ERZABTEFT -TREFTHER
THREHBEIENES -
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A.4

DIRECTORS (Continued)

A EE(#E)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal A4 ZF -EERE % (H)

(Continued)

Code Provisions
< Bl & XX

A4

Non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election.

HMTEEEERELE L
BEREHEE-

Compliance?
=EEF?

Compliance by the Company in 2010

FRAR-EZ-EFNETFE

The term of appointment of the non-executive director
is three years.

FRATEFNEHR=F-

The term of appointment of the independent non-
executive directors is one year renewable by mutual
agreement on an annual basis.

BYFRTEENERR —F UEFRETWH

HETED-

Under the Company’s Articles, one-third of all directors
(whether executive or non-executive) is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual
general meeting provided that every director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years.
BEAQAMBA - 2BEFN=22 —(TwmAH
TEERERIATEST)ANRBERREFK
BrAESTRIEXEMER EEREEFED
BRB=FHRESE K-

59



60 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2010

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
1B 38 5 V8 o

A DIRECTORS (Continued) A EX(H)

A.4 Appointment, Re-election and Removal AL ZRE-EBRER(E)
(Continued)

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

SF A % 32 PR S AREAR-ZB—ZFNETHE

A4.2

All directors appointed to fill a Deviation explained ~ The Company’s Articles provide that any director so
causal vacancy should be subject EEH AN appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
to election by shareholders at the & Bff & 18 office until the next following annual general meeting
first general meeting after their and shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting.
appointment. RARMAMTE REFABRETRMESEEFEZX
Fr B & E 4 G R 2= 5 i & &= (T EFNENEEEEBETERREFAREERA
WESFRERSEZEENE I MEREETFEBRRAGLETEHNER-

EREAEG FEXRERAESE-
Such arrangement is considered appropriate in light of
the requirement of paragraph 4(2) of Appendix 3 to the
Listing Rules which requires that any person appointed
by the directors to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election.
R EMBAAME =540 M T BIEM®ERE
TRMEEELZENEAMALIHEETRETER
REFREER/IL EEBETFEREREMN
BR O OWZBELHEEREER -

Every director, including those Under the Company’s Articles, one-third of all directors
appointed for a specific term, (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to
should be subject to retirement by retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual
rotation at least once every three general meeting provided that every director shall be
years. subject to retirement at least once every three years.
BRrEF(BEZSERERETHE BERARAMAA 2BEFEHN=ZH2 —(TwmR/HA
HWEZ)EZ LB =FHE TEZEERIRIVTER)ERBRERRESF X
HR—Ro ErRESRIEZEXENER HEBREFED

BAE=-_FmESE K-
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A DIRECTORS (Continued)

A.5 Responsibilities of Directors

Code Provisions
<F All % XX

A5.1

Every newly appointed director
should receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction,

on the first occasion of his
appointment, and subsequently
such briefing and professional
development as is necessary,

to ensure that he has a proper
understanding of the operations
and business of the company

and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules,
applicable legal requirements and
other regulatory requirements

and the business and governance
policies of the company.
BEFZANESTHEEER
EXZAERESZE ERXK
FAEMSB ENRERM K
BRNRGESHEONRBREE
Bl AR EE QR EE
REBHUEBHENERE UK
ROMBEREREBEER L&
WA EWARBEAEDSR
ERHEMEERTE UK QA E
BREBBRMARENBE -

Compliance?

A EE(H)
A5 EEEfT

Compliance by the Company in 2010
ARAR=ZZ-—ZSFNETHE

On appointment, new directors will be briefed by

the Chairman and senior executives on the Group’s
corporate goals and objectives, activities and business,
strategic plans and financial situations. They will also be
provided with orientation materials package including
induction of the duties and responsibilities of directors
of a listed company.
ITRERERTRAERRFTZAENEEZTRLZER
MESESHEHAAFAEENCEEEREN ED
MR KB 8 R BN K E AR
H—ENRBEHNEBELTRAAEZENRELE
EAH) -

The Company aims at keeping all directors updated on
the Listing Rules, statutory and regulatory requirements.
RARAREGEEMAESTME &I EMHKRA &
EREEHT-

61
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A DIRECTORS (Continued) A EE(A)
A.5 Responsibilities of Directors (Continued) A5 EEE T (&)

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

= Bl % 32 =R EF? AREAR-ZB-—ZFNETHRE

A.5.2

The functions of non-executive 4 All independent non-executive directors serve on the

directors should at least include: audit and remuneration committees of the Company.

FHRTEEFNBEEELBE FEBEBIYATEZTHHEARRABTREZES R

HFHWEEEKE -

(a) to bring an independent All independent non-executive directors are invited
judgement at board meetings; to participate in Board meetings so that independent
REZFgea LtR®EB Y judgement can be brought at such meetings.

F MEBIENTEFTHEZ2NESTe g2 MU
BEREEZEGE LMBERNB L HE-
(b) to take the lead where

potential conflicts of interests
arise;
REREBEENZEHRNSF
HEEERS|BIER

~

(c) to serve on board committees,
if invited; and

FHRLEITEFEZREEN
KB &

(d

=

to scrutinise the Company’s
performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and monitoring the
reporting of performance.
FTHREHNLAIANEKEREESR
ERRETCEERRAN
W EERKRBEHERSR -
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A.5

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (Continued)

Code Provisions
< All % X

Compliance?

A EE(H)
A5 B = EF(H)

Compliance by the Company in 2010
AAAR-B—BENETHE

A.5.3

Every director should ensure that
he can give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the
company.
BREEFERREBERARN
KREZUETAANER-

A.5.4

All directors must comply with
their obligations under the Model
Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers

(the “Model Code”) set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
MEBEEFERAETREFRE L
WARBIM 8+ PrE e bR
TAEFETEFRINE
% <7 BT 248 =7 R ) PR 7B 7 1
B E e

All the directors have given prompt attention to the
affairs of the Company.

MEEEHCHREIARARAANER-

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding directors’
and relevant employees’ dealing in securities.
RRBRERMETRAMET+FAEEHEEERE
MEEBEEZESFNEESTA -

All the directors and relevant employees complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code.
FEEELEHMEEB BT TEETRAEOM

=g
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A DIRECTORS (Continued) A EXE(H)

A.6 Supply of and Access to Information

A6 ERMBEMHKEHN
Principle of Good Governance: The directors should be R ERBRA EFEEEERMER
EMEHN BHEHNEARERH
such form and of such quality as will enable them to make EERESHEEHABEORE L ERE T
RENBEREE-

provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in

an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities.

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

<A R X ERET?

A.6.1

AAAR-E-—ZFNETHER

An agenda and accompanying
board papers should be sent to all
directors at least 3 days before the
intended date of a meeting.
BaaERENONEEE X
LR T B TH
HA=Z=XFETHEES-

A.6.2

Each director should have
separate and independent access
to the senior management of the
company to make further enquiries
or to obtain more information in
order to fulfil his duties properly.
BREEFRAUEBRE V&
AN S REBEEAE U
REERTAEBEMFELE
—SERNEREZER -

An agenda and the relevant paper and materials are
usually sent to the directors at least 3 days before the
meeting.

EEaEEBXHRMHE -—RELEEZET
HEA=XF&TE=F-

The directors have access to the senior management of
the Company whenever they feel necessary.
EENEERREFTERYIEXBARANS R
EEEAER-
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A DIRECTORS (Continued)

A.6 Supply of and Access to Information

Code Provisions

5 Al R X

A EE(E)
A6 ERHIEMR B GE

Compliance by the Company in 2010
ARAR-ZZB-—ZFENETHFERE

A.6.3

All directors are entitled to have
access to board papers and related
materials. Where queries are
raised by the directors, steps must
be taken to respond as promptly
and fully as possible.
MEESFHEREHNESF S
XHEBEEEH -HBEEER
HEE PERKRTSEUFR
EHREZHEAEE-

Board minutes and the related materials are available
for inspection by the directors whenever requested. All
efforts are made to ensure that queries of the directors
are responded to promptly and fully.

EEge B EHEN R RE R ERHHE
EH - ARABZNHREFRENBERZTRER
DS E E -
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B.1

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND B.
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and B.1 %

Disclosure

Principle of Good Governance: There should be a formal and
transparent procedure for setting policy on executive directors’
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for all
directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own

remuneration.

Code Provisions

Compliance?

EEREREERBAEWN
r
B R B R K R AR B

RgERFEN - AaERLEARA
FHENER UHFTRITEZTHNEH
MBERRETMBEENHEMAS -
E=ETH2EBETEAFNME -

Compliance by the Company in 2010

<F Al 5 X

B.1.1

The company should establish

a remuneration committee with
specific written terms of reference.
A majority of the members should
be independent non-executive
directors.
NEAERUFMEESG Ui
ARNTEABRESEE - KHH
KERBRBIFNITES -

—

B.1.2

The committee should consult

the Chairman and/or the

Chief Executive Officer about
their proposals relating to the
remuneration of other executive
directors and have access to
professional advice if considered
necessary.
ZESRMEBUEEMMTE
ENHFMBRAERE R RITH
BEONER MRBRRBRLE TN
AEMEXER-

ARAR-B-BENETHE

The remuneration committee was established on 19
September 2006 with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities.
The remuneration committee comprises the Chairman
and all independent non-executive directors.
FMZEERN _ZEZRFANATNABRERY WAT
AR TEOMRESE FEINAEEREIBE -
FHNEZESREITRREEBYFNTES -

Pursuant to the terms of the remuneration committee,
the committee should consult with the Chairman and/ or
the Chief Executive Officer about their proposals relating
to the remuneration of other executive directors. The
committee is authorised to obtain such professional
advice as it considers necessary.
BEFMEZESNRESRE ZE SRR EHE
MRITEEOTMABAETER RITRAEHNEE -
ZEGEBEEREARRAVEREREXER -
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B. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND B. EENSARNEEEAEN
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued) M (&)
B.1 The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and B 1 MR IEENKFERAKE)

Disclosure (Continued)

Code Provisions
< All % XX

B.1.3

The terms of reference of the
committee should include the
minimum prescribed duties.
ZEGNRBEHEEZLESR
EHRTREIBANBE -

B.1.4

The committee should make
available its terms of reference,
explaining its role and authority
delegated to it by the board.
ZEgRLAFEARBRESRE &
PFHAGREEER THL
-

B.1.5

The committee should be provided
with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties.
ZEeRERHARERM
BITHBE-

Compliance?

Compliance by the Company in 2010

ARARR-B-BEHMFHE

The terms of reference of the committee include the
minimum prescribed responsibilities.

ZEENBREEEEZEVERRAECAIANEE -

The terms of reference including, among other things,
its role and authority of the committee delegated to it
by the Board are made available on request.
BEGE(BRELRF)IZEENAEGRESS
BRYHZBENAEERKTUARH-

The committee can seek independent professional advice
to complement its own resources to discharge its duties.
ZEGgASKBYEEXEER UBREERAFER
HMmETHRBRE -
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C. BAERZKE
C.1 Financial Reporting C1 BB

REFERRAN - EFESTRTE BW
ReEFzArnNERE HKREATS -

Principle of Good Governance: The board should present
a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the
company’s performance, position and prospects.

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

<F AR X ERET? AAAR-E-—ZFNETHER

c11

Management should provide

such explanation and information
to enable the board to make

an informed assessment of the
matters put before the board for
approval.
ERERNEZGRHEAH
REESTSHENSZTENOMR
BREH UZEEFgkz
SEHEELHMBENTME -

C.1.2

The directors should acknowledge
in the Corporate Governance
Report their responsibilities for
preparing the accounts, and there
should be a statement by the
auditors about their reporting
responsibilities in the auditors’
report on the financial statements.
EETRAELEEARSEPRR
MEGEBEREBNE T ZEAED
TMREERBEYMBERERNOZH
MmEPRBRENRKEME
fEH &8 -

The directors are regularly provided with updates on the
Company’s business and the management'’s strategic
plans, financial objectives and other actions.
EETHERHEAHEARANEBRLEEREMNR
IS MBARREMITHONENER-

A statement of directors’ responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements is set out in this Corporate
Governance Report.

EERUEVBEHRRNECBRARLALEETLRRS -

The report of the auditors states the auditors’ reporting
responsibilities.

BB RETRN ZBERE AL R -
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C.1

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C BERZXEH(E)
(Continued)

C.1 Bt 7 0 3R (&)
Financial Reporting (Continued)

“E-TEFH 6

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

< Bl & XX =EBBF? KARR-ZBE—ZFNETHERS

c.1.3

The board’s responsibility to v The Board aims at presenting a comprehensive,

present a balanced, clear and balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's
understandable assessment performance, position and prospects in all shareholder
extends to annual and interim communications.

reports, other price-sensitive EEERUEMAEENRE RKAREEME
announcements and other RERERPIEL S E EMRBANTME-

financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, and
reports to regulators as well as

to information required to be
disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.
EFEegNEERELEAE B
M RBABNTE FERAES
REHRRBPBHRE HEfhBEEH
BREBRERN QB ERRE
FTRAAKERETRENH
M BEN MEEBEBERR
B ¥R A R AR B R O R
ETUNEEBNER-
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C BAERZE(E)

C.2

(Continued)

Internal Controls

Principle of Good Governance: The board should ensure that
the company maintains sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard shareholders’ investment and the company’s assets.

Code Provisions
<F All 5 XX

Compliance?

C2 AEEH

RFERARA EFERERARH#E
FR2RAERHAEBES  LERER
RNBREMNRBANEE -

Compliance by the Company in 2010
AREAR-F-—ZFFHNES

C.2.1and C.2.2

The directors should at least
annually conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the system of
internal control of the company
and its subsidiaries. The board’s
annual review should consider

the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of
staff of the company’s accounting
and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes
and budget.
EEREELEBFHRAANREA
FRAAAAESERNE N
METRT - BEFSFFHENT
B EBEINZEERAESE
AR BERBETENEIR
BETERKEREERM U
REIMEZHNEIRER
EHEEXRERRE -

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.
EEgNTEHEBRRRIEEREEABERE
B

The Audit Director reports to the audit committee on
key findings regarding internal controls. The audit
committee, in turn, communicates any material issues to
the Board.
NEREMBERZESERAEABERNN T2
RNEHER MEZZEQANESTEEREMNE
REHE-

Two meetings were held by the audit committee in
2010 at which the audit committee was apprised of the
Group's internal control systems.
ERZEeRN - ZFETTRAGE MH
ZEZEGERZgR TEANAEENAMBERER -

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control of the Company and

its subsidiaries and is satisfied with the adequacy of the
Group's system of internal control.
EEFEYUARARETF QAN AT ERE
Ty THAEERNTENRE RO T B MK

=N
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C.3

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(Continued)

Audit Committee

Principle of Good Governance: The board should establish
formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it
applies the financial reporting and internal control principles
and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the
company’s auditors. The audit committee should have clear

terms of reference.

Code Provisions
=F All % X

C.3.1

Minutes of audit committee
meetings should be kept by a

duly appointed secretary of the
meeting. Draft and final versions
of minutes should be sent to all
committee members for their
comment and records within a
reasonable time after the meeting.
ERZERNEELBER
ERELEAZENRERF-T
ELBENVURAERELS
EEREONSERHEAT B
TEZEEEMAEKRE UHESE
BERBRNMIELLE-

C.3.2

A former partner of the existing
audit firm should not be a member
of the committee for a period of
one year commencing on the date
of his ceasing to be a partner of
the firm.
ANAIWMEESEITEEZEEM
EBE—FRNAREKEA
EBMHNEBRARKE -

Compliance?

C BERZB(E)

C3 ERZE®

RgERRA - EFERAEE MM
& R Bf 7% B R RoR BP R IR B R
MGEFERNBD MO EEBRNE
HERAYRBAENLZH -BEREZE
ERAEGBEWHBELE-

Compliance by the Company in 2010
ARAARBE-—ZSFEFNETHE

The minutes are kept by the Company’s legal advisers.
The draft minutes are sent to the committee members
for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final versions are sent to all members
for their records.
ERLBAARAEEREARTF g LENT
BRREBEAGHEERENGERBEATETEZES
RE UHESFEXER Mea &N KRR
FETHMABKE UHBESERDH-

None of the committee members is or was a partner of
the existing audit firm.
MEZEeRERKNS G ETRT XA =K
Wa®A-
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C BERZB(HE)
(Continued)

C.3 Audit Committee (Continued) C3 ERZEEE(H)
Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010
<F A 4% 32 ERETF? ARARAR-ZB—ZFNETHS
C.3.3
The terms of reference of the v The terms of reference of the committee include, among
committee should include the other things, the minimum prescribed responsibilities.
minimum prescribed duties. ZEgHWRESEZ D EEHPELE)RA TR
ZEgnNREREEZELEER R A -

BREEAIBHBE -

C.3.4

The committee should make v The terms of reference of the committee which, among
available its terms of reference, other things, explain the role and authority delegated to
explaining its role and authority it by the Board, are made available on request.
delegated to it by the board. ZEgHNRESE(ETemiHEaekEs:
ZEGRAMEBBESE N ERTFTHZENDBAEERETUARH-

AEAEREFERTHEL
WA
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT C BAERZE(E)
(Continued)
C.3 Audit Committee (Continued) C3ERZEE=S(H)

Code Provisions
<F All % X

C.35

Where the board disagrees with
the audit committee’s view on

the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the
external auditors, the company
should include in the Corporate
Governance Report a statement
from the audit committee
explaining its recommendation
and also the reason(s) why the
board has taken a different view.
HWEEETREEREZEGY
mE-ZE - BFEHERID
RBMEENER  AIXRF
BEGEELRSTINHAEZ
ZETMAEEBERZENEHR
NEEFEHIAAERNREA -

C.3.6

The committee should be provided
with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties.
ZESgRERARTEZERMN
BITHBE-

Compliance?

Compliance by the Company in 2010
ARAR-ZZB-—ZFNETHFEE

The committee recommended to the Board (which
endorsed the view) that, subject to shareholders’
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
KPMG be re-appointed as the external auditors for
2011.
ZEEgNEETEREEEELREERR)IEMN
ZAEEFHREANEEMA_T——FENIHNB
ZEECMAERRRNEERREFARE L& -

The committee can seek independent professional advice
to complement its own resources to discharge its duties.
ZEGUSKBEYEEER UHARHEAFER
RmMETHRE-
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D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD D. EEESREINER

D.1 Management Functions D.1 & B B &8
Principle of Good Governance: The company should have a ROERRA : ArEE—HBEERXHD
formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the board BEFER VNEHENBEESIER
for its decision. The board should give clear directions to EMEH - EFSERERAAMEDLR
management as to the matters that must be approved by the TR EGEEESTSHENTEL
board before decisions are made on behalf of the company. FEBEREBEMWIIE TR -

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

<F Al R X REET? ARAR-ZB-ZENEITHE
D.1.1and D.1.2

The board should give clear Important matters are reserved for the Board’s decision,
directions as to the powers of including:

management, in particular, with UTEEEELHHEBEESRELTE  BEF:
respect to the circumstances

where management should

obtain prior approval from the
board before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on
behalf of the company.

EFeREMEBENRE NG
TEWER HRRERMERS
MATEEEBEERKRRAAFEH
R TE Bk R S E ) A FE AT E 3=
TESEFTEOME

The company should formalise
the functions reserved to the
board and those delegated to
management.
RAEBSBLERETFTEEFS
WBERBLEERTEEE
BB BE D RIBEE T 2K -

long-term objectives and strategies
REBE 2 RER

extension of the Group's activities into new
business areas

BASENEBERBAENEBRY

appointments to the Board and the Board
committees

EXeREZEEREENEE

annual internal controls assessment and annual
budgets

FEABEHFERFRERERE

material acquisitions and disposals

ERKBEREESERE

material connected transactions

EANBERS

material banking facilities

EARTEREE

announcements of interim and final results

payment of dividends

il g )
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D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (Continued)
D.2 Board Committees
Principle of Good Governance: board committees should be
formed with specific written terms of reference that deal

clearly with the committees’ authority and duties.

Code Provisions Compliance?

D. EEE2# IHTNER
D2 EEBRZE®
RIFERARE EERZE8 S ETH

FEEmBBEEE SLIAEZEE
Mg RBE-

Compliance by the Company in 2010

<A R X =RET?

AAAR-BE-BENMTHE

D.2.1

The board should prescribe
sufficiently clear terms of reference
to enable such committees to
discharge their functions properly.
EEGRRTDIERMAIAZ
SZEEeNBREEE UTAH
BEZESEEET ARG -

D.2.2

The committees should be
required to report back to the
board on their decisions or
recommendations.
ZEgAMESTTERHER
ESRHEBREZ-

The Board has established two board committees each
with specific terms of reference, namely the audit
committee and remuneration committee.
EEEERUMBEZES - BERZESGRFTMWE
Eg Ui HAZESLZEENHRERE-

The minutes of the committee meetings containing the
committee’s decisions and/or recommendations are
circulated to all members of the Board unless a conflict
of interest arises. The committees are required to report
back to the Board on key findings during the year.
BEZEGATER IHEBREANZESE AL
BYmMEZEMEXREEN EERMNSEREY
BERAGKIIN - ZEGERAFEARNES SER
TERAEHER-
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E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS E. ERRMNBE

E.1 Effective Communication E1 BXREBE
Principle of Good Governance: The board should endeavour RERRA - EFSRIZNHFHA

to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and, PRERETHEYE CEEEZERRBE
FREHEMBRE XN HRRET

BERBYZBBEELMEHE -

in particular, use annual general meetings or other general
meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage

their participation.

Code Provisions
<F All 5 XX

Compliance?

Compliance by the Company in 2010
ARAAR-B-—BENETHE

E.1.1

In respect of each substantially
separate issue at a general
meeting, a separate resolution
should be proposed by the
chairman of that meeting.
REBEBEATRAMHEERS -
EREIRERETANRER -

E.1.2

The Chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting
and arrange, for the chairmen

of the audit, nomination and
remuneration committees (as
appropriate) to be available to
answer questions at the annual
general meeting.
EEgIRELERRBF
ARg TRHFEEREZES 1R
LEZEgRhFMWEZER(WE
AW EFERBRRBFAE L
B % 18 A o

A separate resolution is proposed for each substantially
separate issue.

REHREATANEREIERETANRER-

The Company’s annual general meeting will be held

on 2 June 2011. The Chairman of the Board who is

also the chairman of the remuneration committee

will attend such forthcoming annual general meeting
and be available to answer questions thereat and will
arrange for the chairman of the audit committee or his
representative to be available to answer questions at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
RAARRBFRAEHNR_T——FA=-B&E
T EFGIR(MAFHNZESIR)IBLEF %
EEBRRBFRGE ARG B ZRERB WL
EREZESFRAHERZREERRBEFRE I
m 2 2 e
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E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS E.
(Continued)

B R EEE)

E.1 Effective Communication (Continued)

E1 ARBEEE

Code Provisions Compliance? Compliance by the Company in 2010

KARAR-ZE-—ZFNETHE

<F Al R X ERE?

E.2

E.1.3

The company should arrange for
the notice to shareholders to be
sent in the case of annual general
meetings at least 20 clear business
days before the meeting and to be
sent at least 10 clear business days
in the case of all other general
meetings.
WMERKRRBFREG RAE
THEREETAZE D B20ME
EEHMBRRZBZXBAN M
EAEMERAGm S BIE
ERGBRTHNEDBI0MEE %
HEXBAA-

Voting by Poll

Code Provisions
< All % XX

E.2.1

The chairman of a meeting

should at the commencement

of the meeting ensure that

an explanation is provided of

the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll and then answer
any questions from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll.
AREEITRREEREEZFNHE
EMEUNKRRETRNETRR
WEMAEr ARODERRA
AR ES A KRRNERIERA -

Compliance?

Not less than 20 clear business days’ notice was sent to
shareholders before the Company’s 2010 annual general
meeting and not less than 10 clear business days’

notice was sent to shareholders before the Company’s
extraordinary general meeting held on 16 August 2010.
RARARBR-_Z-—ZFREAFRGNAIR
W0@EEXACMBRRBELEBN ZREBR_F—
ZTENATRBREITHARABRRS R AKE /D
LPRIVEZEEXBERKRREL BN

E2 UBEFARR

Compliance by the Company in 2010
ARAR-ZZB—ZFHNETHFEE

The chairman of the Company’s 2010 annual

general meeting explained to the shareholders at the
commencement of the meeting the detailed procedures
for conducting a poll and answered questions from
shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll.
RARAZE—ZEF s REBEREEIREEER
BRERMBREBEUNRZEFIRETRROFARE
FFritBERREEUAREFTARANER -
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. All directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive directors, one non-
executive director and four independent non-executive directors:

Executive directors:

WANG Weixian (Chairman)
TSE Sai Tung, Stones (Chief Executive Officer)
WANG Xuling

Non-executive director:
LAl Kin, Jerome
Independent non-executive directors:

CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
FONG Wo, Felix, JP

JIANG Simon X.

KWAN Kai Cheong

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The Board has
extensive management experience in the property market in the PRC.
The Board has the required knowledge, experience and capabilities
to operate and develop the Group’s business and implement
the Company’s business strategies. The biographical details and
experience of the directors and senior management are set out on
pages 85 to 92.

EENRERS

DB RM LR A K 8 AR R R
BRI BT E R R A D AR E
ENRER RERBE-T-FF+=
A=+ - RLEERERTRET A
LR B

EEE

EEREREBR LN TESFT —BIFH
TEEFRNEBIFERTES:

BITES:

TREEE)
WEREFHAEZ)
THRE

FBITES:
R
BYFBITES:

o 5
7TMAR L
E RN
B RS

EEgRABEARANEBRERE
AR ERLODEER - EFENFTEYE
MERELEEERLR - EFTEBRE
RBERASEEBREREARAEHRR
BAEOMES EBREEN - EFhah
EEEBEABNBEFBLERERNFSS
£92H -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Each director has a duty to act in good faith in the best interests of
the Company. The directors, individually and collectively, are aware
of their responsibilities and accountability to shareholders and for
the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed and

operated.

Directors have timely access to relevant information prior to each
board meeting to enable them to make an informed decision and to
discharge their duties and responsibilities. Directors can attend board

meetings either in person or by electronic means of communication.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive directors. The Company
is of the view that all the independent non-executive directors meet
the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.

Ms. Wang Xuling is the sister of Mr. Wang Weixian, the Chairman of
the Group. Apart from this, to the best knowledge of the Company,
there is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship among members of the Board or between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Company provides directors with directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage to protect them from loss as a result of any legal
proceeding against the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Wang Weixian is the Chairman and Mr. Tse Sai Tung, Stones
serves as the Chief Executive Officer. The role of the Chairman is
separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer so as to delineate
their respective areas of responsibility. They receive significant
support from the directors and the senior management team.

EEE(A)

EEEHAFRAEAENAARAKRER
s RANEFTE-EZTHEIRARHA
BAREHBRENEELHEEENLE R
MELEARAEBHITA -

RETEESSSHN EEARERE
GRBEN U2 EEEFELNERER
BUMSHREREF - EFTRARE
BEFTRATALEEFEEH-

ARABERIEZBLFATEETNHSF
EBIMBERK - A2ARBR MEBHL
FRTEEHFTA LTHRBEBEI3GMAH
B RS YR AWEFHAB I -

TMEZIRASBEIRIREEBELSLEN
Rz AARABFAAN EFE
REzERETFEERTHRAH ZHABEFT
MM % REXEMEANNBREBE-

ARAREERHEERRRABEAEME
wi - ARERE TG EEMEGHE KR F
MERFLMABERER

FTERITHRAR

ITREAERTIF MHALRELINRT
B TRNACHTHRARMBEDH
REBRENHEEENETHE -HF
BEE o RERERR D F-
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(Continued)

The Chairman is responsible for the overall business and investment
strategies of the Group. The Chairman is also responsible for
overseeing effective functioning of the Board and application of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for managing the Group’s overall operations
and execution of the Group’'s long term business development
policies. The Board, led by the Chairman, sets the overall directions,
strategies and policies of the Group. Under the leadership of the
Chief Executive Officer, the management is responsible for executing
the Board'’s strategy and implementing its policies through the day-
to-day management and operations of the Company.

The Board delegates appropriate aspects of its management and
administrative functions to the management who shall report to the
Board. The Board reviews on a periodic basis such delegations to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors of the Company have diversified
backgrounds and industry skills and one of the independent non-
executive directors has an appropriate accounting qualification
as required by the Listing Rules. With their expertise, they offer
experience, independent judgement and advice on the overall
management of the Company. Their responsibilities include
maintaining a balance between the interests of all shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

All the independent non-executive directors are members of the

audit and remuneration committees.

With the exception of Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome, who is appointed for a
term of three years, all the independent non-executive directors are
appointed for a term of one year renewable by mutual agreement
on an annual basis. Under the Company’s Articles, one-third of
all directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual general
meeting provided that every director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years.

FRERITERARE

ITRAEASENREBEBREERKE -
TRENEEEREZTENARNEERR
FHrEETAFRAIBEFNEARABR - TR
BHEBEEBASEENERELE UL
TAEENRHAEBSEERR -EF S H
TREES EFCRENITASENER
ﬁm‘%W&ﬁﬁoﬁ?ﬁmﬁm%gT’
EEEBENTEFERBILBEAAR

ANAEERREEEMABE-

EFERTEAMEERNEBEEFEED
EERTRBE - EFECHRITZS
B-UHEREHEERDEEE -

FHITES

ARARIMATEFAAITANE R

TERD Eh —R2BIUIATEEFHRSR
ETRAUABEENEERTER - BHEM
EMER - RE/ARARANEBERBERERM
K BUHAEBERER RENAETERE
MR ARBIMARRZEABREBRNZENFE -

FEBIUFATEELARERZEGR

¥FHZzBEEgKE-

RRESENEHR=ZFI PMEBELIE
WITEENITHUO R —F BAEFKE
FHBEETEN BRBERAQIGMA - 28
EEITHRATEEFERRIFATES)
W= —ARBERRBAFRKE L&
BEERIBEZSENER KUEREEES
LPEB=ZFRESER K-
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board established the remuneration committee on 19 September
2006 with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and responsibilities. The committee is responsible
for formulating and reviewing the remuneration policy and specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors. In formulating
the remuneration policy, the committee takes into consideration
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, employment
conditions and responsibilities, and individual performance of the
directors, senior management, and the general staff. The committee
can seek independent professional advice to complement its own
resources to discharge its duties.

The remuneration committee comprises Mr. Wang Weixian, who
is the chairman of the committee and all the independent non-
executive directors.

In addition to obtaining the remuneration committee’s approval
through the circulation of written resolutions of the committee
members, two meetings were held by the remuneration committee in
2010 to discuss remuneration related matters. All members attended
the meetings.

Details of the emoluments and options of each director, on a named
basis, are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board
selects and recommends candidates for directorship having regard
to the balance of skills and experience appropriate to the Company’s
business.

EESF M

EFEN_ZEZEXRFAATHLAER i%
MEZEg TAIRFEEERBEHE"
EW%E%@&%E°%§§§§Eﬁﬂ
&ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ”ﬁ%%ﬁ%
MBS E - EHFMBRREE ZTEEE
@;ﬁ@%l%'&@ﬂﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂ%i
fHEHEes BREFREEAREST 5
REEBABRE —RBRBEMNBARR-Z
BEEUSRKBYEXER UMAELRY
BREMBITHBE -

Mz 8

eREBETIEBEAE(BZEE
ENEFE)RFT

NEBUIERITES

BEBENZEENEZEEREARM

ERFMZE e AN FHEEER -
E-EFRTTMREFHE AR EH N
HENEE - MEXKEHHETHEREH -

GEEFRIEAT N0 S R R
B R B 5 R I 1S o

EERA
ARALMELZAG - EFERTIBA
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the audit committee on 19 September 2006
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and responsibilities. The committee is responsible
for formulating and reviewing the financial and internal control
principles of the Company. The committee is also responsible for
making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, approving the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors
and considering any questions of resignation or dismissal of such
auditors. The committee can seek independent professional advice to
complement its own resources to discharge its duties.

The committee comprises all the independent non-executive
directors. Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong is the chairman of the committee.

Two meetings were held by the audit committee in 2010. Individual
attendance of the members is set out below:

Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong 2/2
Mr. Cheong Ying Chew, Henry 172
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, JP 2/2
Mr. Jiang Simon X. 172

The committee reviewed, together with the senior management and
the external auditors, the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2009, the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Company, statutory compliance, other financial reporting matters
and the internal control system.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims at presenting a comprehensive, balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and
prospects. Management provides such explanation and information
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the matters
put before the Board for approval.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING (Continued)

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for the Group.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company regarding
their responsibilities for the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the report of the auditors on page 119.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness, particularly in respect of the controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets.

The Board is satisfied with the adequacy of the system of internal
control of the Company.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

KPMG, the external auditors of the Company, is primarily responsible
for providing audit services in connection with annual financial

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total remuneration in
respect of statutory audit services provided by KPMG for the Group
amounted to RMB3,650,000.

The audit committee recommended to the Board (which endorsed
the view) that, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, KPMG be re-appointed as the external
auditors for the Company for 2011.
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SHAREHOLDINGS INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2010:
Authorised share capital: HK$1,000,000,000, comprising
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each.

Issued and fully paid-up capital: HK$105,112,827.50 comprising
1,051,128,275 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each.

Class of shares: one class of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each with
equal voting rights.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

WANG Weixian, 47, is the Chairman and the founder of the
Group. Mr. Wang has over 18 years of experience in finance,
construction, property development and investment. He founded
Starwaly Properties Group Ltd, the original holding company for
various property projects of the Group, in Australia in February 1999.
He graduated from South China University of Technology with a
Bachelor degree in Building Materials and University of Technology,
Sydney (Australia) with a Bachelor degree of Commerce. He is also
a councilor of the Shanghai Soong Ching Ling Foundation and a
standing member of the Shanghai Overseas Exchange Association.

TSE Sai Tung, Stones, 52, is the Group Chief Executive Officer.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tse was the executive director
and managing director of two Hong Kong listed real estate
development companies. Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor degree of Science
in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong, a Master degree
of Business Administration from the University of Warwick, United
Kingdom, a Doctorate degree in Business Administration from
Macquarie University of Australia, and is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Engineers and the Chartered Institute of Buildings,
United Kingdom. Mr. Tse has over 26 years of experience in property
investment and development, project management, sales and
marketing in mainland China, Hong Kong and overseas.

WANG Xuling, 49, is the Group Executive Director. Ms. Wong
graduated from Ji'nan University (Guangzhou). Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Wang was the executive director and deputy general
manager of Mission Hills Golf Club (Mission Hills Group), responsible
for sales and marketing of properties. Before joining Mission Hills
Group (Mission Hills Golf Club), Ms. Wang had about 12 years of
experience in the news and media business. Ms. Wang is the sister of
the Group Chairman, Mr. Wang.
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Non-executive Director

LAI Kin, Jerome, 62, is the Group Non-Executive Director. Mr.
Lai, who graduated from the University of Toronto with a Bachelor
degree of Commerce, is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a chartered accountant of The
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. Mr. Lai has over
30 years of experience in accounting, management, strategic
planning, auditing and taxation. Before joining the Group, Mr. Lai
was the Senior Vice-President in charge of the finance, treasury
and administration functional units of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited and Director of the finance and management
services division of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Lai had also served as the financial controller at China Light & Power
Company Limited.

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry, 63, is an independent non-executive
Director, has over 30 years of experience in the securities industry.
He has been a director of the Worldsec Group of Companies which
he founded in 1991. Mr. Cheong currently serves as the deputy
chairman of Worldsec Limited, a company listed on the London Stock
Exchange.

FONG Wo, Felix, BBS, JP, 60, is an independent non-executive
Director, a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and is also qualified
in Canada and England. He is appointed by the Ministry of Justice
of China as one of the China-Appointed Attesting Officers in Hong
Kong. Mr. Fong is a consultant and the founding partner of the
Hong Kong law firm, King & Wood (formerly known as Arculli Fong
& Ng), and has practiced law for over 30 years, including eight years
in Toronto. Mr. Fong is a member of the Guangdong Provincial
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
a director of the China Overseas Friendship Association, a director
of the Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship Association and an
executive director of the Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association.
He is also the chairman of the Hong Kong Liquor Licensing Board,
the chairman of the Advisory Council on Food and Environmental
Hygiene, a member of the Hong Kong Film Development Council,
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a member of the Town Planning Board and a director of the Hong
Kong Basic Law Institute. Mr. Fong is a member of the first Selection
Committee for the purposes of electing the Chief Executive for Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, a founding member of the
Canadian International School of Hong Kong, a member of the Board
of Advisers for the Faculty of Business of the University of Victoria,
British Columbia, Canada and a visiting professor of the School of
Law of Sun Yat-sen University, China.

JIANG Simon X., 57, is an independent non-executive Director,
is the founder and chairman of CyberCity International Limited as
well as chairman of some of its subsidiaries. For the past five years,
Dr. Jiang has been involved mainly in private equity investment
activities in Hong Kong and mainland China. At the same time,
he is an independent non-executive director for COSL (2883.HK)
and COSCO International (517.HK). He is also a member of the
National Committee of CPPCC and the United Nations Investments
Committee.

KWAN Kai Cheong, 61, is an independent non-executive
Director, holds a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honors) degree from
the University of Singapore and is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia. He is also a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Kwan is presently the president of
Morrison & Company Limited, a business consultancy firm.

Joint Company Secretary

LEE Mei Yi, 43, is the joint company secretary of the Company.
Ms. Lee is a senior manager of Corporate Services Department of
Tricor Services Limited and an associate member of both the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Ms. Lee has over 15 years of
experience in the corporate secretarial area.

Leung Ching Han, 33, is the joint company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Leung is a manager of Corporate Services Department
of Tricor Services Limited and an associate member of both the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Ms. Leung has over 5 years
of experience in the corporate secretarial area.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHEUNG Man Hoi, Ronny, 40, is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung served duties as the
group financial controller or chief financial officer in various publicly
listed companies, including Tianjin Development Holdings Limited
and Nine Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited. He also worked in
PricewaterhouseCoopers for over seven years. Mr. Cheung graduated
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor of Arts
(Hons) in Accountancy and the Chinese University of Hong Kong
with an Executive MBA degree. Mr. Cheung is also a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
over 17 years of experience in professional accounting, business

consulting and corporate management.

LEUNG Yiu Man, Brian, 43, is the Chief Investment Officer of the
Group. Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in equity market,
investment bank, equity corporate and fund management. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Leung served as the managing director
of the research division of China International Capital Corporation
Limited and an executive director of Deutsche Securities, Hong Kong.
He graduated from the University of Hong Kong, holds a Bachelor
degree of Social Science and is qualified as a Chartered Financial
Analyst.

ZHANG Hai Bo, 43, is the Executive Vice President of the Group.
Mr. Zhang graduated from Tong Ji University with a Bachelor
degree in Architectural Engineering, a Master degree in Business
Administration from Fudan University and is qualified as a senior
engineer. Mr. Zhang has over 18 years of experience in property
development, engineering and corporate management. He was
previously the deputy general manager, executive deputy general
manager and general manager of various operating subsidiaries of
the Group and the vice president of the Group.
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REN Rui Xia, 42, is the Executive Vice President of the Group. Ms.
Ren holds a Bachelor degree in Architectural Structure from Tianjin
University and a Master degree in Business Administration from
Tsing Hua University. She has over 19 years of experience in property
development and management. Ms. Ren was previously the assistant
to general manager, the executive deputy general manager, the
regional executive deputy general manager and the reginoal general
manager of various major operating subsidiaries of the Group.

MAO Yong Ming, 57, is the Vice President of the Group. Mr. Mao,
who has over 27 years of experience in sales, property development
and investment in the PRC, and is also currently serving as a member
of the Political Consultative Conference of Huangshan Municipality
and a Standing Committee Member of the Political Consultative
Conference of the Huangshan Municipality.

WANG Hui Ren, 68, is the Vice President of the Group. Mr. Wang is
also the general manager of Shanghai Oriental Cambridge Property
Development Co., Ltd. He graduated from East China University of
Politics and Law with Bachelor of Laws, and worked for the Shanghai

Government for years.

ZHANG Ming Zhi, 56
Manager of Investment and Finance Department of the Group. Ms.

, is the Vice President and the General

Zhang graduated from East China Normal University in Mathematics
and obtained a Master degree of Business Administration (MBA)
from AIOU-Asia International Open University (MACAU). Ms. Zhang
has over 15 years of experience in the finance industry and project
investment and management in the PRC. She was the director for
one of first approved fund management corporations, the director
and chairman appointed by several project companies and the
general manager of the assets trust department of a PRC trust and

investment company.
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MAO Yong Jun, 37, is the Assistant President of the Group. Mr.
Mao obtains a Bachelor degree in Engineering from Shanghai
Engineering and Technology University. Mr. Mao also obtains a
Master degree in Business Administration from Fudan University. Mr.
Mao has about ten years of working and management experiences
gained from internationalized real estate companies. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Mao was the business development manager of
Hutchison Whampoa (Shanghai) Company Limited and senior
business development manager of Frasers Property (China) Limited.

QU Biao, Frank, 49, is the General Manager of Hotel Investment
Management Center of the Group. Mr. Qu graduated from Shanghai
Institute of Tourism (Currently renamed as Shanghai Normal
University) and attended Hotel Executive Education Program in
Cornell University (U.S.A.). Mr. Qu has over 20 years of experience
with Starwood, Inter-Continental and Four Seasons hotel groups.
Mr. Qu was the deputy general manager of Four Seasons Hotel,
Shanghai, and has extensive experiences in hotel investment and
development and operations.

LElI Yu, Rain, 38, is the Legal Director of the Group. Mr. Lei
graduated from Fudan University with a Bachelor degree in Law and
a Master degree in Public Administration. Mr. Lei is a qualified lawyer
in the PRC and has over 12 years of working experience on real
estate development, construction and trading, structural design of
real estate project, mergers, acquisitions and reorganization, project
financing, contract negotiation and corporate legal management.

LIU Xin Rong, 39, is the General Manager of Human Resources
Management Center and Internal Audit Director of the Group. Ms.
Liu graduated from Wuhan University of Technology and majored
in Industrial Enterprise Management, obtained a Master degree in
Business Administration from Fudan University and is a qualified
accountant in the PRC. Ms. Liu has over 19 years of experience in
financial management, development and corporate management in
the property industry. Since joining the Group in 1999, Ms. Liu was
the group financial controller, executive deputy general manager of
various major operating subsidiaries of the Group.

EXE /- EEEBHEAH - ERE
FALBIRRWMAREIMNEBLEMN &
SEEBEXREERERIBMERBR L2 -
Tf’&ﬁi’ﬂﬁL@IBZ’%{t}%i‘@%QﬁﬁE%&ﬁ
FRBoMBAREBAT - FEEGERE
%Duiaiﬁt/iﬁﬁi"T%ﬂ‘&%)ﬂi« 2
MAREBARSRAEESHS -

B A% TSEBEEERLBLRE-
BEEEERLERESSERNBERK
EFERRR LEMBKRE) THREBER
ERAZOEERSRETREEERRE
BEEGCRBEELTERBRESEEESE
MEEE NEEESHETHEEE =+
ZEBEET EBENEREAKLE

EELEMAEER AENERLR -

BN 8 TEBEEIHEERLBEE-
ELXERBRBERBREBEEBE2LBNNE
BEBELEMN -FAERTHRAEKEM
FEHWERE Z2RXNMXS5 EHEHEE
WZEERT WEFMMER BERE -
ERAAURRBZEEBEER H EE
@+ ZFHIELR-

BMAE 39 TEBMANBERFPLAKL
BRABEHBE BT 2ERRETLE
RETECERKEERZE EEBKRE
IHEEBTEN FETPBEEME
BCERMENBEER BE AFEE
FHAETAFNEERELR B+ A
—AANEMAREBUR FEEEEH
BHE SEBETEZREITELETFRAR
% Bl 4 K38 o



BEEBEBERARAIA —T-TFFH I

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EEZENMNEAEEEBAEEBN

FAN Chun Fai, Francis, 63, is the Cost Director of City Community
Business Division and the Cost Director of the Operational
Management Center of the Group, who received his Bachelor
degree of Science in Civil Engineering from Houng Kong College of
Taiwan. Mr. Fan, presently a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, the
Association of Cost Engineers and the Chartered Institution of
Civil Engineering Surveyors. Mr. Fan has more than 30 years of
extensive experience in quantities surveying services and cost control
management in Hong Kong, China and Australia.

YOU De Feng, 35, is the Group Financial Controller. Mr. You
graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and
majored in Business Administration. He is a member of the Institute
of Financial Accountants, United Kingdom. Mr. You is a qualified
accountant of the PRC. He has over 10 years of experience in the real
estate and construction industry, accumulating extensive experience
of financial management in the industry. Since joining the Group in
2001, Mr. You was the finance manager and finance director of the
major operating subsidiaries of the Group.

CHEN lJie, 36, is the General Manager of Business Development and
Management Center of the Group. Ms. Chen graduated from the
Faculty of Arts of Shanghai University, majoring in Chinese Secretarial
Studies. She was the assistant to the chairman of the board of the
Group and deputy general manager of the Business Development
and Management Center. She has over 11 years of experience in
preliminary development, investment and project positioning in the
real estate industry.

ZHANG Ming, 42, is the General Manager of Operational
Management Center of the Group. Mr. Zhang has more than
18 years of experience of property development management in
mainland China and overseas and real estate investment funds. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang was the assistant to the chairman
and the vice president of Coastal Corporation and Coastal Property,
and the assistant to the chairman of Olympia & York Developments
Ltd. Mr. Zhang graduated from Dalhousie University in Canada with
a Bachelor degree in Architectural Design and a Master degree in
Corporate Finance.
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CHEN Yi Jun, Tony, 35, is the Director of Commercial Property
Management Center of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Chen was the assistant to president of Shanghai Kinghill Limited
(SuperBrand Mall) and the vice president of lease department and
business development department of Chia Tai Commercial Real
Estate Co., Ltd. Before that, he served as the consultant of the
Business Consulting department of Arthur Andersen Company and
conducted research mainly on the retail and financial investment
sectors. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor degree in Foreign Economic Law
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University.

GE Hao Long, 38, is the General Manager of Shanghai SPG
Property Services Co., Ltd. Mr. Ge has over 12 years of experience
in property management and operation. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Ge worked as the person-in-charge of functional division
and key projects of China Vanke, the deputy general manager of
Shenzhen Poly Property, the executive director and general manager
of Hanzens. Mr. Ge graduated from Hebei Institute of Finance
and Economics, and is currently a standing member of Shenzhen
Property Management Association, a visiting professor of Shenzhen
Real Estate and Property Management Advanced Training College
and one of the members of the expert assessment committee of
qualification training for property management project managers of
Shenzhen, Guangdong province of the PRC.

GAO Yu Di, 58, is the Executive Director and Education Director
of Sipo Polytechnic. Ms. Gao graduated from East China Normal
University, majoring in Chinese. She has over 30 years of experience
in education and was chief editor of education materials for
secondary schools in Shanghai. She held positions from teacher to
vice-principal of one of the famous high schools in Shanghai. She
was nominated as “Shanghai Top-Level Teacher”.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their annual
report together with the audited consolidated accounts of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in property development, property and hotel
investment, property management and education.

An analysis of the Group’s sales and operating results for the year by
principal activities is set out in note 6 to the consolidated accounts.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors believe that the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 2.9% of the Group's sales in the year while the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for about 23% of the
Group's purchases in the year.

Save for the association with certain related companies as set out
in Note 46 to the consolidated accounts, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
has a beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are
set out on page 121.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB
6.5 cents per share, totalling approximately RMB68,390,000.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on 2
June 2011. A notice convening the annual general meeting will be
published and dispatched to the shareholders of the Company in the
manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 31 May 2011 to Thursday, 2 June 2011, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to determine who are entitled to the proposed final dividend and to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
2 June 2011, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 30 May 2011.

Subject to shareholders’ approval of the proposed final dividend at
the annual general meeting to be held on Thursday, 2 June 2011,
dividend warrants will be dispatched on Friday, 10 June 2011 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on Thursday, 2 June 2011.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets during the year are set out
in note 19 to the consolidated accounts.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Borrowings repayable on demand or within one year are classified
under current liabilities. Details of the long-term borrowings are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated accounts. Interest and other
borrowing costs capitalised by the Group during the year are set out
in note 13 to the consolidated accounts.
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MOVEMENTS OF SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital during the year are set
out in note 40 to the consolidated accounts.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves during the year are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated accounts.

As at 31 December 2010, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was
RMB2,531,644,000 (2009: RMB2,386,175,000).

DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB9,243,000 (2009: RMB200,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on pages 238
to 240.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. WANG Weixian (Chairman)

Mr. TSE Sai Tung, Stones (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. WANG Xuling
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (Continued)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. LAl Kin, Jerome
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
Mr. FONG Wo, Felix, JP

Mr. JIANG Simon X.

Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one third
of the Directors retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
Mr. JIJANG Simon X., Mr. KWAN Kai Cheong and FONG Wo, Felix, JP
are due to retire from the Board at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Being eligible, they offer themselves for re-election.

None of the retiring Directors has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS'’
CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received independence confirmation from each of
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

In order to eliminate Directors’ interests in business competing with
the Group, on 19 September 2006, Mr. Wang Weixian entered into
a deed of non-competition with the Company (the “Deed”).

In accordance with the terms of the Deed, Mr. Wang Weixian has
provided the Company with an annual confirmation that he and his
associates (other than the Group) have complied with the terms of
the Deed.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the matters relating to the compliance and enforcement
of the Deed by Mr. Wang Weixian and his associates (other than the
Group) and confirmed that Mr. Wang Weixian and his associates
(other than the Group) have complied with the Deed.

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors of the Company
is considered to have interests in businesses which compete or are
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Bank of East Asia (China) Limited, Shanghai Branch, granted a RMB
facility of up to RMB600,000,000 to a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company established in the PRC on 20 May 2010. In addition, on
6 July 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated
in Hong Kong (as borrower) has entered into a term loan facility
agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with The Bank of East Asia,
Limited (the “Bank”). The Facility Agreement relates to the provision
of a term loan facility of up to HKD500,000,000 (the “Facility”).
The Facility has a repayment term of three years from the date of
the Facility Agreement. The purpose of the Facility is to provide
capital for the borrower to finance its investment(s), including but
not limited to the acquisition of land in the PRC. The Company has
agreed to provide an unconditional and irrevocable guarantee to the
Bank in respect of the repayment obligations of the borrower under
the Facility Agreement (the “Guarantee”).
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
(Continued)

Pursuant to the Guarantee, Mr. Wang Weixian, David, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, shall continue to maintain more than
50% beneficial shareholding interest in the Company and maintain
management control over the Company.

A failure to comply with the aforesaid obligation will constitute an
event of default under the Facility Agreement. However no event of
default will occur if the failure to comply is capable of remedy and is
remedied within 15 business days (or such longer period as the Bank
may approve) of the earlier of the Bank giving notice to the borrower
or the borrower becoming aware of the failure to comply. If an event
of default occurs, the Facility together with accrued interest, and all
other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Facility Agreement
may become immediately due and payable.

SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme

On 19 September 2006, the Company adopted a share option

scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”).

A summary of the Share Option Scheme is set out below:

1.  Purpose of the Share Option Scheme:
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognize and
acknowledge the contributions of the participants to the
growth of the Group by granting options to them as incentives
or rewards.

2.  Participants of the Share Option Scheme:
The Board may, in its discretion, offer to grant options
to subscribe for such number of shares as the Board may
determine to the following participants:
(i)  any executive and employee of the Group; or
(i) any director (including non-executive directors and

independent non-executive directors) of the Group; or

(iii)  any consultant, adviser and/or agent of the Group.
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) B B e (&)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme and % of issued share capital at 7
March 2011:

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in
aggregate exceed 103,750,000 shares (approximately 9.87%
of issued share capital).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Share Option Scheme:

The maximum entitlement for each participant is that the total
number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue. Any grant of
further options above this limit shall be subject to certain
requirements as stipulated in the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option:

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, options may
be exercised by a participant, in whole or in part, at any time
during the period commencing from the date of grant and
expiring at 5:00 p.m. on the business day (i) preceding the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant or (ii) preceding the expiry of
the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the earlier.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

No option may be exercised until the expiry of 12 months
after the date of grant. A grantee may be required to achieve
such performance targets as determined by the Board before
any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be

exercised.
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The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made, or loans for such purposes must be
paid:

Nil

The basis of determining the exercise price:

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine,
save that such price shall at least be the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is
open for the business of dealing in securities (“Business
Day”); and

(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five Business Days immediately preceding the date of
offer,

or (where applicable) such price as from time to time adjusted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

9.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme:

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of

5 years commencing on 19 September 2006 and will expire at

5:00 p.m. on the Business Day preceding the fifth anniversary

thereof.

Details of the share options granted to employees of the

Group pursuant to the Share Option Scheme which remained

outstanding as at 31 December 2010 are as follows:
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Notes:

2.

(a)

The options shall vest in tranches in the following manner

on the following dates of vesting:

(i) 30% of the options shall vest on 10 October 2007
(the “First Option Tranche”);

(i) 30% of the options shall vest on 10 October 2008
(the “Second Option Tranche”); and

(iii)  40% of the options shall vest on 10 October 2009
(the “Third Option Tranche” and, together with
the “Second Option Tranche”, the “Succeeding

Tranches”).

The Board may at its absolute discretion adjust the
percentage of the options to be vested in the Succeeding
Tranches either upwards or downwards based on the
option holder’s performance in the year immediately
preceding the vesting of the options in the relevant
Succeeding Tranches as determined by the Board except
that such adjustment shall not affect the vesting of the

options in the First Option Tranche.

The options may be exercised at an option price of
HK$6.146 per share (after adjustment for the Bonus Issue)
during the period commencing from 10 October 2007 and
expiring at 5:00 p.m. on the Business Day immediately
preceding 10 October 2012 except that no option shall
be exercised until the expiry of 12 months after the

respective dates of vesting.

As a result of the issue of bonus shares on 20 May 2010 (the

“Bonus Issue”), adjustments were made to the exercise price

and number of shares to be allotted and issued upon exercise of

these options.

B R (E)

GEX

(a)

(b)

(0

BRERESNTIRE R H MU
THIADHEE -

(i) 30%MEREBR 2T
T+tE+A+HEREEB(E
BB AR ED)

(i) 30%MBHRESZSN-Z
TZNF+A+ERB(E
“HERED &

(i) 40%MEEBREHN -F
ZENFETATEGEBIE
“HBREIRERIE
—HBEkE BRI
EEHD-

ExeURBERESAEAR
FHRERHEBERESEER
Ml —FRAmRE(HEESE
RE) Z2REBERLEET
HERBRRESIERE
MBS EEHRABTIBE
EEHBRENGS -

R RE Tz BB A RE B B 6146
BT (E AR BEITELBE)
BT tLtF+ A+ A&
FEBRE_ZT-——_F+A+H
AMEZ2ZERTFREBIERRM
ZHBATE EBRETE
REBEHEARBRTHNI2E
B AT AT -

HR-ZE-—ZTFAA -+ HBTL
Bl (AL T CHZEBER
BETERERRBETORMDOT
EERBBELHE-



BEEBE(

ER)ERAE —T-TFFR

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
B

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3. (a)

(b)

(d)

The first tranche of the option entitling the option holder
to subscribe for 3,000,000 shares (the “First Tranche")
shall vest on the date of grant at the option price of
HK$4.478 per share (after adjustment for the Bonus

Issue).

The second tranche of the option entitling the option
holder to subscribe for 3,000,000 shares (the “Second
Tranche”) shall vest at the option price of HK$7.805 per
share (after adjustment for the Bonus Issue) before the
first anniversary of the date of grant for the First Tranche
as and when the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the past 10 consecutive Business Days
immediately preceding the date is higher than HK$8.00

(subject to adjustment, if any).

The third tranche of the option entitling the option holder
to subscribe for 3,000,000 shares (the “Third Tranche”)
shall vest at the option price of HK$11.707 per share
(after adjustment for the Bonus Issue) before the second
anniversary of the date of grant for the First Tranche as
and when the average of the closing prices of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the past 10 consecutive Business Days immediately
preceding the date is higher than HK$12.00 (subject to

adjustment, if any).

The options may be exercised by the option holder,
in whole or in part, at any time during the period
commencing from the date of grant and ending at 5:00
p.m. on the Business Day immediately preceding 30
October 2014. However, no options vested in the First
Tranche, Second Tranche and Third Tranche can be
exercised until after the expiry of 12 months from the
respective dates of vesting in accordance with (a), (b) and

(c) above.

4. Save as disclosed above, no option granted under the Share

Option Scheme was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2010.
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 19 September 2006, the Company also approved and adopted a
share option scheme entitling the Board of Directors to grant share
options at its discretion before the listing of the shares (the “Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme”). A summary of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is set out below:

1.  Purpose of the Pre-IPO Scheme:

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to recognize
and acknowledge the contributions of the participants to the
growth of the Group and/or the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange by granting options to them as
incentives or rewards.

2.  Participants of the Pre-IPO Scheme:

The Board may, in its discretion, offer to grant options to
subscribe for such number of shares as the Board may determine
to any executive, director and/or employee of the Group who
is in full-time employment of the Group at the time when an
option is granted.

3. Total number of shares available for issue under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and % of issued shared capital
at 7 March 2011:

18,540,000 shares being the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme have been fully granted. Such shares
represented approximately 1.76% of the issued share capital.
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4,

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme:

There is no restriction on the number of shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each participant in any 12-month period.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option:

Subject to the rules of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, an
option may be exercised by a participant, in whole or in part,
at any time during the period commencing from the date of
grant and ending on such date as the Board may determine
in granting the option but in any event not exceeding 5 years
from 19 September 2006 being the date of grant of the
option.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

No option may be exercised until the expiry of 12 months after
the date of vesting (provided that 25% of the options which
was vested on the date of grant shall not be exercisable within
12 months from the Listing Date). A grantee may be required
to achieve such performance targets as determined by the
Board before any options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme can be exercised.

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made, or loans for such purposes must be
paid:

Nil
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8.

The basis of determining the exercise price:

)

(if)

25% of the options shall vest on the date of grant at a
price of HK$3.824 (prior to the adjustment for the Bonus
Issue) representing 80% of HK$4.78 being the price of
the Company’s shares offered under the Prospectus (the
“Offer Price”). After adjustment for the Bonus Issue, the
exercise price is HK$3.731; and

25% of the options shall vest on each of the first, second
and third anniversary of the date of grant at a price of
HK$4.302 (prior to the adjustment for the Bonus Issue)
representing 90% of the Offer Price. After adjustment
for the Bonus Issue, the exercise price is HK$4.197.
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

9.

The remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 9.

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was valid and effective for
the period commencing on 19 September 2006 and expired on
9 October 2006.

Details of the share options granted on 19 September 2006
pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme which remained
outstanding as at 31 December 2010 are as follows:

Options
outstanding

as at
Date of Grant 1 January 2010

Bk GR)

BERLOHABRABRETSNGT
F 1

B R D B IR B NG AR E B o0 B R
HE-TEAFAATABMS E
—EERFTANBEMS-
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FEAFAATABEL T
T+ A=+t—AH%
{60 B8 BB AE A T ¢

B

a3
|l
Al

Options lapsed Options
during the  outstanding
Adjustment year ended as at
forthe 31 December 31 December
Bonus Issue 2010 2010
REZE
—2-BF
+=B=+-H
AR LEFER
BRITELHRAR  RBNBRE

Director 5%
Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome ~ BfE% 4 19 September 2006 3,750,000 93,750 - 3,843,750
ZEERFAATNA
Employees B8 19 September 2006 6,280,000 157,000 656,000 5,781,000
ZTEERFAATNA
10,030,000 250,750 656,000 9,624,750
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Notes:

Pursuant to the rules of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
25% of the options shall vest on the date of grant (the “First
Tranche”) at an option price of HK$3.731 per share (after
adjustment for the Bonus Issue). 25% of the options shall vest
on each of the first, second and third anniversary of the date
of grant (the “Subsequent Tranches”) at an option price of
HK$4.197 per share (after adjustment for the Bonus Issue). The
Board may at its absolute discretion adjust the percentage of the
options to be vested in the Subsequent Tranches either upwards
or downwards based on the performance of the option holder in
the year immediately preceding the vesting of the options in the
relevant Subsequent Tranches as determined by the Board except
that such adjustment shall not affect the vesting of options in
the First Tranche.

Pursuant to the rules of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
options may be exercised by a participant, in whole or in part,
at any time during the period commencing from the date of
grant and ending on such date as the Board may determine in
granting the option but in any event not exceeding 5 years from
19 September 2006 being the date of grant of the options. No
option may be exercised until after the expiry of 12 months
after the vesting date (provided that an option vested in the
First Tranche shall not be exercisable within 12 months from the

Listing Date).

Save as disclosed above, no option granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2010.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES EENESHNESR

As at 31 December 2010, the interests of each Director and chief RZE—ZF+-_A=+—HB A2A%
executive of the Company in the equity or debt securities of the EERITHBEHEN AR F KM EBE
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of the BE(TERBALBEENTES RS i"j
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required BB B B 5 B (a) B IR B

to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant EKHEEG EXNVEFIR F8D 38 412 A
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and NIRRT ER(BERIEES R
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such BN BEEERESTHEIERBIERE
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 BREREER) bR EEF & 5
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) 16 15 28 352 1& 78 52 8% 7R 5% 16k B Pt & &2 i
were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the MEDS RQOBRBEEZETFIMBNE K

Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows: NA B ERAT:
(i) Long position in shares of the Company: (i) REQ2ARGOGHEE:
Number of Approximate
shares (Note 1) percentage of
Name of Director Capacity and nature of interest B0 EE shareholding
EEEW SO RERME (M a£1) HREMABGHL
Mr. Wang Weixian Interest of controlled corporation 642,252,138 61.10
FTEELE (Note 2)
z ) A~ B R (R 2)
Beneflaary of discretionary trust 110,512,493 10.51
(Note 3)
MiEfETEXm AME3)
Mr. Tse Sai Tung, Stones Interest of controlled corporation 11,531,119 1.10
SR LA (Note 4)
X A R R (P R4
Ms. Wang Xuling Interest of controlled corporation 10,250,448 0.98
THREL L (Note 5)
XAE SN A R (M ES)
Beneficiary of discretionary trust 110,512,493 10.51
(Note 3)

s EEEE A3




110 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2010

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

W

R &

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(Continued)

(i) Long position in shares of the Company:
(Continued)

Notes:

(M

)

3)

The number of shares in which the Directors were interested

includes the bonus shares issued on 20 May 2010.

Mr. Wang Weixian is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
752,764,631 shares which are held by SPG Investment Holdings
Ltd., Brilliant Bright Investment Limited and Prestige Glory

Enterprises Limited, respectively.

(a) 506,741,640 shares are held by SPG Investment Holdings
Ltd. which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SPG Asset
Management Limited. The entire issued share capital of
SPG Asset Management Limited is in turn beneficially

owned by Mr. Wang Weixian.

(b) 135,510,498 shares are held by Prestige Glory Enterprises
Limited which is entirely beneficially owned by Mr. Wang

Weixian.

Each of Mr. Wang Weixian and Ms. Wang Xuling is deemed to
be interested in 110,512,493 shares, which are held by Brilliant
Bright Investment Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary
trust of which family members of Mr. Wang Weixian including
Mr. Wang Weixian and Ms. Wang Xuling are discretionary

objects.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(Continued)

(i) Long position in shares of the Company:
(Continued)

Notes:

(4) Mr. Tse Sai Tung, Stones is deemed to be interested in
11,531,119 shares, which are held by Easternflair Investment
Limited which is in turn entirely beneficially owned by Mr. Tse

Sai Tung, Stones.

(5) Ms. Wang Xuling is deemed to be interested in 10,250,448
shares, which are held by Boom Rich Investments Limited which

is in turn entirely beneficially owned by Ms. Wang Xuling.

(ii) Long position in underlying shares of the
Company:

Capacity and
nature of interest

B RESRNEE

Name of Director

EE=EH

Beneficial owner

BERmBBEA

Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome

R E

Notes:

(1) These share options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme. A summary of the terms of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and details of the share options granted
thereunder are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Options”

in this report.

(2)  The number of underlying shares in respect of share options
granted to Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome has been adjusted from 3,750,000
shares to 3,843,750 shares following the Bonus Issue on 20 May
2010.

Description of

equity derivatives
IRFESTE T BB

share option (Notes)

mhcE (M)

EERNEZNREREE)

() RE2IBRHBGVRE: (F)

B 3 -

(4 MERELFERBEHF531,119
Bz e ZERMD A S
Rk AT EE D #E B WEasternflair
Investment Limited FT 45 & °

(5 ETRELLHERBEF0,250448
RO EZ LA ROHBE TR
#Z + 5% % & %= % A #Boom Rich
Investments Limited # A& ©

(i) REXADEBEAROHRE:

Number of
underlying shares

HERHBE

3,843,750

CEE

(1) ZEBREEZHRERLAFABRIE
BEFEREL -BR2FEBRAE
P HE BT B0 1R B R0 B B AN R Ut PR R
HE BN FE SN AN REE
Petg) —BLe

) MBREREERDOBERES ROHE
ERHBEBEER=-_Z—TFAA
—+ H®A AR 1T & - $13,750,000
A% P& {5 # % 23,843,750 % BR 15 ©
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company and their respective
associates had any personal, family, corporate or other interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or any of their spouses or children under 18
years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and no Directors or chief executives or their respective spouses
or children under 18 years of age had been granted any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor exercised
any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors”

Interests in Securities” above, as at 31 December 2010, according to

the register of interests kept by the Company under section 336 of

the SFO, the following entities had interests or short positions in the

shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of shareholder

REREH

SPG Investment Holdings Ltd.

SPG Asset Management Limited

Brilliant Bright Investment Limited

Prestige Glory Enterprises Limited

HSBC International Trustee Limited

Capacity and
nature of interest

B KkESEEE

Beneficial owner (Note 2)

BEDER AE2)

Interest of controlled corporation
(Note 2)
PSR A R (M E2)

Beneficial owner

BHmBEE A

Beneficial owner (Note 2)

BEnERAME2)

Trustee (Note 3)
255 A (M 5E3)

FERR

i

BREXIEERESFWER] —AMRE
MEHEN R—FE-TF+-_A=1+—8"
REBEBADRBRERE S LB E K F3361%K
ARENHEZBZLMALE THEEBR
ARRBEHPHEEREZE S RHAE KLY
EXVREFE2R E3N B EMR A R A EEDH

Approximate

percentage of

Number of shares

(Note 1) shareholding
R&GHE
(ffaE1) FREHBLBEIL
506,741,640 48.21
506,741,640 48.21
110,512,493 10.51
135,510,498 12.89
110,512,493 10.51
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Note 1: The number of shares in which the substantial shareholders were

interested includes the bonus shares issued on 20 May 2010.

Note 2: 506,741,640 shares are held by SPG Investment Holdings Ltd. which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SPG Asset Management Limited.
SPG Asset Management Limited is deemed to be interested in
506,741,640 shares under the SFO. Mr. Wang Weixian is a director
of SPG Investment Holdings Ltd., SPG Asset Management Limited and

Prestige Glory Enterprises Limited.

Note 3: These shares are held by Brilliant Bright Investment Limited which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC International Trustee Limited as a
trustee of a discretionary trust of which family members of Mr. Wang

Weixian including himself are discretionary objects

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 19 July 2010, Mausica Investment Limited (the “Seller”), SPG
Investment XII (BVI) Limited (the “Purchaser”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the Company entered into the share
purchase agreement pursuant to which the Seller has agreed to sell
and transfer, and the Purchaser has agreed to purchase, accept the
transfer of, and pay for, the 29 shares of US$1.00 each representing
29% of the entire issued share capital of SPG Investment XI (BVI)
Limited (“SPG XI") at the consideration of RMB425 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$488 million) (the “Transaction”).

The resolution in respect of the Transaction has been approved
by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 16 August 2010. Upon completion, the Purchaser
owns the entire issued share capital of SPG XI and SPG XlI becomes
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (Continued)

As at 19 July 2010, the Seller holds 29% of the entire issued
share capital of SPG XI. Accordingly, the Seller, being a substantial
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company, was a connected
person of the Company and the Transaction constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the Remuneration Committee which takes into account individual
performance, qualifications and competence.

The remuneration of the Executive Directors of the Company are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics. The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors
(including the Independent Non-executive Directors) of the Company

are recommended by the Remuneration Committee.

The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme to provide incentive
to the directors and eligible employees of the Group, details of the
said schemes are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Options”

above.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company redeemed
its outstanding US dollar settled zero coupon convertible bonds
due 2012 in an aggregate principal amount of RMB817,700,000 in
April 2010 and of RMB71,900,000 in October 2010 (“Outstanding
Bonds”) at the early redemption amount of RMB106,942.72 and
RMB108,148.82 respectively per Outstanding Bond (”“Redemption”).
The bonds were issued at the principal amount of RMB100,000
each and were listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The aggregate consideration (excluding expenses)
for the Redemption amounted to USD128,103,162.98 and
UsD11,647,395.04 respectively. Upon the Redemption, all the
Outstanding Bonds were cancelled.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist in the Cayman Islands being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for dealings in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific enquiry by the
Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2010.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

R

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS EEEREH

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules, the changes in BIEETREFEIB5IB)E KRR EEFE
information of Directors subsequent to the date of the 2009 Annual e 2T W FEFH A 8L FE75

Report are set out below:

Name of Director

EEfR

0

Details of Changes

BE

Tse Sai Tung, Stones

IR

Wang Xuling
FHZE

Cheong Ying Chew,
Henry
R 5 E

Fong Wo, Felix, JP
Jiang Simon X.
Kwan Kai Cheong
77K e+

% /N R

R e=

Monthly remuneration was increased to HKD380,000 with effect from 1 January
2010.
BRAFME —_T—FF — A — B I £380,000% T °

Monthly remuneration was increased to HKD280,000 with effect from 1 January
2010.
BAFME T —ZTF— 7 — H L HNZE280,000% 7T

New service agreement with the Company commenced from 10 July 2010.

HAQRRZHBRBEHBER_-_Z-—ZFLATHEEBER:

Annual director’s fee was increased to HKD303,600 with effect from 1 January 2010
and will remain in effect until otherwise determined in general meeting.
BENESESH N _T - ZTF-A -—HBRIEME303608T B —EF
M EBEERRRESBERERIE-

Appointed as an independent non-executive director of Creative Energy Solutions
Holdings Limited (listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange) on
29 July 2010.

RIE-—ZFLA T NAEREZERBIHERAER 2 AR5 XA E %
R EMBBIFERITESE

Appointed as an independent non-executive director of BTS Group Holdings Public
Company Limited (listed on the Thailand Stock Exchange) on 29 July 2010.
RZZ—FF £ A=+ 7 HEEZEE ABTS Group Holdings Public Company
Limited (R ZEFEHF XSG EMNBULIERAITES -

Annual director’s free was increased to HKD303,600 with effect from 1 January 2010
and will remain in effect until otherwise determined in general meeting.
BFENEFHERN _ZT-—ZF-A - BREME30360ET EH—EF
M EBEERRRESBERERIL-

17
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

O

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’'s audit committee is composed of all the four
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The audit
committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the
audited consolidated accounts for the year ended 31 December
2010.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Directors confirm
that the Company has maintained throughout the year of 2010 the
amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated accounts for the year have been audited by KPMG.
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s
auditors for the ensuing year is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
WANG Weixian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2011
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS
A% S e

N

Independent auditors’ report to the shareholders of
SPG Land (Holdings) Limited
(Incoporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SPG Land
(Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 121 to 237,
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet of the Group and
the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2010, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of the report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS
A% S ¥

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2010 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

7 March 2011
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BEEHERERDIA

~EFEER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A o 4 A R

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE T —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

2010
—E—2F
Note RMB’000
Bt 5 AR T
Revenue W &= 8 4,271,189
Cost of sales i & pk A& (3,003,983)
Gross profit E F 1,267,206
Other income H oAb g A 9 3,423
Selling and marketing costs iH B K& TS R K AR (150,186)
Administrative expenses THEHR (260,446)
Other operating expenses Hi&E R 10 (24,005)
Net gain on acquisition of a jointly kB HERESNEED
controlled entity g 25 5 58 7 149,911
Net gain on repurchase of convertible bonds & [@ A] & # (& 5 ~
Wz % 8 37 17,248
Results from operating activities R EKEEE KRR 1,003,151
Finance income R E U A 107,851
Finance expenses Bl & KA (61,982)
Fair value changes on financial derivatives MESMIAN A AEE
B ) 37 (20,123)
Net finance income/(expenses) BEWA(RAX)FE 13 25,746
Share of profits of associates & 1k B & X R s A 26 281,792
Share of losses of jointly controlled entity iR HERESERERE 27 (20,008)
Profit before revaluation gains on AAREVEEFRER
investment properties and income tax FrEHAERN 1,290,681
Revaluation gains on investment properties & & ¥ % & {f W 2= 23 229,203
Profit before income tax R A 18 B A0 = F 1,519,884
Income tax expense FEMAX 14 (618,278)
Total comprehensive income for theyear % E 2 H W A 4 58 901,606
Total comprehensive income UMTATESZE®BA
attributable to: FL-
Equity holders of the Company AARKREEA A 890,206
Minority interests DB O & 11,400
Total comprehensive income fortheyear FE 2 H W A 4 %8 901,606
Earnings per share BSRER
Basic earnings per share (RMB) EERBFNARE T 18
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) FREBEEREFNAREIT 18

*  'Earnings per share’ has been restated for the impact of the bonus issue as *

explained in note 18.

The notes on pages 128 to 237 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company attributable

to the profit for the year are set out in note 17.

3,065,441
(2,151,003)

914,438

5,020
(116,507)
(154,183)

(4,994)

49,394

693,168

16,914
(86,771)

50,263

(19,594)

1,257,473
(427,726)

829,747

678,520
151,227

829,747

0.644+

0.524+

[FRAF]EFM IS BENAREITH
FEEHED -

%’128 WEZHWEDDZEYHHRROA
BREB D gt A FE & FENRRQ R RERS
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
AR ERERMNAFEERMAR

As at 31 December 2010
R-F-FF+-_A=4+—8

Trade, other receivables and

JE U BR 3R E A R WK

Group Company
i 4| b N
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-ZF ShE ZE-EF NF
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETRI AR®TR ARETRT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ ¥ - B E & & & 904,068 236,144
Intangible assets BVEE 1,610 1,655
Land use rights + o b A A 81,732 74,192
Other investments HtigE 13,032 13,032
Properties under development 2 & /) % 3,600,904 4,235,962
Investment properties wEME 1,948,000 1,640,500
Interests in associates /NI 1,263,247 989,822
Interests in a jointly controlled R R HI T EER
entity 738,468 -
Investment in subsidiaries FREEE - 3,935,092
Long-term receivable K H B 814,186 -
Financial derivatives MTEEBMIA 625 51,491 51,491
Deferred tax assets ERERBEE 287,139 212,969 -
Total non-current assets kA BEELSE 9,653,011 7,455,767 3,986,583
Properties under development 2 & & ¥ % 4,921,467 2,963,347
Completed properties held BEREKGFEME
for sale 505,220 235,635
Other investments Hih & & 16,115 1,228

advance deposits RIEMIZ S 3,270,269 864,878
Long-term receivable within —FRIEBEHRES

one year & Uz 3% 125,486 -
Restricted cash XB RS 1,985,536 2,408,748
Cash and cash equivalents HEeNIHREEEY 1,514,439 3,038,945
Total current assets RBEELAE 12,338,532 9,512,781 591,486
Total assets EERE 21,991,543 16,968,548 4,526,578 4,339,237
Equity ]
Share capital B% A 106,591 104,347 106,591 104,347
Share premium % 1 % & 2,069,086 2,071,330 2,069,086 2,071,330
Reserves #iE 743,255 721,498 355,209 449,932
Retained earnings 1R85 F 1,499,732 865,426 152,888 5,175
Total equity attributableto A AT REFE AL

equity holders EmEE

of the Company 4,418,664 3,762,601 2,683,774 2,630,784
Minority interests LHBRRES 108,254 343,924
Total equity e 4,526,918 4,106,525 2,683,774 2,630,784

F1282237BE 2 MEZEMBERENMA
AXEB 5 o

The notes on pages 128 to 237 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

maEEAEEMAREE R FEE

As at 31 December 2010
R-ZE-—FF+-_HA=+—H

Group
&
2010 2009

—g-%F -TINF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
i AR®TR ARETR

Liabilities =R
Interest-bearing loans FEER 34 1,534,694 2,135,747
Trade, other payables and FE T BR B E i E N X

advance receipts B T8 W E 35 10,162,183 5,592,876
Tax payable JE < % 18 33() 879,931 566,663
Long-term payable within —FRNIHHRAE

one year 3 36 6,000 6,000
Total current liabilities REBEEHEE 12,582,808 8,301,286
Interest-bearing loans FREX 34 4,347,386 3,151,292
Long-term payable & HIJE 1 3% 36 42,738 45,301
Convertible bonds Al & 37 - 902,642
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHBEE 33(iii) 491,693 461,502
Total non-current liabilities R B & E 2% 4,881,817 4,560,737
Total liabilities EERE 17,464,625 12,862,023
Total equity and liabilities B R & & & 5 21,991,543 16,968,548
Net current (liabilities)/assets F B (B &) /B E Z 8 (244,276) 1,211,495

Total assets less current BEERRBEE
liabilities 9,408,735 8,667,262

Company
YN
2010 2009
—2-%F _—TThF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT ARBTTR

890,575 805,811

890,575 805,811

952,229 -
= 902,642

952,229 902,642

1,842,804 1,708,453

4,526,578 4,339,237

(299,089) (453,157)

3,636,003 3,533,426

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 March RZE——F=ZA+tHEESERH ALK
2011, RETI B o

Wang Weixian Tse Sai Tung, Stones

TEE it R

Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer

EEFEFE 77 I 48 &

The notes on pages 128 to 237 form part of these financial statements. F128E237BE 2 MFEDZEV B HREOA

X &R 2 o
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IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

22 I\ 2> Bl i%
wh = ﬁ ﬁ {}lh H
For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-F—FF+ A=+ —HAIFE

2010 2009
—E—-FfF ZETNRF
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt 5 AR T AR F T

Operating activities ReEXK
Profit for the year N FE & 901,606 829,747
Adjustments for: FHEIEAB
Depreciation e 19 26,213 25,516
Amortisation of intangible asset 4 E 20 45 45
Amortisation of land use rights -+ b {5 AR N 21 1,739 1,772
Change in fair value of investment properties & & ¥ ¥ A 7 {8 {8 2k & 23 (229,203) (517,254)
Net finance (income)/expenses BAE (W AN E £ 13 (25,746) 19,594
Share of net profits of associates and FE AL B & A B K 2k A I

jointly controlled entity BERAN (261,784) (66,645)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and REWE BME MK

equipment &8 6,691 168
Net gain on acquisition of a jointly WHEARZEHER Y ke

controlled entity F FR 7 (149,911) -
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses % # &£ E W R D = B 11 3,899 6,467
Net gain on repurchase of convertible bonds 8 [a] A] & # (& 2% 7 U 35

e} 37 (17,248) (49,394)

Income tax expenses FTig 85 X 14 618,278 427,726
Operating profit before changes in EEESEDHAMN

working capital Feg— il 874,579 677,742
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SR 61 R & 0w (8 m) 423,212 (1,868,977)
(Increase)/decrease in trade, other receivables J& Ut Bk 2« E fib fE Ug 2 18

and advance deposits N FE A% & (g,

W (2,547,187) 710,918

Increase in properties under development EEPMEREEK

and completed properties held for sale FEWMEREM (1,980,211) (1,568,538)
Increase in trade, other payables and JE AR 3R - E M B

advance receipts 1B % 8 YK IE 1 N 4,484,486 3,734,971
Income tax paid AT RS R (348,989) (198,972)
Net cash inflow from operating activities R & 2K R &K A F & 905,890 1,487,144

F1282237BE 2 MEZEMBERENMA
AXEB 5 o

The notes on pages 128 to 237 form part of these financial statements.



BEEHERERDIA

“E-TEER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Pz I\ ooy %%
GAaB e
For the year ended 31 December 2010
RE-F—F&E+-A=+—AUFE

Investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from repayment of
shareholder’s loan

Interest received

Disposal of equity interests in a subsidiary

Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 4t 38 + A 7] »

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment U B 47 % - ik B & 5% #

Acquisition of intangible assets

Purchase of land use rights

Proceeds from (acquisition)/disposal of
other investments

REREH

HEME BE X
& 18 AT 15 RR

BERRERME R

RE

WRETEE
B8 B LR

(KB hEEMLEEM

%A

Note
B &

26(a)

2010
=

RMB000
AR TR

223

12,000

52,809

(7,266)
(1,371,100)

(17,173)

Net cash outflow from investing activities R ESE B T R & F &

Financing activities

Proceeds from bank borrowings

MEEH

RITIEE S RA

(1,362,295)

4,504,097

80,000
(425,000)
(3,858,404)
(952,227)
(358,330)
(56,402)

(1,066,266)

(1,522,671)

3,038,945

(1.835)

1,514,439

Capital contribution from minority interests 4> L j§ 3 £ &
Acquisition of minority interests Lo EBBREREE 7
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIETHEE
Payment for convertible bonds repurchased 37 1< 7] & # (& % [o] B 37
Payment for shares repurchased X B 17 B R
Interest paid [SENEI N
Dividends paid 2R E 17
Payment to minority interests SRR RER
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BMETBHBRELSGEE)
financing activities WAFE
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRBEEEEY
cash equivalents CRL ) /48 tn % 8
Cash and cash equivalentsat1January R —FB —HMWERE K
REeZEY
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fER@amp s
Cash and cash equivalents R+=-—A=+—8H#
at 31 December ReRkBEELESEY
The notes on pages 128 to 237 form part of these financial statements. $128%
7 aN

2009
—ZZETNF
RMB’000
AREET T

(4,913)
(9,943)
(1,700)
(1,447,043)

105

(1,445,709)

5,900,716
(406,731)
(2,335,537)
(165,143)
(10,725)
(238,559)
(81,492)
(68,440)

2,594,089

2,635,524

403,531

(110)

3,038,945

IEZHMENZEV B HRROAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR B

GENERAL INFORMATION AND GROUP
REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
April 2006 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681 GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, British West Indies.
The companies comprising the Group underwent a reorganisation
(the “Reorganisation”) to rationalise the Group's structure in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”). On 30 June 2006, the Company became
the holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group.
Details of the Reorganisation were set out in the Prospectus of the
Company dated 26 September 2006.

The Company's shares were listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on 10 October 2006.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010 include the results of the Company and its
subsidiaries from 1 January 2010, or their respective dates of
incorporation. The consolidated balance sheet at 31 December
2010 is a consolidation of the balance sheets of the Company and
its subsidiaries at the respective balance sheet dates. All material
intra-group transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation. In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated
financial statements prepared on this basis present fairly the results
of operations and the state of affairs of the Group as a whole.

1.
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7] &F i #* == B & b 4 & Century Yard,
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681 GT, George Town, Grand Cayman,
British West Indies > A& & A 2 & ik %
REBBAERGHAERRAE B
REFEDEHRET - BREREAEBERND
RAIETT —HEEHANEA]  NUEE
REBORBABL- R_TEAXF
NRAZ+RHR - A2AKAEAEERRK
BETEFAramERAR -FHEEA
MEBIRARXTARZZZEZERFEAN
AZ+RBHENERER-

ARABRBR-BEAF+TATA
B BT L

R E &
AEBBE_T—FTF+_A=+—
FLEFEFENEEEERERARAR
EFRAREB-_ZF-—FTF - -8B
%ﬁfrﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁkiﬁﬁﬁtﬁm%i °
TE-ZEHE+ A=+ -HHE
BERABERDBEARAREFA
AINEZEAEERABRAEMNEESR
S RIEAMK -FMEEAEEARBR
ZLEEHRACREAKRBE TIAEE -
EEAR WMEBEERET KDL
EUMBHREREAARBRASE ER
MEEEBERTBRR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

w/T

2.

o W B ok B R

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs"). These financial statements also comply with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

The International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) has
issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are firstly effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group and the Company. Note 4 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except that other investments in equity
securities, derivative financial instruments and investment
properties are measured at fair value.

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further
in note 5.

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis
that the Group will continue to operate throughout the next
twelve months as a going concern. The Group's current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMB244,276,000 as
at 31 December 2010. Based on the anticipated ability of the
Group to obtain continued bank financing and the estimated
proceeds from pre-sale of certain projects to finance its
continuing operation, the Company'’s directors have prepared
the financial statements on a going concern basis.

2.
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(9]

(d)

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Group's functional currency.
All financial information presented in RMB has been rounded
to the nearest thousand.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements are
described in the following notes:

o Note 7 — acquisition of a jointly controlled entity/
minority interests

o Note 14 — income tax expense

° Note 23 - valuation of investment properties

o Note 33 — deferred taxation

o Note 37 — valuation of derivative financial instruments
o Note 39 — measurement of share-based payments

o Note 42 — financial guarantees

3 Note 43 — valuation of financial instruments

o Note 44 — lease classification

2. WEEEE)

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRR R s

w/T

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently

to all years presented in these consolidated financial statements,

and have been applied consistently by Group entities, except as

explained in note 4, which addresses changes in accounting policies.

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i)

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Company has the power,
directly orindirectly, to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting
rights that are presently exercisable or convertible
are taken into account. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. The accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to
align them with the policies adopted by the Group.

Acquisitions from entities under common control

Business combinations arising from transfers of
interests in entities that are under the control of the
shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for
as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of
the earliest comparative period presented or, if later,
at the date that common control was established.
The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised
atthe carrying amounts recognised previously in
the Group'’s controlling shareholder’s consolidated
financial statements. The components of equity of the
acquired entities are added to the same components
within Group equity except that any share capital of
the acquired entities is recognised as part of merger
reserves. Any cash paid for the acquisition is recognised
directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Associates and jointly controlled entities
Associates are those entities in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control, over the
financial and operating policies. Significant influence
is presumed to exist when the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity.
Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose
activities the Group has joint control, established by
contractual agreement and requiring unanimous
consent for strategic financial and operating decisions.

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities
are accounted for using the equity method and are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see note 3(l)). The consolidated
financial statements include the Group's share of
the post acquisition gains and losses and equity
movements of the investees, after adjustments to
align the accounting policies with those of the Group,
from the date that significant influence or joint control
commences until the date that significant influence or
joint control ceases. When the Group’s share of losses
exceeds its interest in an associate or a jointly controlled
entity, the carrying amount of the interest is reduced to
nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has an obligation
or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

Goodwiill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination or aninvestmentin an associate or a
jointly controlled entity over the Group's interest in
the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

w/T

3.

o W B ok B R

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(iv) Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units and is not amortised but is tested
annually for impairment (see note 3(1)). In respect of
associates or jointly controlled entities, the carrying
amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount
of the interest in the associate or jointly controlled
entity and the investment as a whole is tested for

impairment whenever there is objective evidence of

impairment (see note 3(1)).

Any excess of the Group’s interests in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over the cost of a business
combination or aninvestmentin an associate or a
jointly controlled entity is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Ondisposal of interestin an associate or a jointly
controlled entity during the year, any attributable
amount of purchased goodwill isincluded in the

calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(v) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
gains arising from transactions with associates and
jointly controlled entities are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that

there is no evidence of impairment.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR B

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(vi)

Investment in subsidiaries

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 3(1)), unless the investment is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale).

(b) Foreign currency

()

(i)

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to
the respective functional currencies of Group entities
at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to
the functional currency at the exchange rate at that
date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary
items is the difference between the amortised cost in
the functional currency at the beginning of the period,
adjusted for effective interest and payments during
the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange
rate at the date that the fair value was determined.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations outside
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are translated to RMB at the foreign
exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated to RMB at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation
arerecognised directly in the foreign currency
translation reserve (“FCTR"). When a foreign operation
is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in
the FCTR is transferred to profit or loss.

3. Igﬁ E&%(ﬂ,g
(a) &OFEE(E)

(vi)

RFLANKRE

RARREERBRT  F
A R B PR AN R R
BEEANREWME3) -
DERBEFRENRE(K
AAEDBERBEFEN
&= A R ER S e

(b) 5%

(i)

(ii)

RS

IERXZRR P AMEX
BELSREEBERNIE
BN ERBHUNE
HEMBEBEERBER
EERMEXENBRELSD
EEBE-REBHEBEME
EWMIERERNZHE
MulNeEa® RneE % H
MARAR RzBEARE

BRI R R A BRMF oA AR
HEMABERKDIRE

RHENIINERND B H W
BN TR Z R o WA SN A
ARULAREBEFENFE
EWEERBEENEER
fM,JE%‘EIBzEIeE%H@
ERYeeER - -FEHBR
EREENIIEEZET A

B

BOHNEHK

mEARAMBE(HE])IA
SINRANEBWEERA R
(BEREAHMELENEE
ERArBEAB)IRES
EIHJH;z B ) SN BE [E K i
ERARKE -BIHEBH
WARRXEZERRZ 5 A
ERMERBRE/SARE-

EMHMEELANERLEZR
TEERIINEBERE
(TFCTRD A HER - B HINE
BB L SR
SN HERFRENBES R
THBRERH-



EEEi

(ER)BER2RA —T-ZTFFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

o W B ok B R

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Foreign currency (Continued)

(ii)  Foreign operations (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a
monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation, the settlement of which is neither planned
nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to
form part of a net investment in a foreign operation
and are recognised directly in equity in the FCTR.

(c) Financial instruments
(i)  Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and

jointly controlling entities, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless fair
value can be more reliably estimated using valuation
techniques whose variables include only data from
observable markets. Costincludes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At each balance
sheet date the fair value is re-measured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured
at cost less any identified impairment losses (see note
3(I)) at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial

recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR I

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that
contain liability, conversion option and redemption
option components are classified separately into
liability component, equity component and embedded
derivative component consisting of the redemption
option of the Company respectively. A derivative
embedded in a non-derivative host contract is treated
as a separate derivative when its risks and characteristics
are not closely related to those of the host contract.
On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
interest of similar non-convertible bonds. The derivative
component is carried at fair value on the balance sheet
with any changes in fair value being charged or credited
to profitorlossin the period in which the change
occurs. The difference between the proceeds of the
issue of the convertible bonds and the fair values of the
liability component and embedded derivative related to
the redemption option of the Company is included in

equity.

Subsequent toinitial recognition, the liability
component of the convertible bonds is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The difference between the interest so calculated
and the interest paid is added to the carrying amount
of the liability component. The embedded derivative
is re-measured to fair value through profit or loss at
subsequent reporting dates. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability
componentinto ordinary shares of the Company,
remains in capital reserve until the embedded option is
exercised (at which time the convertible bonds equity
component will be transferred to share capital and
share premium). Where the option remains unexercised
at the expiry date, the balance remaining in capital
reserve is released to retained profits. No gain or loss
isrecognised in profit orloss upon conversion or
expiration of the option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRR R & s

w/T

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability component,
embedded derivative and equity component of the
convertible bonds in proportion to the allocation of
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability component and amortised over the period
of the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method. The portion relating to the embedded
derivative is charged directly to profit or loss.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to capital reserve.

If the convertible bonds are redeemed by the
Company before maturity, the Company will allocate
the consideration paid and any transaction costs for
the repurchase or redemption to the liability and
equity components of the instrument at the date of
the transaction. The method used in allocating the
consideration paid and transaction costs to the separate
components is consistent with that used in the original
allocation to the separate components of the proceeds
received by the Company when the convertible
instrument was issued. Once the consideration is
allocated, any resulting gain or loss relating to the
liability component is recognised in profit or loss and
the amount of consideration relating to the equity
component is recognised in equity.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially
at fair value. At each balance sheet date the fair value
is re-measured. The gain or loss on re-measurement to
fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital, the amount of the consideration
paid, which includes directly attributable costs, is net of
any tax effects, and is recognised as a deduction from
equity.

Recognition/derecognition of financial assets and
liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets are de-recognised when
the Group no longer has the rights to cash flows,
the risks and rewards of ownership or control of the
asset. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

0]

Recognition and measurement

[tems of property, plant and equipment are measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation (see (iv) below)
and impairment losses (see note 3(1)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour,
and other costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to a working condition for its intended use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and
equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

o W B ok B R

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
(i)  Recognition and measurement (Continued)
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and are recognised net

within “other income” in profit or loss.

(ii) Reclassification to investment properties

When the use of a property changes from owner-
occupied to investment properties, the property is re-
measured to fair value and reclassified as investment
properties. Any gain arising on re-measurement is
recognised directly in equity. Any loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

(iii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs
of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iv) Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part
of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term

and their useful lives.

The estimated useful lives for the current and

comparative periods are as follows:

Buildings situated on
leasehold land

Motor vehicles

Fixtures, fittings and
equipment

Leasehold improvements

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values

are reviewed at each reporting date.

Shorter of leasehold
period and 5 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(e) Land userights

()

Land use rights represent lease prepayments for acquiring
rights to use land in the PRC with periods ranging from 40
to 70 years. Land use rights granted with consideration are
recognised initially at acquisition cost. Land use rights are
classified and accounted for in accordance with the intended
use of the properties erected on the related land.

For properties that are held for own use, the corresponding
lease prepayments are separately stated as land use rights
in the balance sheet and stated at cost, less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses (see note 3(l)).
Amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the land use rights.

For investment properties, the corresponding land use rights
are classified and accounted for as part of the investment
properties, which are carried at fair value as described in
note 3(f).

For properties that are developed for sale, the corresponding
land use rights are classified and accounted for as part of the
properties.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn
rental income or for capital appreciation or for both,
but not for salesin the ordinary course of business, use
inthe production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. These include land use rights held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at fair
value, unless they are still in the course of construction or
development at the balance sheet date and their fair value
cannot be reliably determined at that time. Any gain or loss
arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or
disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or
loss.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 3(r).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(9)

(h)

Investment properties (Continued)

When the use of an investment property changes such that
itis reclassified as property, plant and equipment, its fair
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for
subsequent accounting. When the Group begins to redevelop
an existing investment property for continued future use as
investment property, the property remains an investment
property measured based on the fair value model, and is
not reclassified as property, plant and equipment during the
redevelopment.

Properties under development

Properties under development comprise property developed
for own use or for sale. The development cost of property
comprises costs of land use rights for properties under
development for sale (see note 3(e)), construction costs,
borrowing costs (see note 3(s)) and professional fees
incurred during the development period. Properties under
development are carried at cost, less any impairment loss (see
note 3(I)).

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed within 12 months from
the balance sheet date are shown as current assets.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for own use, or for sale and expected to be completed beyond
12 months from the balance sheet date are shown as non-
current assets.

Completed properties held for sale
Completed properties remaining unsold at the end of each
period are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost of completed properties held for sale comprises
development costs attributable to the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the sale
proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses, or by management
estimates based on prevailing marketing conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR I

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

()

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated in
the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 3(1)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are
available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Contractor qualification 37 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Trade, other receivables and advance
deposits

Trade, other receivables and advance deposits are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised
cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts
(see note 3(l)), except where the receivables are interest-
free advances and repayable on demand or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts (see note 3(1)).

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost of inventories is calculated using
the weighted average cost formula, and includes expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion
costs and other costsincurredin bringing them to their
existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nﬁ

o W B ok B e

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Impairment

(i)

Financial assets

Investments in equity securities (other than investment
in subsidiaries) and trade and other current receivables
that are stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at
each balance sheet date to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that comes to
the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below
its cost.

If any such evidence exists, an impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

Forinvestmentsin associates and jointly
controlled entities recognised using the equity
method (see note 3(a)), the impairment loss is
measured by comparing the recoverable amount
of the investment as a whole with its carrying
amountin accordance with note 3(I)(ii). The
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in accordance
with note 3(I)(ii).

3. FEGHBEAE
(H ®mE

(i)

EHMEE

1=K AN 3B B B R A BR &Y
BABZHREERENE R
Al B o) B e U BR R K At
) E W R IE R A
EERHT LA BTE
BREENEEIE BE
WEBEBERRAEER
BHAERB T —|ENZIE
BREM4NBHEER:

e EBHBABBERYK
W 2

e ERN WEBRHEZX
WMHEENBEH A

e EBAUEKEESEKR
EXETELMBKE
e

e MR -WH KELZX
RREMNERELY
BHAERTINEZE:
)53

s EBAEBREWMAAR
BEEXBXRFETR
ERRERAKNE-

EHBRBEIWZEEE £
BIEAT AR E R EF
B 1

oy I

ik

. %ﬂ% &Tﬁ 2 H) B
HEEHE D
m&@ﬁway»
B E 18 T R R Y R
()i ¥ % B8 1% & &9 /]
Yoel ggE il K BRmE (A
tEE et & B R
EH 3N RET
A Y B EEE ek B T
REMNZE /L Alg i
Bl EEE -

143



144 SPG Land (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2010

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESHBEKE
(Continued)
() Impairment (Continued) ) RMEE

(i)  Financial assets (Continued)

For unquoted equity instruments carried at cost,
the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
asset and the estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset where the effect of
discounting is material. Impairment losses for
unguoted equity instruments carried at cost are

not reversed.

For trade and other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of the asset);
where the effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where financial
assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status and
have not been individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets which are
assessed for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

Ifin a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which
would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Impairment (Continued)

)

(ii)

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial
assets, other than investment properties, inventories
and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill,
its recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting
date.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of
impairment testing, assets are grouped together into
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the
“cash-generating unit”).

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount
of an asset orits cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised
in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata
basis.

An impairment lossin respect of goodwill is not
reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each
reporting date for any indications that the losses have
decreased or no longer exist. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(m) Trade, other payables and advance receipts

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade, other payables and advance receipts are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call
deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution retirement plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment
benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no
legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit
expense in profit or loss when they are due, except
to the extent that they are included in the cost of
properties under development or completed properties
held for sale not yet recognised as cost of sales.

(ii) Share-based payments

The grant date fair value of share options granted to
employeesisrecognised as an employee expense,
with a corresponding increase in capital reserve within
equity, over the period in which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRR R & s

w/T

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The fair value is measured at grant date using the
binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged or credited to profit or loss for the year of
the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, in which case the
adjustment is made to the capital reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of share options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
isrecognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits). Share-based
payment transactions in which the Company grants
share options to subsidiaries’ employees are accounted
for as an increase in value of investment in subsidiaries
in the Company’s balance sheet which is eliminated on
consolidation.

(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
toreimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for aloss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR I

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (Continued)

0]

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fairvalue of the guarantee (being the transaction
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably
estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group's policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on
initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guaranteesissued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 3(q)(ii) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (ii)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee, i.e. the amount
initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event,
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B ¥R 3% M RE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (Continued)

(i)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of an outflow of economic benefits is

remote.

(r) Revenue
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow

to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be

measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as

follows:

(i)

(i)

Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when
a Group entity has delivered the relevant properties
to the customers and collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to the date
of revenue recognition are recorded as advances from
customers and presented as trade and other payables
under current liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payment receivable. Contingent
rents are recorded as income in the periods in which
they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR I

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) Sales of goods and services rendered
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if
there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery
of the consideration due, associated costs or the
possible return of goods, or where there is continuing
management involvement with the goods.

Revenueinrelation to property managementis
recognised when the services are rendered.

Revenue from landscape projects is recognised in
proportion to the stage of completion of the projects
at the balance sheet date. The stage of completion is
assessed by reference to work performed. An expected
loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

(iv) Tuition fee
Revenue from provision of education services is
recognised on a time-proportion basis using the
straight-line method. Tuition fee received prior to the
date of revenue recognition is included in non-trade
payables and presented under current liabilities.

(v) Governmentgrants
Unconditional government grants are recognised as
other income on a cash receipt basis.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences
when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress
and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs may continue until the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use. If the
resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. The capitalisation
rate is arrived at by reference to the actual rate payable on
borrowings for development purposes or, with regard to that
part of the development cost financed out of general funds,
to the average rate.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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o W B ok B e

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(®

(u)

(v)

Expenses

(i)  Service costs and property operating expenses
Service costs for service contracts entered into and
property operating expenses are expensed as incurred.

(ii) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease
expense.

Net finance expense

Net finance expense comprises interest expenses on
borrowings (see note 3(s)), net of interest capitalised, interest
income on cash deposits in bank, dividend income, changes
in fair value of other investments in equity securities held for
trading, and foreign currency gains and losses.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective
interest method.

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established; dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which
case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W55 AR B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

(w)

(x)

Income tax expense (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary
differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to
the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the
laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which
they are declared.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share
("EPS") data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS
is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible bonds
and share options granted to employees.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(y) Related parties

(2)

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party
or exercise significant influence over the party in making
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where
the Group and the party are subject to common control
or common significant influence. Related parties may be
individuals (being members of key management personnel,
significant shareholders and/or their close family members)
or other entities and include entities which are under the
significant influence of related parties of the Group where
those parties are individuals, and post-employment benefit
plans which are for the benefits of employees of the Group or
of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to and assessing the performance of the Group'’s

various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. RS BRERAE

(Continued)

(aa) New standards and interpretations not yet (a) d REFEM 2 ERAMNRE
adopted
Other than those adopted early as explained in note 4, a BT T4 B A DEHEGMNE
number of new standards, amendments to standards and AN ZITEFER - EBEET R

interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2010, and have not been applied in preparing

these consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to IAS 32, Financial instruments:
Presentation — Classification of rights issues

IFRIC 19, Extinguishing financial liabilities with
equity instruments

Amendment to IFRS 1, First-time adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards —

Limited exemption from comparative IFRS 7
disclosures for first-time adopters

Improvements to IFRSs (2010)

Revised IAS 24, Related party disclosures

Amendments to IFRIC 14, IAS 19 — The limit on
a defined benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction

Amendments to IAS 12, Income tax — Deferred tax:
Recovery of underlying assets

IFRS 9, Financial instruments
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(aa) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)
The Group isin the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and new interpretations are expected to be in the period of
initial application. Up to the date of the issuance of these
financial statements, the Group believes that their adoption is
unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.

4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The IASB has issued two revised IFRSs, a number of amendments to
IFRS and new interpretations that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of these, the
following are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

. Revised IFRS 1, First-time adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards

. Improvements to IFRSs (2009)

. Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards — Additional exemptions for
first-time adopters

° Amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based payments- Group cash-
settled share-based payment transactions

The adoption of the new IFRSs had no material effect on how the
results and financial position for the current or prior accounting
periods were prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment was required.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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5. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures

require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-

financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for

measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following

methods. Where applicable, further information about the

assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes

specific to that asset or liability.

(i)

(i)

Properties under development

The fair values of properties under development recognised
as a result of a business combination are based on market
values. The market value of a property is the estimated
amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date
of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in
arms’ length transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion. The market value of items of plant, equipment,
fixtures and fittings is based on the quoted market prices for
similar items.

Investment properties

An external, independent valuation company, having
appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience in the location and category of property being
valued, values the Group’s investment property portfolio
every six months. The fair values are based on market
values, being the estimated amount for which a property
could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a
willing buyer and a willing seller in arms’ length transaction
after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

In the absence of current prices in an active market, the
valuations are prepared by considering the aggregate of the
estimated cash flows expected to be received from renting out
the property. A yield that reflects the specific risks inherent in
the net cash flows then is applied to the net annual cash flows
to arrive at the property valuation.
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DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Investment properties (Continued)

Valuations reflect, where appropriate: the type of tenants
actually in occupation or responsible for meeting lease
commitments or likely to be in occupation after letting vacant
accommodation, and the market’s general perception of
their creditworthiness; the allocation of maintenance and
insurance responsibilities between the Group and the lessee;
and the remaining economic life of the property. When rent
renewals or lease renewals are pending with anticipated
reversionary increases, it is assumed that all notices and where
appropriate counter-notices have been served validly and
within the appropriate time.

Investment property under construction or development
isvalued by estimating the fair value of the completed
investment property and then deducting from that amount
the estimated costs to complete construction or development,
financing costs and a reasonable profit margin.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of employee stock options is measured using
a binomial lattice model. Measurement inputs include share
price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument,
expected volatility (based on weighted average historic
volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly
available information), weighted average expected life of
the instruments (based on historical experience and general
option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-
free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service
and non-market performance conditions attached to the
transactions are not taken into account in determining fair

value.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has four reportable segments, as described below, which

are the Group'’s strategic business units. The strategic business units

offer different products and services, and are managed separately

because they require different technology and marketing strategies.

For each of the strategic business units, the chief operating decision

maker reviews internal management reports on at least a monthly

basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of

the Group’s reportable segments.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Sales of property: this segment develops and sells residential
properties, including villas, townhouses and apartments, etc.
Currently the Group's activities in this regard are carried out
in Shanghai, Kunming, Changshu, Wuxi, Suzhou, Hainan and
Shanxi.

Lease of property: this segment leases commercial and
residential properties to generate rental income and gain from
the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long term.
Currently the Group’s investment property portfolio is located
in Shanghai, Hainan, Kunming, Suzhou and Wuxi.

Property management and other related services: this
segment provides property management services, project
management services, greenery construction services and
other related services to external customers and group
companies. Currently the Group's activities in this regard are
carried out in Shanghai, Hainan, Kunming and Suzhou.

Education: this segment provides education and
accommodation service to college students. Currently the
Group's activities in this regard are carried out in Shanghai.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating

resources between segments, the Group's senior executive

management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable

to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all current and non-current assets with the

exception of interests in associates and a jointly controlled entity,

derivative financial instruments and other corporate assets. Segment

liabilities include all current and non-current liabilities except for

the liability component of convertible bonds managed at corporate

level.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments

with reference to the revenue generated and the expenses incurred

by those segments or which otherwise arise from the depreciation

or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments. Segment

revenue and expenses do not include share of profits/(losses) of

associates and jointly controlled entity and those profit or loss

related to derivative financial instruments, share-based payments

and any other transactions at the corporate level.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. 7 EEEE)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 BEE-—ZE-ZEf+-HA=1t—HLEE

Property

management
Sales of Lease of &related

Expressed in RMB'000 property property services Education Group
NEEER

UAR%T 5l E MEHE NERE 1B R % ¥E r5H

Revenue from external ARMEF &

customers 4,113,664 29,069 51,227 71,229 4,271,189
Inter-segment revenue LRI € - - 18,435 - 18,435
Reportable segment revenue 1 B 3§ 4 £ It % 4,113,664 29,069 69,662 77,229 4,289,624
Reportable segment profit 7] B $§ 4 %6 i I 286,892 181,651 26,693 10,966 506,202
Interest income HE WA 106,007 267 1,541 36 107,851
Finance expenses BEKK (23,411) (3,150) (24,209) (11,212) (61,982)
Revaluation gains on investment 1% & #) ¥ & 4 It %

properties 229,203 229,203
Reportable segmentassets T HHEHFEE 19,809,817 1,948,000 347,117 276,213 22,381,147
Additions to non-current E R M

segment assets ERBEE

during the year 7,630 78,381 18,314 5,843 110,168
Reportable segment liabilities o] B 3§ 4 & & & 18,679,816 640,045 210,915 198,784 19,729,560

Depreciation and amortisation  #T & [ # 4 11,708 2,598 13,691 27,997
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2009

6. DEW/E(E)
BEZE-ZZEAF+A=+—HLEE

Property
management
Sales of Lease of & related
Expressed in RMB'000 property property services Education
MEEBR
WAR®T L3 E MEHE mEMRE 18 AR 75
Revenue from external ABEFKR
customers 2,926,572 27,271 36,850 74,748 3,065,441
Inter-segment revenue 28K & - 260 77,063 - 77323
Reportable segment revenue ] B 3§ 4 2§ It & 2,926,572 27,531 113,913 74,748 3,142,764
Reportable segment profit ~ B $§ % £ 3% I 181,061 397,050 80,334 18,716 677,161
Interest income FlEd A 15,873 202 781 58 16,914
Finance expenses BE AR (68,699) (2,750) (89) (15,233) (86,771)
Revaluation gains on investment  # & % ¥ & ft I 35
properties - 517,254 - - 517,254
Reportable segmentassets T HR{EHFEE 15,071,835 1,640,500 172,872 269,904 17,155,111
Additions to non-current FREMNDF
segment assets ERBEE
during the year 8,292 - 21 5,749 14,062
Reportable segment liabilities ] B # 2 # & & 12,353,658 548,781 9,833 179,441 13,091,713
Depreciation and amortisation ¥ & [ & 4 12,111 - 694 14,528 27,333

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues,
profit, assets and liabilities

i &
A] B3R o B Uk

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue

7 #B UL & 8 8

Elimination of inter-segment revenue

AHRKIsBRE-EZNN -EE
REEHNHK

2010
S5

2009
—TEETNF
RMB'000
AR T

RMB’000
AR®BTR

4,289,624 3,142,764

(18,435) (77,323)

Ik

o>
H

L

o
Al

Consolidated revenue

4,271,189 3,065,441
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Profit
Reportable segment profit

Elimination of inter-segment profits

Fair value change on financial derivatives

Repurchase of convertible bonds

Share-based payments

Gain on acquisition of a jointly controlled
entity

Share of profits of associates

Share of losses of jointly controlled entity

6. o H|EE)

2010
—E-%F

2009
—EENF
RMB’000
AR T T

RMB'000
AR®BTR

i F

A] B ¥R 9 26 s 506,202 677,161
7 BB FE a F & 8 (9,517) (7,249)
MEEBRIAEN AR EBEBEEY (20,123) 50,263
fg [0 7] iR & 5 17,248 49,394
f&% 3 & A7 (3,899) (6,467)

WHARESEREN KD
149,911
281,792
(20,008)

JE 165 Bt & R w) A
EHIARESERER

Consolidated profit after income tax

BRARHRESKE G N

901,606 829,747

Assets
Reportable segment assets

Elimination of inter-segment receivables
Elimination of inter-segment investments
Other unallocated assets

Financial derivatives

Interests in associates

Interests in a jointly controlled entity

2009
—EFENF
RMB’000
AR T T

RMB’000
AR®BTR

AR LEE 22,381,147 17,155,111
73 BB & FE UL 3K IE ¥ 8 (2,264,935) (1,132,332)
o E IR E (128,500) (96,152)
HihRkD B &EE 1,491 608
MEeMmIAE 625 51,491
NS 1,263,247 989,822

HAZHEEEDS 738,468 -

Consolidated total assets

MEEERBRE 21,991,543 16,968,548

Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities

Elimination of inter-segment payables
Convertible bonds

2009
—ETTNF
RMB’000
ARBEF T

RMB’000
AR®T R

& &
ARHZYHBEE 19,729,560 13,091,713
5 2B FE FE - 3k H H 8 (2,264,935) (1,132,332)

CIR RN - 902,642

Consolidated total liabilities

MeBaBEReE 17,464,625 12,862,023
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SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
Geographical information

In view of the fact that the Group mainly operates in the PRC, no
geographical segment information is presented.

Information about major customers
For the yearended 31 December 2010 and 2009, no single
customer contributes 10% or more of the total sales of the Group.

ACQUISITION OF A JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY/MINORITY INTERESTS
A jointly controlled entity acquired in 2010

On 29 March 2010, Hainan Jiangiao Property Corporation Ltd.
(“Hainan Jiangiao”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an equity transfer agreement with the shareholders
of Hainan Tianyuan Lifeng Shiye Company Limited (/8F5 <R H &
FHE AR AR (“Tianyuan Lifeng”) (the “Vendors”) to acquire an
aggregate of 50.1% equity interest in Tianyuan Lifeng. Tianyuan
Lifeng has made a successful bid for certain land use rights in Haikou
City (the “Land”) and intends to, through three newly established
companies (the “Project Companies”), build an integrated
residential, commercial, office and hotel development on the
Land. Upon the completion of the acquisition, Tianyuan Lifeng has
become a jointly controlled entity of the Group.

On 29 March 2010, Hainan Jiangiao and the Vendors entered into
a supplemental equity transfer contract pursuant to which it was
agreed that, among other things, the Group should contribute,
through Hainan Jiangiao, to the Project Companies, an aggregate of
RMB1,500 million, including RMB200.4 million capital contribution
and an interest-free shareholders’ loan of RMB1,299.6 million.

Pursuant to the equity transfer contract and the supplemental
equity transfer contract dated 29 March 2010, the Group and the
Vendors agreed that the equity interests acquired by the Group will
be limited to the assets and liabilities in relation to the Land (the
"Acquired Assets and Liabilities”) and any other assets and liabilities
of Tianyuan Lifeng and its subsidiaries apart from the Acquired
Assets and Liabilities (the “Assets and Liabilities to be disposed of”)
would be disposed of, and any future gain or loss arising from the
disposal, together with the accumulated losses in relation to the
Assets and Liabilities to be disposed of would be taken or borne by
the Vendors only.
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7. ACQUISITION OF A JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY/MINORITY INTERESTS (Continued)
A jointly controlled entity acquired in 2010
(Continued)
The following summarises the consideration transferred, and the
recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

acquisition date:

g
i

BLERRER(E

E-ZFRENHBEZH

BRE(E)
DTHACDHEORERANKEA
HEKRBOAEREABNAED

R

Pre-acquisition Recognised
carrying Fair value value on
In RMB’000 amounts adjustments acquisition
U i B 7 R
ARBT R Y & Al BR (B EREE HEE
Trade and other receivables JiE U BR 3% Ko H At JiE Uy 3R 8 500,000 - 500,000
Land acquisition right T i Uk B R - 1,050,400 1,050,400
Trade and other payables J& 1 BR X J2 Hfh JE 3 3K IE (480,000) - (480,000)
Contribution by the Group (i) REB L E() - 408,165 408,165
Deferred tax liabilities ELEREER - (364,641) (364,641)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities AHNEEREBEFE 20,000 1,093,924 1,113,924
Adjusted net identifiable assets & E G AR RF
attributable to the Group BE 558,076
Consideration for the acquisition (i) 1 B8 8RB () (408,165)
Gain from bargain purchase ZERERE 149,911
(i) Pursuant to the equity transfer contract and the supplemental () BEREEZEARL#S T KRE

equity transfer contract, the Group shall provide an interest-
free long-term shareholders’ loan of RMB1,299.6 million
(the “Shareholders’ Loan”) to the Project Companies. The
Shareholders’ Loan will be repaid to the Group by 10 equal
annual instalments starting from 30 June 2011. The difference
between the fair value and the nominal amount of the
Shareholders’ Loan amounting to RMB408.17 million, which
represents the embedded interest cost, is regarded as the
consideration for the acquisition. Such difference is accounted
for as capital contribution in the Project Companies’ financial
statements and increases the Project Companies’ net
identifiable assets.

BEAR AEEEARELEEER
H R R E A K %1,299,600,000
TR RER]) FEE QA
BREEFRBEE-_ZT——F XA
= THRDI0HIERFERE
THEBTFTAEHEH BREEX
WARBEEEEEEZEARE
408,170,0007T * 48 & R #® A F| &
AR WEERBENORE G H
EBIORBERARAMNBBRE
WA ATE WHNIEB A A
BRIk Al & EFRE o
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7. ACQUISITION OF A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 7. WEELEBRRER(E)
ENTITY/MINORITY INTERESTS (Continued)

Minority interests acquired in 2010 R-ZE-—ZFUREBEBHID>ER
REDR

On 19 July 2010, SPG XII (BVI) Limited (“SPG XlI") which is wholly- WZE—FF+H+H1H "  SPGXI (BVI)
owned by the Company, entered into a share purchase agreement Limited ([SPG XII)) (E AR R 2 & #
with Mausica Investment Limited to acquire an additional 29% £ ) B Mausica Investment Limiteds]
equity interest in SPG Investment XI (BVI) Limited (“SPG XI"). Total BE A% 1 5% © U BB SPG Investment XI (BVI)
consideration of RMB425 million was settled in cash in July 2010. Limited ([SPG XI]) %8 4N29% Hy P& #E o 42
The Group recognised a decrease in minority interests of RMB327 KRB AR #425,000,000tE RN ZF —
million and a decrease in retained earnings of RMB98 million. After EFEL+ALNBLSEE - NEFBERD
the acquisition, SPG XI becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 2% W =R D A R #327,000,0007T
Group. SPG Xl is an investment holding company and indirectly RARE & 7w 4 A K #98,000,0007T ©

owns 100% of the equity interests in three real estate projects in the RUWHEZ SPGXIKBEKRXEFEMN 2 E
PRC. FRASPGXIR—HREEKR AR

VTEEHEBE=-ZBETENFHBER
BR A -

The following summarises the effect of changes in the Group's LA B = B RSPG XIH BT A 1 % 8
ownership interest in SPG XI: TRENHRE:

2010
—e-%f

RMB’000
ARBT R

AEBRFNH A %

Group's ownership interest at the beginning

of the year 770,380
Effect of increase in Group's ownership interest AEEMBEREENYZZ 327,070
Group’s ownership interest at the end of the year 7% = [@ A £F 42 1) F A 42 1,097,450
8. REVENUE 8. W=
The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised TEZE-_ZT—ZFEF+=-_A=+—H
during the year ended 31 December 2010 is as follows: LTFEBRZSEEABENK=E 2
BT

2009

—EENF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®ET T

V) E 4,113,664 2,926,572

Sales of properties

Rental income e u A 29,069 27,271
Property management income EEEKA 38,268 26,113
Sales of goods and rendering of services EmEENREERS 12,959 10,737
Tuition fee =+ 77,229 74,748

Total &5 4,271,189 3,065,441
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9. OTHERINCOME 9. HWw A

2009
—ZEENF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTR

5 KT #8 B 1,779

Government grants

Forfeited deposits from customers KEEFPHRKELN S (3:X]
Others H b 961
Total & &t

10. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 10. Hh K& B X

2009

—EFENF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T x ARET T

Donations B 9,243
Penalty costs [ RPN 6,781
Loss of fixed assets TEEEE 6,691
Others H 1,290

Total & 24,005

11. PERSONNEL EXPENSES M EIBMX

2009

—EENF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T

ITENF® 126,952

Wages and salaries

Contributions to defined contribution plans [ 5 & it 3% & 2 f# 3% 15,287
Staff welfare, bonuses and EERF - AL K& H M F8h

other allowances 10,966
Equity-settled share-based BRELENORNDIHHAX

payment expenses (note 39) (B 3£ 39) 3,899

Total & & 157,104 113,803
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12. EXPENSES BY NATURE

The following expenses are included in cost of sales, selling and
marketing costs and administrative expenses:

NR.EZMHEEINEA
BPAHERA  HERTISEELA
MARELOE LT :

RMB’000
AR TR

RMB’000
ARM TR

Cost of properties sold 2 E Y ERR 2,899,867 2,054,775
Auditors’ remuneration % 1R B €
— audit services — T % R % 3,000 2,750
— audit-related services —FERRE 650 -
Depreciation e 26,213 25,516
Amortisation of land use rights + i {F P RE 8 1,739 1,772
Operating lease charges LEEET N 8,768 8,753
13. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 1B.HEBRARKAR

Interest income on bank deposits
Interest income on long-term receivable
measured at amortised cost

2009
—EETNF
RMB'000
AR ¥ T T

RMB’000
AR® TR

59,615

RITHERAME WA
HOBERAAENRARE

W F B A 48,236

Finance income

Interest expenses on bank loans
Less: interest capitalised (note 24)

107,851

RITERMNEER
B E AR R B (M £ 24)

(354,508)
261,454

(238,559)
194,943

Net interest expenses

Interest expenses on financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost (note 37)

Interest expenses on long-term payable
measured at amortised cost

Net change in fair value of
other investments

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)

MEBRF®E
ROBERAGFENERAER

(93,054) (43,616)

g RSB A (K EE37) ((EX:LY)) (39,369)
REBHERKAHENRAEN
REHFNEER (3.436) (3,560)
HMEE AR BEZHFHE
(2,287) 477

Finance expenses

Fair value changes on financial derivatives
(note 37)

W Uz (B18)F %8 50,652 (703)
B & Bk AR (61,982) (86,771)

TESTRIANDAEBEEZD

(Bt 5£37) (20,123)

Net finance income/(expenses)

B & U A (B AN) SF 58 25,746 (19,594)
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. RSB A X
(i) Income tax in the consolidated statement of (i) FEZEANBIRANVWASE
comprehensive income represents: B

2009
—EZTNF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT

Current tax Bl HA B H
Provision for PRC enterpriseincome B ¥ S FHEERFE

tax for the year T 18 299,260 228,047
Provision for PRC land appreciation — FF B £ b 1% (E § B B R F 2

tax for the year | 104,880 33,820

404,140 261,867

Deferred tax I 1|
Origination and reversal of temporary & B = £ & £ & & O

differences (note 33(ii)) (Hf 5E33(i0) (71,973) (113,704)
Benefit of tax losses recognised ERERBMEEBETE

(note 33(ii)) (Fft 5E33(i0) (P REY)) (11,116)
(Realisation)/recognition of (B3R THEREMNH

withholding tax (18,400) 14,000
Revaluation of investment properties & & %7 % = i (Ft 5 33(ii))

(note 33(iii)) 72,733 123,770

Fair value adjustments (note 33(iii)) 2 7 & & 73 #& (B} 5% 33(iii)) (24,142) (27,303)
Deferred PRC land appreciation tax ~ #& #E & B + b 3% {H T 258,117 180,212

214,138 165,859

Total income tax expense 8% X 8% 618,278 427,726
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(i)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income represents:
(Continued)

Enterprise income tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits
Tax during the year ended 31 December 2010.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin
Islands.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law (“New Tax Law")
of the PRC passed by the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth
National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007 and effective
from 1 January 2008, subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC
are subject to PRC income tax at 25% (2009: 25%), except
for Shanghai Cambridge (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Cambridge”), Shanghai New Independence House Property
Management Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai NIH"), Hainan Jiangiao
and Kunming SPG Land Property Development Co., Ltd.
("Kunming SPG Land").

Shanghai Cambridge, Shanghai NIH and Hainan Jiangiao
are currently subject to income tax at a rate of 22% (2009:
20%). Pursuant to the preferential tax policies issued by the
PRC governmentin 2008 to encourage investment in the
Western region of the PRC, Kunming SPG Land is subject to a
concessionary income tax rate of 15% (2009: 15%).

14. R B BB X (42)

0]

RETEMNBRANFAE
BB ()

i 3 i 18 Bt

HRAEBERBEE _ZT-—ZFF
TZA=+—-HLFELER
RAERAMMNEENGHOK
A A EERBFEMNGHEE -

REFNSHELRABRERAES
HR B R BB A E B AWM
TAHREHEREBREXES
Prge

RER-_ZZTLF=A+RXH
ETEEZBEBEARRKRKREER
REZBRBIR _ZFTZENF —
A-BREEMNPEARKM
BeEEmERZ(HBREZD K
SETEFRAHER%HH
FHMPTEECERBER(ZER
NF:25%) HELEBERERBFEEE
EDERLR(LEEEBEE])
MBREMEERBRARA(LE
HERD SHERREARS
EWBERERAAIEARSE
1) BR SN e

FERB¥EE LEBETIBERK
MHEEBBE K2 (ZEZT L
F 0% MAMBREBMB
M- BEBERBBRAIRZ-2ZZNSF
HEEBRPEAIFEEEMN
BEHEKERX EFARaEHK
5% FHMBEHR EHMABE
MZZEZENF 15%) °
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(i)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income represents:
(Continued)

Withholding tax

Pursuant to the New Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax was
levied on dividends declared to foreign enterprise investors
from the PRC effective from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
arrangement between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the
foreign enterprise investors. On 22 February 2008, Caishui
(2008) No. 1 was promulgated by the PRC tax authorities
to specify that dividends declared and remitted out of
the PRC from the retained earnings as at 31 December
2007 determined based on the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations are exempted from the withholding tax. As at 31
December 2010, withholding tax of RMB16,135,000 (2009:
RMB14,000,000) have been recognised in respect of the tax
that would be payable on the distribution of the retained
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries. Deferred tax liabilities
of RMB11,223,000 (2009: RMB15,865,000) have not been
recognised, as the Company controls the dividend policy
of these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is
probable that certain of the profits earned by the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2010 will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

Land appreciation tax

PRC land appreciation tax is levied on properties developed
for sale by the Group at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% on the appreciation of land value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds
of sales of properties less deductible expenditures including
lease charges of land use rights, borrowing costs and all
property development expenditures. Land appreciation tax of
RMB362,997,000 has been included in profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: RMB214,032,000).

14. REHR A X (&)

(i)

CA2EABRANFE
BB X (&)

BB

BBEFREZ BRI EDER
BEEETRREHREHNREBK
0% EMNH - BT /\F—H
—HBERAER MR B ENE D E
KREEFMEBREZERZEESR
MEEETHAATRREEN
MEHH - R_ZZENF_A
Z+Z 8 P B R E
(00815 M EB L F
+ A=+ BHHREBEFE
N BE B R AN 2 R BOR R
HEPBEBREEZEZANET
AERRBEBHAHR - R_Z—FF
+ZA=+—HB AKEEEHRRK
EEFPEFRARANREEF D
MEEEINOBERERAR
#16,135,0007T /) 78 0 (= =
TN F: AR ¥14,000,0007T) e
BHRAQRAEHZEFRAN
B BB I £ B R K AT B
RARZARREAEB R ETF
ARRARBE-_ZTE—ZTF+=A
St+—HLEFERINE TR
METHR HLEERELTH
HBEFAR,223,0000 (==
TN F: AR ¥ 15,865,0007T) °

T i 3 E B

REBEHEMEENMEERER
T i (B {E 1 18 LA30% £ 60% M &
EREAMNPE T MIBER R
BHEBAG LB ERIEH
%%¥%%ﬁﬁﬁ7mﬁﬁi@
FErtwwERREEIL B8
AEFABEMEEREMI)GE-
HEZZE—ZZF+ZA=+—
BIEFEFAFMBERA S T i
#ER A AR362,997,00070(=
TENF : AR¥E214,032,0007T) ©
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 14. FIEHRBAX(Z&

(i) Income taxin the consolidated statement (i) ZFEZHEHANBRANVWASE
of comprehensive income represents: HEXE: (&)
(Continued)
Land appreciation tax (Continued) T i B E B (E)
The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in property AREFBLEAFPHEYEED LR ¥
development business in the PRC are subject to land T F AT B g E
appreciation taxes, which have been included in the income M EHEBIWAFRGSH - "M &
tax. However, the implementation of these taxes varies TREND ZEHENEBRSE
amongst various provinces and the Group has not finalised ZE2 . BAEBR N RKERNEBBG
its land appreciation tax returns with various tax authorities. WA KRETE T i ERE
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining HE AN AETITHEEAL
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The HEEHENSBEBE EELEE
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary AHE - -PAFEHRBREL FKR
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities BETHBRBEBRAETN KNEE
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final BEREEEMNSREMGMTERZ
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts T EE - MNAESEETENRKEMNE
initially recorded, such differences will impact the profit or HEVSSNeEAIR BZE
loss and provisions of land appreciation taxes in the period in =BT EEHAEB AT
which such determination is made. BRI B SN % (E R BE-

(ii) Reconciliation between tax expense and (i) FIEB M ME g

accounting profit at applicable tax rate:

Profit before income tax
Less: PRC land appreciation tax

Bk P 15 B0 A )i 7
R B L b R E R

BASEETERARERKRE
FFEMREA

Tax calculated at the rates applicable
to respective companies that

EABRRTENYE IR

2010
—z-=2%

2009
ZETNEF
RMB’000
AR F 7T
1,257,473
(214,032)

RMB’000
AR® TR

1,519,884
(362,997)

1,156,887 1,043,441

comprise the Group 219,145 222,480
Tax effect of share of results R E N A MR E R

of associates and jointly XBENB G E

controlled entity 3,465 (12,565)
Non-deductible expenses, AEMMEH(ENKRBAERB

net of non-taxable income W A) 2,176 (985)
Unused tax losses not recognised RAERHW KRB AR IEEIE 15,099 4,577
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR (739) (13,813)

PRC land appreciation tax (note 33(i))

239,146 199,694

362,997

Withholding tax T8 0 16,135
Total & & 618,278 427,726
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliation between tax expense and

14. FREHR A X (&)

accounting profit at applicable tax rate:
(Continued)

Profit before income tax of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010 was mainly generated by Suzhou Runjian and
Shanghai Oriental, which are subject to PRC income tax at
25%.

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3(v),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2010 as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

(i) FF18 B% B3 % A1 & 5t % A 1%
Y

BERABRITENEE: (&
FEERBE-T-FF T
AZ+—BLEEZBRER
MEMNEBERAEEMBRRE
R EM W ERB% 2 BE
G R EREH -

BIBESFTHE BREHFRA
TAUEECEBRBH KA ZRE
RERBIRGKRKERM & F
REAHHENER RAEEE
HE-ZT—ZF+=ZA=+—
AEFEARAR BB AFE®E

RELERBEE -

15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 15. EE8 &

Basic
salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement

Share-based
benefits schemes payment

EXxFa,

and other benefit

2HEE BEKEF
e Hit Rl & HE K3 A R%xH &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTn AR%Tn AR¥TR AR®Tr AR%®Tn AR%Tx

(note 38)

(F z£38)

BE-Z-%%

For the year ended

31 December 2010 +=ZA=t-8
LFE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Wang Weixian TRELE 5322
Mr.Tse Sai Tung, Stones & - & % 4 10,864
Ms. Wang Xuling FTHELL 8,351

Non-Executive Directors ¥ HTES

Mr.Cheong Ying Chew, R % 8 5t 4

Henry 260 260
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, JP FHEERNTEL 260 260
Mr. Jiang Simon X. BAOAEAE 260 260
Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong BRERAE 260 260
Mr. LaiKin, Jerome REka 566 566

Total A 1,606 13,855 10,682 26,143
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15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

15.EEM (&)

Basic

salaries,

allowances
and other
IS

Contributions
to retirement
benefit

schemes

Share-based

payment

R NN
ik 7l = At &l B X 4 B’ % i &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR AR®TT ARBTR ARETR
(note 38)
(Bt 3% 38)
For the year ended HEZ-2ZhE
31 December 2009 +=ZB=+-H
LtEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Wang Weixian TRERAE - 4,976 - - - 4976
Mr.Tse Sai Tung, Stones & it ] % & - 4,188 - 4,750 - 8,938
Ms. Wang Xuling THERL - 3,430 - 3,39 - 6,822
Non-Executive Directors ¥ HTE S
Mr. Cheong Ying Chew, R 2 3 % &

Henry 243 - - - - 243
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, JP FREEXTEHL 243 - - - - 243
Mr. Jiang Simon X. BIREE 243 - - - - 243
Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong BRELHE 243 - - - - 243
Mr. Lai Kin, Jerome RRr4 554 - - - - 554
Total A&t 1,526 12,594 - 8,142 - 22,262

16. SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year ended

31 December 2010 comprise three directors of the Company, whose

remuneration is disclosed in note 15. During 2010 no emoluments

were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

16. S REEEWNE
AEERE-T-TF+L A=t
ALLFEHHE RS H
AARAZAESE LB S E RS
BE- T TFEAKEYLEAR
£ XN EAME R MA SRR MA
7R S fE R

MALBHE
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17. DIVIDENDS 17. B &

2010 2009
—g-%F5 -TTAE

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTR

FAEERMKNZBENK

Final dividends in respect of previous

financial year, declared and paid FERIBEKEG
during the year (i) 51,185
Interim dividends declared and paid FAEE R MK Z
during the year (ii) FHA AR (i) 30,326
Final dividends proposed after the EEBEBEXRBEBKRARS
balance sheet date (iii) % B (iii) 68,390 56,402
()  The Board of Directors proposed final dividends of i)y BE-_ZTZ—ZFTF=-ARAB &1
RMB56,402,000 (RMB5.5 cents per ordinary share) and WESFE EF2Ea kN E
a bonus share issue of 1 bonus share for every 40 existing EZTENF+ZA=+—H
shares then held in respect of the year ended 31 December FTFEHNRARERARE
2009 at the meeting held on 5 March 2010, which was 56,402,000 (F R E @K AR
approved by the Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2010. SSO)RMERE R AIWIRRE
The cash dividends were paid on 20 May 2010 and reflected BT IRAK ERZF —
as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year ended ZTERATHETHNRRESF
31 December 2010. The bonus shares were despatched on AReEHE-REBRERN T —
20 May 2010 and reflected as an appropriation of share TFEFRAZTAHADIE XERHE
premium. ZF-_Z2-ZF+=A=+—8H
FEFEMNRBEMNDBEH KMo
AKRER_ZE-—FTFRAZ-T
BHEBIREAERG &E K-
(i) The Board of Directors has resolved not to declare any interim (il BEFECeEZrTepgEzs_%
dividend in respect of the six months ended 30 June 2010. —TFENA=ZF+HLEARAEAE
K AT Al R ER AR B o
(i) The Board of Directors has resolved to propose dividends of iy EFEgdrganEz_%
RMB68,390,000 (RMB6.5 cents per ordinary share) in respect —ETFEF+_A=Z+—HLHFE
of the year ended 31 December 2010. The dividends proposed & 5 BE B A R #68,390,000 7T (&
after the balance sheet date have not been recognised as a R EBBRARM6SD) - BEB
liability at the balance sheet date. BEXRBEBREREHRELRR

EEABRARBRAAMR-
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18. EARNINGS PER SHARE (RESTATED)
As required by IAS 33 ‘Earnings per Share’, prior period’s basic and

diluted earnings per share have been restated to include the impact

of the bonus issue which took place during the year. Pursuant to an

ordinary resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting of the
Company held on 10 May 2010, bonus shares were issued on the
basis of one new share for every forty shares.

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2010 was based on the profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company of RMB890,206,000 (2009:
RMB678,520,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,051,128,275(2009: 1,053,302,221
(restated)) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Ordinary shares issued at 1 January
Effect of shares repurchased BE RGNz wE

Effect of bonus issue (note 40)

R—A-—HANBEETERER

AL A% 3% 17 B9 % 2 (K 32 40)

18. BEREBE (KR E )

RERGHENEBRIERAZN] W
RE BEHHENEREAREER
MNEREY UBEFARETOLR
BTN E - RBEARAR_ZT—F
FEATHETHORRBFARE B
BHEBRAZR ARSREN+ K
BT —RABRDOEEHET -

@) EREXEBF
BEZ-Z—ZTF+=RAR=+—
BEFEFESEBRERBMNIRAE
AEIBREREBAEBEMNL SR A
K ®890,206,000t( = T T A
F£: AR #678,520,0007T ) & F
RE#ETETRBZMEFHH
1,051,128275( = & = h, F:
1,053,302,221 B (A& = %)) 5 & -
FFEWT

EERMETFIIH

2009
—ETNF

(Restated)
(E31))

1,025,491,000 1,030,115,000
- (2,503,077)
25,637,275 25,690,298

Weighted average number of ordinary ¥ + =Z A =+ — B /) ¥ @ &

04 F 15 B

shares at 31 December

1,051,128,275 1,053,302,221

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
based on the assumption that all dilutive potential ordinary
shares are converted.

The Company has 16,430,750 share options outstanding
asat 31 December 2010, of which 3,449,125 shares are
dilutive potential ordinary shares. Calculation is performed
to determine the number of shares that could have been
acquired at fair value (determined as the average daily market
share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have been
issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

(b) SREBHERA
SEEREERANKREME
BEBREEBRRESROBER
MBEEEHTEBBOMET
58

AKrawh_—_ZTT—ZT 4+ - A
=+ — H A16,430,7501% i K 17
&) B8 B #E - E P 3,449,1258% i
MBRETHBEL AR -GTED
o R TT AR EBE M MR
R EBEEET BT R
BERAREBEEMREARAKRGHF
HEATMEREET)KRENHR
MEE - EEXHENRGEHE
TEBEHRITEERETER #®
THRMHERB LR
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18. EARNINGS PER SHARE (RESTATED) 18. B R AR (£2)

(Continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share (Continued) (b) BREBEERNEZ)
The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year Hzr—_ZT—ZTHF+_-_HF=+—
ended 31 December 2010 was based on the profit attributable HIEFFESREBESERMN KA
to equity holders of the Company of RMB907,563,000 (2009: NEIBEEEEAEMGLGE N AR
RMB618,232,000) and the weighted average number of #907,563,000c( — & & N, F:
ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effect of A R #618,232,0007T) & ¥ A B
all dilutive potential ordinary shares of 1,102,422,896 (20009: HIETBRBRNMEBEE ST &
1,180,699,260 (restated)), calculated as follows: BB BITE AR MEF S H

1,102,422,896f%( — & T N, F:
1,180,699,260 % (#£ & 7)) ) 5F & -
HEMT

(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (i) EERMETHEHES)
(diluted)

2009
—EFENF

(Restated)
(E )

BB B R Y BUEK)

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares (basic) 1,051,128,275 1,053,302,221
Effect of share options in issue BITEREI LR 227,244 -
Effect of conversion of convertible 3, %ﬁ AEKmES R

bonds (note 37) (B 5£37) 51,067,377 127,397,039

Weighted average number of Rt+t-_A=+—B88HEaR

ordinary shares (diluted) hn ke 18 g )
at 31 December 1,102,422,896 1,180,699,260
(i) Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of (i) AR EBERREFTEA
the Company (diluted) FE 4 % R (2 58)

2010
—e-2%
RMB’000
AR®TF T

Profit attributable to ordinary LB A A E LR F

equity holders (basic) (H A) 890,206 678,520
Effect of effective interestonthe 0] & 4 (5 4 B & 3L H & B

liability component of B 28 E37)

convertible bonds (note 37) 39,369
Effect of gain recognised on Bt AE B 0] 8 5 PT I R

repurchase of convertible W g 80 2 2 (W 5137)

bonds (note 37) (17,248) (49,394)
Effect of loss/(gain) recognised on &t A —J L MmEHFTEEH Fﬁ

the derivative component of REEB/ ()&

convertible bonds (note 37) (Pﬁ ?37) (50,263)
Profit attributable to ordinary TRRBRERSBEAEMGRF

equity holders (diluted) (&%) 907,563 618,232
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.F -BERRE
Fixtures,
Leasehold Motor fittings &  Hotel under
In RMB'000 Buildings improvements vehicles  equipment construction
£E-
HE RER EEh
ES:S i R B 5
Cost: A
Balance at 1 January 2009 “EEANE-BA-H
& e 239,805 29,938 32,478 69,889 - 372,110
Acquisitions fEE - 1,320 1,709 6,914 - 9,943
Disposals (£ (962) 8) (4,965) (12,834) - (18,769)

Balance at31 December2009 —EE A £ + = A

ST-ANE G 238,843 31,250 29,222 63,969 - 363,284

Acquisitions EE 2,899 1,223 5,656 22,010 - 31,788
Transfer from properties under 1 % & th ¥ % & &

development (note 24) (Kt 524) 152,318 - 314 4,801 511,830 669,263

Disposals g3 - (230) (1,835) (6,810) - (8,875)

Balance at31December2010 —E - ZF &£+ = A

=S+t-BNER 394,060 32,243 33,357 83,970 511,830 1,055,460
Depreciation: TE:
Balance at 1 January 2009 “EENE-A-H

& 8 36,867 21,023 20,177 41,287 - 119,354
Charge for the year ERITE 13,982 2,168 3,997 5,369 - 25,516
Disposals 8% (933) 3) (4,381) (12,413) - (17,730)

Balance at31December2009 — EE AL F + = B

S+-ANEH 49,916 23,188 19,793 34,243 - 127,140
Charge for the year FRHE 14,054 957 3,321 7,881 - 26,213
Disposals = - (157) (206) (1,598) - (1,961)

Balance at 31 December2010 — & — 2 F + = A

=t+t-HH&E& 63,970 23,988 22,908 40,526 - 151,392
Carrying amounts: BRMEE:
At 31 December 2010 R-ZZB-Z£+ZH

=t-H 330,090 8,255 10,449 43,444 511,830 904,068
At 31 December 2009 R-2BAE+ZA

=+-1H 188,927 8,062 9,429 29,726 - 236,144

(i)  Allbuildings owned by the Group are located in the PRC. (i) Zl; ESEHBENEEFHOLR
.

(i)  Asat31December2010, buildings and hotel under (ii) m:g—gﬁﬂ':ﬂE‘F—E”’
construction with a total carrying value of RMB563,497,000 AKBEERAFEERAEARS
(2009: RMB131,179,000) were pledged as collateral for the 563,497,0007L( = T T N F: A
Group's borrowings. R #131,179,0007T) M) 12 F &

BEHRBEERAFAEEBENK
e
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20 ML EE
Contractor qualification AEBHER

2009
—TEENF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARBT T

Cost:

Balance at 1 January R—A—B#&# 1,700
Acquisitions o gic =
Balance at 31 December R+=-_A=+—H

Amortisation: ey

Balance at 1 January B—A—B®&&%

Amortisation charge for the year FRBERXZ

Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—HBMN&EH

Carrying amounts: bR & :

Balance at 31 December RT+ZA=+—HB0#&#%
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A B B AR B R

21.

22.

LAND USE RIGHTS 21. L b fF B &

2010 2009
—®-%8% C—TTAF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AR®T T

Cost: AN
Balance at 1 January R—A—BM&® 83,205 86,862
Transfer from properties under development 8 % 5 2% & /4 ¥
(note 24) (M 51 24) 9,279 -
Additions 0 = 2,419
Transfer to properties under development & % = 2% & 1 ¥ %
(note 24) (K 3£ 24) (6,076)
Balance at 31 December Rt+t-_A=+—B0&E&% 92,484
Amortisation: ey
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bm&sH
Amortisation charge for the year FANEBEAX
Transfer to properties under development &% # 2= %3¢ & i 4 %
(note 24) (Pt 52 24)
Balance at 31 December Rt+t_A=+—BW&&#% 10,752
Carrying amounts: IR E
Balance at 31 December Rt+-_A=+—B8#&&#% 81,732
Land use rights represent lease prepayments for acquiring rights to TR ME 2 AR R
use land, which is all located in the PRC, for own use properties. T FRAEANNHAERMNRE 25
THREERAYE-
As at 31 December 2010, land use rights with carrying value of nil RZEBE—ZFTF+_A=+—"8B &K&
(2009: RMB53,717,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group'’s EEEMAEONEARESZ(ZEE
borrowings. hF o AR ¥53,717,0000T) B + #b
AREERRNEEEEMNERG-
OTHER INVESTMENTS 22. Hi |k &

RMB’000
AR¥ TR

A ESREE 13,032

Available-for-sale financial assets

Equity securities held for trading BERXRSENNEREH 16,115 1,228
As at 31 December 2010, available-for-sale financial assets represent RZZE—-—ZTF+ZA=+—8"
the Group’s 2.81% equity investment in XDM Resources Inc, which A E SR EEREZKRSEENXDM
is incorporated in Canada and is engaged in minerals exploration Resources INCAY2.81% % # 1% & * % A
and development. AR N2 K FE A LI E R E B
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A B B W AR B R

23. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 23. BE W HE

2009
—ZEETNF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTR

FEREE @ & A

Completed investment properties

held to earn rentals or for BEEL EMER®
capital appreciation or both HNEEKXKKEEY (a) 1,223,000 1,138,500
Investment properties under HBEARAIBERPOKE
construction or development Y ¥ (b) 725,000 502,000
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+ —BH&& 1,948,000 1,640,500
(a) Completed investment properties held to () BEHRBMBEESHELREE
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or REULMEAEZENE &
both RIREY %

2010 2009
—g-%F5 -TTAE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFRT ARE®TR

Balance at 1 January R—A—B8&&% 1,138,500 723,000
Additions =l 1,374 -
Transfer from completed properties #E# B D 2R FE W ¥

held for sale (note 25) (B 3% 25) 1,476 149,558
Transfer from investment properties B M h sk B R 1

under construction or & & W% (b)

development (b)

Fair value adjustments: NHhEEHAE
Transfer to profit or loss EE e B 13,650 265,942
Balance at 31 December R+ _A=+—HBHW&E® 1,223,000 1,138,500
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A B B AR B R

23. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 23. REWE(E)
(b) Investment properties under construction or (b) BEEPHBRERINBREYHE

development

Balance at 1 January

Additions bl
Transfer from properties under EEBEERPME
development (note 24) (M 5E24)

Transfer to investment properties (a) & # %= 3% & 1) % (a)

W—R— B8

2010 2009
—g-8F —TEINE

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T

502,000
75,447 -

= 250,688
(68,000) -

215,553 251,312

Fair value adjustments: NABEAE:
Transfer to profit or loss EREEE
Balance at 31 December R+—ZA=+—HBW&E

725,000 502,000

All the Group's investment properties are stated at fair value at 31
December 2010. The fair values were arrived at based on valuations
carried out by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited. The valuations,
which conform to the Valuation Standards (First Edition 2005)
on Valuation of Properties published by the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, have been determined by reference to comparable
sales evidence and, where appropriate, by capitalisation of net
income. The revaluation gains have been credited to profit or loss
of the respective year, or, in the case of revaluation gains arising on
transfer of an item of property, plant and equipment to investment
properties following a change in use, to equity directly.

As at 31 December 2010, investment properties with a total carrying
value of RMB1,160,654,000 (2009: RMB521,935,000) were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings.

AEERMBRENER-_F —
EFET_A=tT—HHBUQA
BEAKR - 2ABEDNRERAR
ROBERRAAETHMBENE
E-ZEHERBEFENEMR
CERMHMELEERE(ZZFT
AEF-HRET A2EBLR
HEEERR(E R BB KA
FREAMCMEE - EfKREC
FARENBEG WEME K

BEREWEMNELS MU=
AEZF AR

R—ZE—ZTHE+-_A=Z+—8"
AEEBEBEEBBEARE
1,160,654,000 C(Z T Z L F : A
R #521,935,0007T) M) 1% & ¥ %
EAEAEEEBEENERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A O B B % B R

24. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

be completed:
— within twelve months

Properties under development expected to 78 £ # 7 LA T~ HA & 22 A 9

24, R P Y E

2010
—e-2%

2009
—TETNF
RMB’000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR®T R

— beyond twelve months

BRPYE:
—+ZE AR 4,921,467 2,963,347
—+ =A% 3,600,904 4,235,962

Balance at 1 January
Cost capitalised
Transfer from land use rights (note 21)
Transfer to land use rights (note 21)
Transfer to investment properties (note 23)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment
(note 19)
Transfer to completed properties held for
sale (note 25)

2010
=

RMB’000
AR®BT R

2009
—ETTNF
RMB’000
ARBEF T

W—A—B84&H% 7,199,309 4,359,630
DN W o 4,955,101 4,860,061
EEA T A ECEE21) - 5,955
R R T A E21) (9,279) -
EEERE Y E23) - (250,688)
HEREDE BELEE

(P 5£19) (669,263) -
EREODEREEDE

(Bt 5£25) (2,953,497) (1,775,649)

Balance at 31 December

R+t-_A=Z+—88#&#% 8,522,371 7,199,309

Interest capitalisation included in the above:

Balance at 1 January
Cost capitalised (note 13)
Transfer to investment properties
Transfer to property, plant and equipment
Transfer to completed properties held
for sale

B2t A LA B I E R

F B

R—A—BXN&E#% 206,926 116,808
A& AL (B EE13) 261,454 194,943
EREHREDE (3.353) (9,514)
EREME BEREB (28,272) -
EREODENGFEDE

(108,680) (95,311)

Balance at 31 December

Rt+_A=+—B88&&#% 328,075 206,926

The properties under development are located in the PRC.

The weighted average capitalisation rate of borrowings is 6.24% for
the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: 5.03%).

As at 31 December 2010, properties under development of
approximately RMB6,370,161,000 (2009: RMB3,918,502,000)
were pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings.

BERPAVEALNFE-

HEzE-_Z-ZF+-_F=+—H8 1t
FE - EBENNEFEFHELRLELFNE A
6.24% (Z T ZT 1LF :5.03%) °

R-ZTE—ZTF+-_A=Z+—HB K&
B E K HEELDHARE370,161,000
T(ZZEZE N F: AR¥3,918,502,000
TINERTMEFEAAIAEEREEDN
AR G o
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A A B B AR B R

25. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 5. CERGEYE

2009

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T T
R—A—BM&E® 235,635 509,861

Balance at 1 January

Transfer from properties under HEREBEREDBYEMTE2)
development (note 24) 2,953,497 1,775,649
Transfer to cost of sales BESEERA (2,682,436) (1,900,317)
Transfer to investment properties (note 23) & & % % & 4 2 (Kt 5% 23) (1,476) (149,558)
Balance at 31 December Rt+t_A=Z+—B8&&% 505,220 235,635
All completed properties held for sale are located in the PRC. MMEBECEXKEEMELHMNRFPRH-
As at 31 December 2010, completed properties held for sale of R-_EBE—ZFTFE+_A=+—"8B K&
approximately RMB 13,150,000 (2009: RMB25,592,000) were EHEMEELDAKRE13,150,0007T(=
pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings. T N F: AR #¥25592,000T)H B
ERAEVMEERAEEREENK
A
26. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 26. BE QN A ERE

2009
—EETNF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AR T T

Shanghai ZhongXin Asset LEREBEEKE
Management Co., Ltd. BR A (a 110,144 115,999

The Peninsula Shanghai Waitan EBNEEERIE
Hotel Company Limited B R QA (b) 1,149,466 873,823
Shanghai Zhaozhi Shiye Co., Ltd. FEHEEEXEERAQA (@ 3,637 -

1,263,247 989,822
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26. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Shanghai ZhongXin Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. (“Shanghai ZhongXin")

Cost of investment & & KR
Goodwill on acquisition WEEANEE
Share of post-acquisition profit oG UK BB 12 s
Loan B &

26 BME QA ERE

(a)

LBERBEERERARD
A(EERE]D

2010
—E-%F

2009
—EEZNF
RMB’000
AR T T

RMB’000
AR®T R

26,933

2,794
59,417
21,000

110,144 115,999

The loan to Shanghai ZhongXin of RMB2 1,000,000 (2009:
RMB33,000,000) represents the Group's proportional share
of a shareholders’ loan, which is unsecured, interest free and
has no fixed terms of repayment.

The Peninsula Shanghai Waitan Hotel
Company Limited (“Peninsula Waitan")

Cost of investment & & i K

Additional investment in paid-in
capital

Share of post-acquisition

profit/(losses)

EMEHERARZEKE

(b)

o 16 W & 08 R 18)

MEEBRERHENERARY
21,000,000 c(ZZEZENF: AR
£ 33,000,0007T) - BD 7K & & fr (4
BREERIHD REER 22
REEEERE-

LEMAEXEBERRQ
Al Ex 5]

2010
—e-2%

2009
—EENF
RMB’000
ARET T
867,013

RMB’000
AR®T R

867,013
13,665 13,665

268,788 (6,855)

1,149,466 873,823

Peninsula Waitan is 50% owned by the Group, and is
engaged in development, operation and management of The
Peninsula Shanghai Waitan Hotel.

The share of post-acquisition profit of Peninsula Waitan for
the year ended 31 December 2010 was mainly attributable
to the revaluation gain on Peninsula Waitan’s investment
properties.

SN B h A KB B A50%AHE
VTHRERAE KL REE LB
B EIHIE -

BE-_F-TF+_A=+1—
BIEFED BN M+ S KER
MEFTEREBIBELEREY
EmEMS M-
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A O BB % B R

26. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(c) Shanghai Zhaozhi Shiye Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Zhaozhi")

®E KK
o6 WEE & i A

Cost of investment
Share of post-acquisition profit

26. &N B RER(E)
() LemEgxaRAA(E
EEE])

2010

2009
—EENF

RMB’000
AR® TR

3,633
4

RMB'000
AR®T T

Shanghai Zhaozhi is 36.33% owned by the Group, and is
engaged in development of commercial properties.

(d) Summary of financial information relating
to the associates, not adjusted for the
percentage of ownership held by the Group,
is as follows:

31 December 2010

In RMB'000 Assets

ARBT T gE

Shanghai ZhongXin L5 R & 752,487

Peninsula Waitan b # ¢ B 5,251,845
Shanghai Zhaozhi Lt &8 & 37,851

31 December 2009

In RMB'000

AR®TTT

tERE
o B

Shanghai ZhongXin 768,822

Peninsula Waitan 4,279,216

FEHEHAEEE BF53633%
fete W SRMEYMEREERS-

d TXFREZIHEBE QXAW

HEERBEEGSRBER
EEELEREZE L MA
2

—E-ZH+=-A=+-—-H

Shareholders’

Other
liabilities

loans and

equity Revenue Profit
RERERK

HitB & s D& il

385,340
2,924,229

367,147
2,327,616
10,011

43,736
332,887

20,486
550,235

27,840

—EZAFE+=-A=+-—H

Shareholders’

Other loans and
liabilities equity Revenue
REER K
Hip & fE £t g
382,161 386,661 33,000 167,533
2,501,851 1,777,365 38,346 39,643
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27. INTERESTS IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 27. HEZEHERER
ENTITY

2009
—TEENF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARB T
KR A& 738,468

Tianyuan Lifeng

Cost of investment & AR 758,476
Share of post-acquisition losses DG U EE & B 1B (20,008)

738,468

Tianyuan Lifengis 50.1% owned by the Group, and is mainly ABPNE2HARKEFREE01% =8
engaged in property development in Haikou, Hainan Province, the R R A FOTREWERE-
PRC.

Summary of financial information relating to the jointly controlled TYXFENHHERIZHEEN B
entity, not adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by the BRI E N ABIE A S B E(EZR
Group, is as follows: E AR R

31 December 2010 —_E-ZFEE+_-_A=+—H

Current Non-current Current Non-current
In RMB'000 assets assets liabilities liabilities Income Expense
R B R B
ARBTR hRBEE EE RBAE && A i3

Tianyuan Lifeng 1,420,370 377,397 441 1,131,119 64 40,000
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28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY 28. F A AR E — A 2 7

2009

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T T
EETRG - EKA 3,914,405 3,914,405

Unlisted shares, at cost

Cumulative fair value of share options B¥ T AA1ES®EKE
granted to employees of subsidiaries MEBAARAEBE 20,687 20,687
3,935,092 3,935,092
The Company's major operating subsidiaries are as follows: ARAAMEEZLETFRAANT

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
AQTEEER
BAL
Place and date of

Name of company incorporation  Direct Indirect  Registered capital Principal activities
DREER HAMRLEHRASE B afEx TEFH
%

SPG Investment Ltd. British Virgin Islands, ~ 100% - USD1T  Investment holding
2 March 2004 1ET RERR
EBRLEE
“ZTME=AZA
Delta Link Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands, ~ 100% - USD100  Investment holding
6 May 2004 1007 REER
RBRAEE
“ZZWERARA
Shanghai Cambridge (Group) Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 98.24% USD67,670,000  Property development, sales
LEER+E (RE) BRAAF 25 August 1998 67,670,000%7  and lease
HE —AANE EHERYE  HERHE
NAZt+HRA
Shanghai New Independence House Property the PRC, - 88.42% RMB5,000,000  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. 17 January 2001 ARE5,00000000 MEERRS
LERBRNEERARAT HE - ZFTF

—AttH
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28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

(Continued)

Name of company

RAER

Shanghai Cambridge Country Club Co., Ltd
HERRFEBNELIERAR

Shanghai SPG Land Property Development Co., Ltd.
HERRENEHERRERLA

Shanghai SPG Hotel Development Co., Ltd.
HEERBEERERAR

Shanghai Sipo Education Development Co., Ltd.
( “Sipo Education” )
LERBHERRARLRA ( [BRHE])

Shanghai Sipo Polytechnic
TRBERNER

Shanghai Sipo Vocational Technical Training Centre

L BBRERIEIR O

Shanghai Oriental Cambridge Property Development Co., Ltd.
LR RREHELRRERAE

Place and date of
incorporation

R 2R A 5

the PRC,

22 November 2001
HE ZET-F
T—A=+=H
the PRC,

14 August 2002
e

“ZZ-F)\RTWA

the PRC,

1 December 2006
HRE -

ZETF+ZA-H

the PRC,

9 October 2001
HE
ZET-E1+ANA

the PRC,

15 Apri 2003

hE - —FT=F
MA+EA

the PRC,
14 October 2003
o —FEF

— T

TATMmA

the PRC,

26 September 2002
HE - CTECF
NAZ17<A

28. TRARBE —XRQRAE)

Percentage of

equity attributable
to the Company

FAFEGER
BAl

Direct
B
%

Indirect
Gk
%

97.26%

98.14%

98.24%

65.96%

65.96%

65.96%

100%

Registered capital
EMESR

RMB5,000,000
ARES5,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AEH10,000,0007T

RMB405,500,000
AR #405,500,0007T

RMB70,000,000
AR¥70,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000
AR5,000,00070

RMB200,000
AK#200,0007T

RMB650,000,000
ARE650,000,0007T

Principal activities

TERH

Clubhouse operation
BHEE

Property development, lease
and management

FlERS BHERER

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERSE HEREE

Investment holding

BARR

College education

ENYE

Technical training and
technology consultancy

SR R iR

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  BEREE

187
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A O BB % B Rk

28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

(Continued)

Name of company

DRER

Shanghai Lishui Greenery Ecology Engineering Co., Ltd.

BB TRERAF

Shanghai Cambridge Construction Consulting Co., Ltd.

LSRRt BRERHERAA]

Shanghai Shikang Property Consulting Co., Ltd.
LRt RRELAERAT

Shanghai Zhuxi Investment Enterprise Co., Ltd.

EEREREREBRAR

Huangshan SPG Property Development Co., Ltd.
BLESYBEHNEERARAT

Huangshan Cambridge Property Development Co., Ltd.

BLFRYBENERRARAH

Huangshan SPG Land Development Co., Ltd.
EESENERERAA

Place and date of
incorporation

SRS R A

the PRC,

7 November 2003
- ZZE=F
+—A+A

the PRC,

29 April 2004
FE - —EENEF
MA-tAR
the PRC,

7 January 2003
HE - ZET=F
—AtA

the PRC,

2 December 2003
hE - CTE=F
+-A=AR

the PRC,

7 January 2004
FE - ZZTME
—AtH

the PRC,

22 July 2004

HE - ZETRE
tA=+=H
the PRC,

16 August 2007

FE - ZFTTLE
NA+<A

28. TRAEBE —XRAE)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
VNS 3
BAt

Direct Indirect

Ef
%

- 100%

- 100%

- 98.14%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Registered capital
EMESR

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007T

RMB500,000
ARH500,0007C

USD140,000
140,000 7T

RMB30,000,000
AR30,000,0007T

RMB120,000,000

AK#120,000,0007C

RMB50,000,000
A&H#50,000,0007

RMB100,000,000

AE#100,000,0007T

Principal activities

FEXK

Landscape construction
project
EHEQEL]

Project management,
consulting and services
ERER  FARRH

Property agency and
consulting

MERE R

Industry investment,
management and
business consulting

BERE  ERRERHS

Hotel development and
operation

EEREREE

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  HEREE

Property development, sales
and lease

FIERE  BEREE
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28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY 28. F A RK®RE — &K QD 7(4£&)
(Continued)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
LONEI] A 4
Bl
Place and date of

Name of company incorporation  Direct Indirect  Registered capital Principal activities
AR SRR BHRAE  EE EE afER TEEHK
% %

Huangshan Shengyuan Hotel Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB150,000,000  Hotel development and
ELRRBERRERAR 17 August 2007 AR 150,000,0007 operation
e BEREREE
ZERHENATLAR
Huangshan Shengzhi Hotel Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB150,000,000  Hotel development and
BRFEEERERAT 17 August 2007 ARH#150,000,000  operation
mE BEREREE
ZZELE\ATLH
Huangshan Shengdi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB150,000,000  Property development, sales
B EEERBRAR 16 August 2007 AK®150,000,000  and lease
- BHERE  HERES
ZZTEFNATAA
Huangshan Shengde Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB150,000,000  Property development, sales
BLRERHEERERAR 16 August 2007 AK®150,000,000C  and lease
e FHERYE HEREE
ZZREENATRA
Huangshan Shengjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB15,000,000  Property development, sales
BLEAEHERRARAH 11June 2009 ARH15000000C  andlease
e FHERYE HEREE

“2RNFRAT-A

Huangshan Shengwei Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB15,000,000  Property development, sales
BIERENEEREBRAR 11 June 2009 AK#15000,000C  and lease
HE FiERE  HEREE

“FENEARTR

Huangshan Shengheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB34,000,000  Property development, sales
BEEFHELRERAT 11 June 2009 ARH34,000,000C  and lease
e BHERE HEREE

“ERAERATH
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28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY
(Continued)

28. TRAEBE —XRAE)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
ARG
BAt
Place and date of

Name of company

DRER

incorporation  Direct Indirect
SMRUBHRASE EE
%

Registered capital Principal activities

SMEF FEXREK

Huangshan Hiddentigger Club Management Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB1,000,000  Property management
BB RERERERAA 7 July 2009 AE#1,000,00000  services
e FHEEERE
ZTTNELALA
Kunming SPG Land Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB142,500,000  Property development, sales
ERRSENERARAF 9 November 2006 AR¥142,500,000  and lease
e EHERY  HERHE
—ZTRET-ANA
Kunming SPG Grand City Development Co., Ltd the PRC, - 100% USD40,000,000  Property development, sales
RRES IEEERBRAA 15 June 2007 40,000,000%7T  and lease
e - BHERE  HERES
ZZZHERATRA
Shanghai Zhujia Cambridge Property Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB280,000,000  Property development
LEGERBYERHEREERAR 24 September 2003 AKH280,000,0007T  and sales
HE - ZETT=F FHERE REE
NAZ+EA
Suzhou Runjian Property Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB550,000,000  Property development, sales
HMNBEREEBERLA) 28 September 2007 AR #550,000,0007T and lease
lE S EHERY  HERHE
AAZTAR
Suzhou SPG Property Management Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB500,000  Property management
HMESNERBERAA 5 March 2009 ARH500,000T  services
- NEERRE
—ETNE-ZATA
Suzhou Runjian Property Management Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB500,000  Property management
B ERNERBERAR 8 December 2009 ARES00,000  services
HE - ZTTNF MEERRS

+ZANR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B B AR B R

28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY
(Continued)

28. TRARIKE —XRAE)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
ARRELER
BOK

Name of company

RAEH

Wuxi Guosheng Property Development Co., Ltd.
EORRFEREARAT

Wuxi Shenglian Property Development Co., Ltd.
BORMEEREERAR

Hainan Jiangiao Property Corporation Ltd.

BREREXARARA

Hainan Jiangiao Property Management Co., Ltd.

BRERNEEEARAF

Wuxi Xishuidong Advertising Culture Media Co., Ltd.

EHFKRESX(LBRARRT

Hubei Huazhong Constructing Co., Ltd.
L EPRERHEREART

Changshu SPG Land Development Co., Ltd.
ERRBEEREARAF

Place and date of
incorporation

A2 A

the PRC,

2 November 2007
HE - ZETLF
t-AzH

the PRC,

2 November 2007
-

ZE2RLET-AZH

the PRC,

4 January 2008
hE -
“ET\FE—-FINA

the PRC,

4 January 2008
HE
—EEN\F-AlA

the PRC,

9 June 2009

i -
ZZTNERANA

the PRC,

21 May 2009

HE - ZEENF
AA-t+-A

the PRC,

12 July 2007

HE -
“ERHELATCH

Direct

B
%

Indirect
G
%

100%

100%

100%

88.42%

100%

100%

100%

Registered capital
AMER

HKD425,000,000
425,000,000/ 7T

HKD425,000,000
425,000,000/ 7T

RMB115,000,000
ARE
115,000,0007T

RMB1,000,000
AKH#1,000,00070

RMB500,000
AR #500,0007C

RMB20,052,000
AEH20,052,0007T

RMB200,000,000
AEE200,000,0007T

Principal activities

FERH

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE HERES

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERE  HEREE

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERY - BEREE

Property management

services

MEEERS

Advertisement services

BERS

Construction and
decoration services

RERKERS

Property development, sales
and lease

FHERY - BEREE
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28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY 28. ¥ A AR E — & 7 (4&)

(Continued)

Name of company

DREH

Place and date of
incorporation

AR 32K A A

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company
AR RELER
BAK

Direct Indirect
E#
%

Registered capital
EMER

Principal activities

IREH

Changshu SPG Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB350,000,000  Property development, sales
BARMEXERAA 24 October 2007 AK#350,000000  andlease
HE ZETtE BUERE  HERES
+A=+mA
Wuxi SPG Land Information Consulting Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% USD20,000,000  Project management,
BREREREAERAR 5 June 2007 20,000,000%7C  consulting and services
el el ERER  FARES
~ALAE
Shanxi SPG Land Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% USD20,000,000  Property development, sales
LEERERERBRAF 27 August 2009 20,000,000%7T  and lease
HE - ZETNE EHERYE  HERHE
NAZt++H
Wuxi Xindu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 60% RMB200,000,000  Property development, sales
EOFHEEREBRAF 29 January 2010 AR200,000000T  and lease
HE Z5-%F BiERE  HERES
—AZthHE
Wuxi Shengdong Property Development Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development, sales
aRRREEREERAR 6May 2010 AR¥200,000000C  andlease
HE - ZE-% FHERE  HERES
TARAE
Shanghai Yingjie Industrial Co., Ltd. the PRC, - 100% RMB10,000,000  Investment Management
HEEREEERAF 28 April 2010 AK10,000,0000  and consulting
HmE —T-TF ®E - ERNEA

mAE=+/N\R
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28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

(Continued)

Name of company

RAEH

Tianjing Hengzhi Investment Management Co., Ltd.
AREEREERARLH

Tianjing Hengxuan Investment Management Co., Ltd.

RRESFREEEBRAT

Tianjing Runheng Investment Management Co., Ltd.
REBEREERARAT

All these entities are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note
3(a)(i) and have been consolidated into the consolidated financial

statements.

Place and date of
incorporation

e bR A

the PRC,

14 December 2010
mE . —T-TF
+=A+mA

the PRC,

14 December 2010
RE - ZT-TF
+=A+mA

the PRC,

14 December 2010
TEZF-FF
+=AfEA

28. TRARIKE —XRAE)

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

KAFEERER
Bk

Direct Indirect

HE EE
% %

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Registered capital

EfEx

RMB10,000,000
AK#10,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AEH10,000,0007T

el

Principal activities

FEXH

Investment Management
and consulting
BREERH;

Investment Management
and consulting
REATEL#A

Investment Management
and consulting

BEEEREN

LB R R E3@)0) TR E
RENRE AU AGENE
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29. TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
ADVANCE DEPOSITS

—E-FF
RMB’000
ARMTR

Receivables due from related parties: [ U 74 & A + FIE -

— Subsidiaries — f A7
— Other related parties —Hip@EAL (M
(note 46(c)) 46(c))

W E=TTE SR

Trade receivables due from third

parties BRR
Advance payments to contractors  FEf ARG FIE
Advance deposits for acquisition of Uz + 315 FRAEE)FE
land use rights &
Non-trade receivables H At FEUR
Tax prepayments TBBT K
Total &FF

The receivables due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Non-trade receivable balances, deposits and advances to third
parties are expected to be settled or recovered within one year.

Tax prepayments mainly represent prepayment of business tax
during the pre-sale stage of certain properties under development.

5,499
74,480
2,714,149

221,504
252,728

3,270,269 864,878 590,743

Company

AT
2010
—E-Ef
RMB’000
AR®T T

2010

2009
ZEENGF
RMB‘000
AREFTE

RMB’000
ARETT

590,711 184,255
32 32

590,743 184,287

5,381

65,265

457,767

149,203
183,211

166,297

350,584

EUHBEEATRELSERER ER
ARERKEER-

HMEURAEEHR T2 RENE=
FTHREABRAR -—FRBEIKE-

BFRARAEIZEERBESTERT
MEMBEZEER-
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29. TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 29. EWBRA - HM BB R R
ADVANCE DEPOSITS (Continued) ERZEEE)
The ageing analysis of trade receivables at each balance sheet date FEWEZRREEEABBRENER
is as follows: SO T

Within 90 days

Over 90 days and within 180 days
Over 180 days and within 365 days

Over 365 days

90H N

HiBI0H £180H
Hi#®180H £E365H N

B i®365H

2009

—EENF
RMB’000
AR T T

RMB’000
AR®T R
4,611

388
500

30. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE

30. & Hi FE IR X

Group
TEE
Term Initial Cost 2010 2009
FH TR ZB-BF TTNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥BTR ARETT
Long-term receivable & 5 BE WK 10years 1,300,000 939,672 -
Less: Long-term receivable due W —F AR R T4
within 1 year e X (125,486) -
Long-term receivable due —FEIHrRE
after 1 year JEWTR 814,186 -
The amount is repayable AN B URE M) FR0R
as follows: o
Within 1 year —FR 125,486 -
Over 1 year and within 2 years BB —FEMFA 113,103 -
Over 2 years and within 5 years HBMEZRFA 247,166 -
After 5 years BBAFULE 453,917 -

939,672 -
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30. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE (Continued)

31.

Long-term receivable represents shareholders’ loan provided to
Tianyuan Lifeng. The amount is non-interest bearing and repayable
in 10 annual instalments of RMB 130,000,000 each, starting from
11 June 2011. Interest income of RMB48,236,000 (note 13) was
recognised in relation to the long-term receivable during the year
(2009: nil).

RESTRICTED CASH

Pursuant to relevant regulations, certain subsidiaries of the Group
which engage in property development have restrictions on their
ability to draw cash from specified bank loan accounts for uses
other than the purchase of construction materials and payment
of development costs relating to the relevant property projects.
As at 31 December 2010, the bank account balances subject
to these restrictions amounted to RMB702,765,000 (2009:
RMB1,578,673,000).

Furthermore, as at 31 December 2010, cash at bank of
RMB1,282,771,000 (2009: 830,075,000) was pledged for bank

loans.

30 R EE WKWK (42)

31.

RBERFERB#ETIXRENZHR
REFR - ZEXRBEARARE KRBT
——F XA+ —BRBRDIOFEE &
H U B & % A A R #130,000,000 7T °
REHERRBENHNSKRAARE
48,236,000 (Kt E13)E RN FRAHER(Z
ETNGFE) o

ZREBRAE

REBBERN AEEETREDE
BEHNTRAABEERTERFP OR
BRSEABERZEMHEINER
MEBEHEBRANINALR AR
RS - R —ZTF+=_A=+—
H - BETZSERHMBITEOLEH
A AN R#702,765,00070( — B E N & ¢
A R #1,578,673,0007T ° )

oy RZZE-FTF+_A=+—H"
|ITTFR A ARKMN,282,771,0007T(=
=T L AR #830,075,0007T) A
RITE XA EA o
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32. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

An analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents is set out

below:

Cash at bank and cash in hand

Less: restricted cash (note 31)

ROTERERASE

o REBHIRS
(BHEE31)

NEBEEREESZEEY
BHeMBLEEYWNESHRIITWT :

Group Company
TEE RAF
2010 2009 2010

225
RMB’000
ARBTR

3,499,975

—ETNFE SRR
RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFL  ARMTR

5,447,693 743

(1,985,536) (2,408,748)

1,514,439 3,038,945

Cash at bank and cash in hand is denominated in:

RMB AR
usb E
AUD RIT
HKD BT

3,444,433 5,341,673
25,705 90,313

- 7

29,837 15,700

3,499,975 5,447,693

RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the

PRC government.

SR o

2009
—ETNGF
RMB’000
ARETTT

2,070

ARBYFEBRZIBER P EE
HARMEE TS B KA GG OE

197
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A B B AR B R

33. TAX PAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ 3B.EMNBE EEHEE
(LIABILITIES) B (aE)

(i) Current taxation in the consolidated balance (i) SEEEEBEBRNEEHF
sheets represents: B

PRC income tax RMB’'000 RMB'000
Rl AT 18 B AR Tt AR T T

Balance brought forward TR 78,005

Provision for PRC enterprise income 4 (A b B 1 2 P 15 B¢ 8 &

tax for the year (note 14) (B 5E14) 299,260 228,047
PRC income tax paid B A B AT E R (226,833) (153,269)

Balance carried forward Fel 150,432

2009

—EENEF

PRC land appreciation tax RMB'000 RMB'000
fE L i 3 E B AR®T ARBF T

Balance brought forward A Rl 4 #R 488,658 320,329

Provision for PRC land appreciation 4 A &) /1 B + i 1% (B 5 # &

tax for the year (note 14) (P 3E14) 362,997 214,032
PRC land appreciation tax paid O B+ b 3% (E AR (122,156) (45,703)

Balance carried forward EREE 729,499 488,658
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33. TAXPAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (Continued)
(ii) Deferred tax assets recognised:
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the
consolidated balance sheets and the movements during the
year ended 31 December 2010 were as follows:

33.

Temporary

difference

on revenue

EfAHEEZHEE

B/ (&R #E)

(i) E-MAELEBEBEEE :
BEERAEEERBEERBERNE
EHRBEBEESXNMERBEZ
—EE+ - A=+-BHLEE
WEHWT :

Land
recognition appreciation

and related tax and other

cost of sales accruals Tax losses
WA R
BRHE T ESH
%N RE A
gR=E FEstIE R B E1E &5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRT AR¥®TR
At 1 January 2009 —ZETNF—H—H - 82,860 5,289 88,149
Additions = 70,880 45,746 25,583 142,209
Charged to profit or loss e bawinlcy - (2,922) (14,467) (17,389)
At 31 December 2009 —TTNF+—-A
=+—H 70,880 125,684 16,405 212,969
Additions i 5,830 81,689 14,912 102,431
Charged to profit or loss B R (13,830) (1,716) (12,715) (28,261)
At 31 December 2010 —T—TF+—-AH
=+—H 62,830 205,657 18,602 287,139
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33. TAXPAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (Continued)
(ii) Deferred tax assets recognised: (Continued)

BEMNABE ELEHEE
E (a8 E

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had unused tax losses
of RMB182,100,000 (2009: RMB146,280,000) available to
offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of the tax losses of RMB74,408,000
(2009: RMB65,616,000) at the applicable income tax rates
of the respective subsidiaries as at 31 December 2010.
No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect
of the remaining tax losses of RMB107,692,000 (2009:
RMB80,664,000) due to the unpredictability of future taxable
profit streams of the individual subsidiaries concerned as at
31 December 2010. The unrecognised tax losses for the year
ended 31 December 2010 will expire in the following years
ending 31 December:

PRC land appreciation tax

R L i E

(i) SwAIELS HEE:

(&) :
RZE—-—ZTF+ZA =+ —
H-KN&EBEATAREHERKR
MOADATBEEBERARE
182,100,000 ( Z T & AL F: A
R 146,280,000L) - N = & —
TEF+ A=+ —B BBH%
BEZERNFARER X
HWRNECHEBEBEEAARKE
74,408,000c( = T T L F: A
R #65,616,0007T ) © B R T 8
EMETEHMAEEZEBNRKRE
BRI N T = O
R =ZFE-—ZFTF+=RA=+—
BY RABEARRBEBEBARYE
107,692,000t (= & T L F: A
R " 80,664,0007T ) T 3R & &
BEE REBEE-_ZT-—ZTF+=
A=+—BLEFENRBEBRY
BEBBERUNTEHEZ+ZA
—t—BLEFER®:

2010 2009
-85 -TTAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FR ARETL

11,145
11,509
11,987
16,014
57,037

107,692
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33. TAXPAYABLE/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (Continued)
(iii) Deferred tax liabilities recognised
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated balance sheets and the movements during the
year ended 31 December 2010 were as follows:

Withholding
tax

Rtk
RMB'000

AR®T T

At 1 January 2009 —EEAF—A—F 4,400
Charged to profit or loss e Enwinlcy 14,000
Realisation for the year FERNER =
At 31 December 2009 —EENFETZA

=+—H 18,400
Charged to profit or loss friEm MR =
Realisation for the year FERNER (18,400)
At31 December 2010 —ZE-TF+R

=+—H

34. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS

Current R

Secured bank loans ERBRITER
Unsecured loans EE I E X

Current portion of non-current secured ERBRTEHEZRN

bank loans BN HA & 19

ARBT

BENARE EEHEE
E/(&E)GE)
(i) EERBIELEB BB E

REBAAERBRERN B
EHABEBHRABE T
— 25 +-A=t+-RLEE

Revaluation
of
investment

properties

REMH

Fair value
adjustments
RREE
Eiiik: &%
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT AR%TxR

Total

Eff
RMB’000

112,039 234,596
123,770 =
= (27,303)

351,035
137,770
(27,303)

235,809 207,293
72,733 49,537
- (73,679)

461,502
122,270
(92,079)

308,542 183,151 491,693

3. 5t E B X

2010
—E-ZF

RMB’000
AR¥ T

2009
—EENF
RMB’000
AR T T

971,694 695,747
- 800,000

563,000 640,000

1,534,694 2,135,747

Non-current R

Secured bank loans BEERBRITER

Unsecured loans | E

Less: current portion of non-current B EEFRITRBAE R
secured bank loans BN EA & 9

4,280,386 3,791,292
630,000 -

(563,000) (640,000)

4,347,386 3,151,292

201
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34. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS (Continued) 3. ST EE R(E)
As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s secured bank loans were R—ZE—ZEF+_AF=+—H K&
secured by the following: BN EEARABRTERNUNTI S IEE
AER
(i) the Group’s properties and land use rights with a total carrying 0 7K £ B B [ 42 (8 A R #£8,107,462,000
amount of RMB8,107,462,000 (2009: RMB4,650,925,000) T(ZEZTHE  ARE4650,925,000
(notes 19, 21, 23, 24 and 25); TT) B E R M (E R (M EE19

2123 24K%25)

(i) pledged time deposits of RMB1,282,771,000 (note 31); and () BT ETE A RK1282771,00070
(fEE31) &
(i) charges over equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the iy AEBEETWHEBELD T KR ARSI
Group. 3 o
The Group's non-current bank loans were repayable as follows: REBHWESHEFETERE R T H
i & 32

2010 2009
-85 -TTAF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AR T T

Within 1 year —F R 563,000 640,000
Over 1 year but less than 2 years BB —FEMFR 1,823,730 1,070,932
Over 2 years but less than 5 years HEA—_F=2RAFNR 1,247,107 1,825,117
Over 5 years WA A FE 1,276,549 255,243

4,910,386 3,791,292

The effective interest rate of the year ended 31 December 2010 was RBE-_Z-ZHF+_-_H=+—H
as follows: IFFENERMNEMAT

Bank loans R 1TE;

Bl

The carrying amounts of current and non-current bank loans EHEEHRTEZRMNEREE QA
approximate their fair value. BEMER -



BEEHERERAIT —T-TFFH 203

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A o B B % B R

35. TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND ADVANCE
RECEIPTS

—2-2F
RMB’000
ARBTR

FEfTRIEALHRIE

Payables due to related parties:

2,675,084

Non-trade related: H A FEATFR -
— Dividends payable — BB
(note 46(c)) (M 5 46(c))
— Subsidiaries — FRA]
— Other related parties — H S AT
(note 46(c)) (B 5 46(c))
Trade payables AN
Advance receipts from customers  FEUE P I
Other taxes payable Hith A HIE
Dividends payable FERAR B
Non-trade payables and Hib R RATERE B
accrued expenses
Total &FF

The payables due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of trade payables at each balance sheet date is
as follows:

Within 90 days 90H
Over 90 days and within 180 days
Over 180 days and within 365 days

Over 365 days and within 3 years

1,752,740
5,303,410

382,095

10,162,183

HBiBI0H £180H K
HBiB180E 3650 N
HBi#B365B E3F R

B(.ENER - HUEHESRE
8 K &K E

Group
AEH
2010

Company
AT
2010
=
RMB’000
ARET T

2009
2ENG
RMB'000

ARETTE

2009
ZEENF
RMB’'000
AREF T

878,558

2,665,911

21,935 878,558
1,118,601
3,578,948

85,005
96

48,758
96

788,291

5,592,876

ENEEATIREARERR RER
AREXRKEE:

11,921

890,575

ERNERREEERNRESITET :

Group

rEE
2010
—E-2%
RMB’000
AR TR

970,307
471,033
235,298

76,102

RMB’000
ARBFT

1,752,740 1,118,601
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36. LONG-TERM PAYABLE 36. & Hi FE {3 &

Group
AEE
Initial Cost 2010 2009

MERA  —B-BF —TENE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFLE ARETI

Long-term payable REAFERTR 15 years 58,453 48,738 51,301
+HE
Less: Long-term payable due within  J& : —SF R 2| EAH R
1 year ANEN (6,000) (6,000)

Long-term payable due after 1 year — & E|HiR)RE]
FERTR 42,738 45,301

The amount is repayable as follows: AT EEHE R FIE

LU
Within 1 year —&FR 6,000 6,000
Over 1 year and within 2 years BE—FEMERN 5,682 5,613
Over 2 years and within 5 years BBMFEERFA 15,296 14,757
After 5 years BB AFNALE 21,760 24,931
48,738 51,301
Long-term payable represents construction cost payable to a RHENZIEEN —ZEEmHEE
contractor. The amount is non-interest bearing and repayable in KA - ZEREAERE 2 Z
15 annual instalments of RMB6,000,000 each, starting from 1 NELA—BEDISFEEE  SHE
September 2008. E o %A ARM6,000,0007T °
Company
PN
2010 2009
—E2—2fF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARB T
Due to subsidiary AT AR RIE 952,229
Long-term payable represents amounts due to certain subsidiary. RENREBEENETFR2aHK
The payable is interest bearing and repayable over one year but B ZERERMNFEBEE  WERBBRB

within two years. —FEMFRNEE -
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o W B ok B e

37. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Convertible bonds

On 27 April 2007, the Company issued USD Settled Zero
Coupon Convertible Bonds due in April 2012 in the aggregate
principal amount of RMB1,158,000,000. The subscription
amount payable in respect of each unit of the Convertible
Bonds is RMB100,000 (approximately USD12,952). The
Convertible Bonds are listed on Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The details of the principal terms of the
Convertible Bonds are set out in the Company’s 2007 annual
report.

On 29 December 2008, the Company repurchased 1,000
units of Convertible Bonds with a total principal amount
of RMB100,000,000. The bonds were repurchased with
atotal consideration of USD5,858,946, equivalent to
RMB40,000,000. These bonds were cancelled upon
repurchase.

On 25 February 2009 and 19 May 2009, the Company
repurchased 540 and 1,144 units of Convertible Bonds
with total principal amounts of RMB54,000,000 and
RMB114,400,000 respectively. The bonds were repurchased
with total considerations, including transaction costs,
of USD4,079,508 and USD14,221,425, equivalent to
RMB27,864,000 and RMB97,084,000 respectively. These
bonds were cancelled upon repurchase.

On 27 April 2010, the Company used an aggregate
amount of approximately USD128,000,000, equivalent to
RMB874,500,000 to redeem the Convertible Bonds with
an aggregate principal amount of RMB817,700,000. The
redeemed bonds were cancelled upon the redemption.
The gain of RMB16,745,000 in relation to the liability
component was recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2010.

L=

- 1T

AT IA

(a) WHEKER

RZETEEFWAB =+ 8
KRB BHTASBEBERARE
1,158,000,000 /L A =T — = F 1Y
ABBMUETENHT B
EHmESF BEATEBESD
RIEL %A AR100,000 75T (4
12,952 7T ) o Al B IR (& H R
MEFHZZABR AR L™ -
FRATEBRELANEZHRANF
BERARR _TEELFFR -

RZZEENFEF+ZAZ=Z+HE
N A &) B8 [211,000 15 7] 86 3% F &
(#8758 A A R M 100,000,000
)  BRZEBFNERER
5858946% ;L HE RN AR
40,000,0007C - ZEEH R EE
&k dH o

W ZEZETAFEF A -+ HHAH
rF—_ZEZAFAATAB K
A 7 5 B8 [B1540 15 & 1,144 19
AEBRELF(BEXSEIIA
A R #54,000,000 T & A R ¥
114,400,000 7T ) » ME Bl % F & %
MERB(BEXZKER) D5
£4,079,508 % JT K& 14,221,425
Ex 2 EERARIE
27,864, 000E&AE¢1§97 084,000
T ZEBAERBEEIETH -

%*§*%¢EH*+tE~$
~ A B) A 42 & §8 £9128,000,000
%E7n<$ﬁ—r )\EQm%874sooooo
L) MEBRARSBEARE
817,700,000 T & 7] 84 ¥ (& % o
EEEMESNER &N -
EHREBEBEBMHORKREZARE
16,745,000 CE R B EZ T —F
F+-_A=Z+—HLFENRAE
PEMBRABER -
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37. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Convertible bonds (Continued)
On 27 October 2010, the Company used an aggregate
amount of approximately USD 11,600,000, equivalent to
RMB77,700,000 to fully redeem the remaining outstanding
Convertible Bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
RMB71,900,000 ("Outstanding Bonds”). The Outstanding
Bonds were cancelled upon the redemption. The gain of
RMB503,000 in relation to the liability component was
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2010. The
accumulated balance in capital reserve of RMB14,903,000
in relation to the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company was released to retained
profits.

The fair value of the embedded derivative of the Convertible
Bonds was calculated using certain valuation models. The
major inputs used in the models as at 27 October 2010 (date
of full redemption) and 31 December 2009 were as follows:

Stock price i (&

Exercise price THRE
Risk-free rate =R R
Expected life TEET B W F H

Volatility B

7.5TEE M I AE)
(a) T E#]E%(E)

RZZE—ZEF+A=+tHB-
AR E B A A #411,600,000
%7t (% »n AR #77,700,000
TL)BER 2 A TH M AREERA
EBEHRES BRAASRLREAA
R #71,900,000 7T ([ 4 K E & (&
FD o HMAREBEESFNEMDRE
HiE - AHEBBEIMHOKEAR
K503, 000 cEREBEZT—F
F+_A=Z+—HLEFENEKS
%Eﬂfﬁ%lﬂﬁﬁ%oﬁ%ﬁ%?ﬁ%%
EHDAANR LT BRAEZR
RERXFEFNRTHEBRARE
14,903,000t 2 BB 2R B AT ©

AERESFZBRARNITETAD
AREEERE THERAGT
cM_FE-FF+H-TLH
(2BELOER) R _FTAF+
“A=1t—R RERAMER
MEEHBEMT

]

iﬂﬂi

Redemption option of

the Company
AR R FEERE
27 October 31 December
2010 2009
—z-%%
+ A
=+tH
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBF T

HKD4.127& 7t HKD4.67/87T
HKD7.283# 7T HKD7.537 7T
0.375% 0.734%

18 months 28 months
+/\EA —+)\&8A
59.85% 87.37%
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37. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Convertible bonds (Continued)

The stock prices were the closing prices of the Company
at 27 October 2010 and 31 December 2009 quoted in the
stock price table available on the official website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The exercise price was
adjusted to HKD7.28 on 20 May 2010. The risk-free rates
were determined with reference to the Hong Kong Exchange
Fund Notes Yields as extracted from Bloomberg. The expected
life was the remaining life of the Convertible Bonds. The
volatilities were determined based on the historical price
volatility of the Company.

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will result
in changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative. The
variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair value
of the embedded derivative are based on the directors’ best
estimates.

The movement of the liability component, the embedded
derivative and the equity component of the Convertible Bonds
for the year is set out below:

component

R EEHG
RMB’000

AR¥T T

As at 1 January 2009 —ETNF—-FR—H 1

RBE-_TTIEF

Interest charged during the

1,029,227

7.7 2RI A(E)

yearended 31 December ~ +=A=+—H1t
2009 FEANMEHRHFE
Changes in fair value PREBEEH
Derecognised due to BRI B 1 4% | E R
redemption
As at 31 December 2009 ZZENFF+ZA
_-i— =
Interest charged during REBE-Z—ZF
the year ended TZA=+—RAI1
31 December 2010 FERNMETROFE
(note 13) (MI5E13)
Changes in fair value AREEZD
(note 13) (H3E13)
Derecognised due to FE 8 [e] 7 4% LE B RR0)
redemption (i)
As at 31 December 2010 RZZ—ZF+=A

(165,954)

902,642

13,857

(916,499)

() 7 & E % ()

RMB’000
AR®T R

BEABAHBARIFABR AT

BHALMRERBAR AR
:§—§¢+H:+t5&:;
THAhE+-_A=+—BHKD
B -TEER-_ZT—ZFRHAC-
+THEABRET728F T - EEKBF
RE2BHEBINERE S BB KT
X(@mEae %)é%m T8 &
ERFHHAERESNBTF
By o RIBAIBBARRRINELE
RIEEMET °

MzRANETEHBLREM
B LEZRRAATETA
MAREBEELRES -FEHRA
AMET AN QR EEFAME
BOEHEERBRDERESEH
RAEME -

FRN - AEREFNAERH
ﬁAﬁﬁiIEM&%ﬁﬂ@
mE e FEREH T

Redemption
Liability option of the
Company

RAFH

Equity
component Total
i {Eg G E ) =i

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR®TR

(3.382) 109,164 1,135,009

- 39,369
(50,263) (50,263)

2,154 (10,542) (174,342)

(51,491) 98,622 949,773

13,857

20,748 20,748

30,743 (98,622) (984,378)
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37. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37.5TE€m T A(E)

(Continued)

(a) Convertible bonds (Continued) (a) T EHEBEH(Z)
The changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative from BAXRTEIAEN AR BEEAR
31 December 2009 to 31 December 2010 resulted in a fair —_ZETZTAF+_A=Z+—HZE
value loss of RMB20,748,000, which has been recorded as “Fair —_E-ZEF+_A=+—HFHM
value changes on financial derivatives” in profit or loss for the EANEHEHR AL BEEIR
year ended 31 December 2010. A R #20,748,0007t B B 15 R

ERINABE-_FT-—FTF+ =
A=+t —-BLFENMNBERA
HAMMTESRIANAREE

28] —H-

(i) The allocation of consideration paid and transaction )y BEHEEBEODNZNREBREX
costs for the redemption and calculation of resulting SHKAB DR EFEASRE
gain or loss is as follows: XWEHEFENMT

Carrying value Fair Value Difference

RREIE ARMEE =8

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBT T AR®T T

Liability component aEBH 916,499 899,251 17,248
Issuer's redemption option 1T AHYBE O] (30,743) (30,743) -
Equity component =i 98,622 83,719 14,903

Total &5 984,378 952,227 32,151
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37. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)
(b) Financial derivative assets

37.5TE€ M T A(&)
(b) FTELREE

) & w5 (B 5E13)

Interest rate swaps (note 13)

During the year ended 31 December 2010, interest rate
swaps, denominated in Hong Kong dollars, have been entered
into to achieve an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate
exposure. At 31 December 2010, the Group had interest rate
swaps with a notional contract amount of HKD400,000,000
(2009: Nil) to fix the interest rate of certain bank borrowings
so as to reduce the impact of interest rate fluctuation. The
swaps mature over the next 2.5 years, matching the maturity
of the related loans and have fixed swap rates ranging from
0.79% t0 0.995%.

The fair value of interest rate swap is determined by
discounting the future cash flows of the contracts at the
current market interest rates. The changes in the fair value
during the year resulted in a fair value gain of RMB625,000,
which has been recorded as “Fair value changes on financial
derivatives” in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2010.

2010
—g-%F
RMB’000
AR®TF T

625

2009
—EENF
RMB‘000
AR T T

HE-_ZT—ZTF+RA=+—
BIEFEBBE XA/ EB5 2
LAV T3 (B /9 A = 52 Hf - DA
BEENEERZFHANERARK
HE- RZZE—ZFTF+ A=
T—B AEEMEXEHNE
# B #9451 5400,000,0007% T.( =
ZENF:R) - BEE TR
BB KR K LUK R XK
BWER- 2 EBHERKK25F R
NHE-ERESGMEEE RS D H
H-BERBAMNENF079% =
0.995% °

MNEEHOAABEDLKRER
MGEFMERREOORRKRR
PREEE - FANAREME
CHEF LA ABEEREARE
625000t EREE_T —F
F+ZA=Z+—BLEFENF
BERANFAMESRIAR
AREEZH]—HFE-
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38. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 38. EERIANER
As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group participates BERFREEBET AEBAHEELHN
in various defined contribution retirement plans organised by ZEA ™ RE RBUTEPPT R0 R EH R
municipal and provincial government authorities for its employees. RIKEFEE - AEEEREENES -
The Group is required to make contributions to the retirement plans SREN - TEAT BB T2 #920% B 22%[A) iR
at rates ranging from 20% to 22% of the salaries, wages, bonuses RetE8 M - SHHRFIMHAABEREEK
and certain allowances of the employees. The local government EEXNE2EEKRSE

authorities are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to retired employees.

The Group has no other obligations for the payment of pension M Lt EEHRIIN - KREBEBWHEE M AR
benefits associated with those schemes and other post-retirement HEHEAREMERERAMENRSHE
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above. H1E o
39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 39. R
(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are as @) BHEENGRREKEHFDT -
follows, whereby all options are settled by M EEREYNEBEER
physical delivery of shares: RGO EE

Number of
shares involved Contractual

in the option Vesting condition life of options
BREMSR MBI
HROBE BEKRHE SRR

Options granted to directors:

BFESHNBRE

—on 19 September 2006 7,500,000 (i) 25% on the date of grant at an exercisable price 5 years
of HKD3.824 per share; (i) 25% on each of the first,
second and third anniversary of the date of grant at an
exercisable price of HKD4.302 per share

-RIZETXFAATNR (YWERIHE B25% R BR3.824B LM THESRE : 54
(WELBENE—  F_RE-MBFEHEE
25% IR RA.302B TR TR B ERE

-on 3 December 2007 10,000,000 25% on the date of grantand on each of the first, 5 years
second and third anniversary of the date of grant at an
exercisable price of HKD6.526 per share

“RIETLFE+-HA=H RELEARRRERBNE -  F_RE=@BF 54
RE - S RIEE25%MBIRERIZEMR6.526/8 TH1T
EERE
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 39. R (E)
(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are as (@) BREEENBRIAREFDT
follows, whereby all options are settled by MITEERENEBEER
physical delivery of shares: (Continued) TROEE : (&)

Number of
shares involved Contractual

in the option Vesting condition life of options
BREFYR RN
HROEE BEGHYE BHRHR

Options granted to employees:

BT EENBRE:

—on 19 September 2006 11,040,000 (i) 25% on the date of grant at an exercisable price 5 years
of HKD3.824 per share; (ii) 25% on each of the first,
second and third anniversary of the date of grant at an
exercisable price of HKD4.302 per share

“RZZZXRFAATNE (VAR E H25% IR ER3.824 8 TLHITHEBRE - 54
(PELEAHNE—  F-RE-FAAFABREE
25% AR Ek4.302B THIT R ERE

A
-

—on 10 October 2007 640,000 30% on the date of grant, 30% and 40% on the first 5 years
and second anniversary of the date of grant at an
exercisable price of HKD6.3 per share

“RIEELETATH 30%MIREE AR - M30% K%40% 7 BIRA R T A 55
NE-RE_EREADRERE  TREHRERE3E
TT

—on 30 October 2009 9,000,000 (i) 1/3 on the date of grant at an exercisable price of 5 years

HKD4.59 per share; (i) 1/3 before the first anniversary
of the date of grant as and when the average of the
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the past
10 consecutive business days immediately preceding
the date is higher than HKD8 at an exercisable price
of HKD8.00 per share; (iii) 1/3 before the second
anniversary of the date of grant as and when the
average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the past 10 consecutive business days immediately
preceding the date is higher than HKD12 at an
exercisable price of HKD12.00 per share
TNETA=TH () 1BRAREE BARER4 B THITEERE ¢ (i) 54

1BREHEBNE—EARFEBA RN EEZBANE
BEEEEE X R EREHR T ERERMTIN
TR AN YT (B = 8 T AR X 8.00/8 TLATT i
BERE ¢ (i) 13K A B & — ([EB 5 A AT
ZRZANERAEE VAL ERERBRIMEA
WEXRMIMTARG KT ESR1 2B TR TRER
12.00 TR TEERS

— A

s
Al
Al

Total share options
BREZSF 38,180,000
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 39. BRPp T (E)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise b) BREZSEBRMNEELTHYT
price of share options are as follows: FEEMT :

Year ended 31 December 2010 Year ended 31 December 2009
HEZ-T-EF BE_ZTINF
+t-A=+-RHLEFE +-—A=+—HBLFE

Weighted Number of Weighted Number of

average sharesinvolved average  shares involved
exercise price in the options exercise price in the options
BRE TR

ik B2 R I FT B
fTEE RDEE T8 BuE-A=

R—A—BrHEKTE BLLORG 19,350,000 B[ OLWYEY:Viv 12,785,000

Outstanding at 1 January

Granted BEY - — | HKD8.197/8 7T 9,000,000
Exercised BI7fE = - - _
Bonus issue impact BITHIIRE & - 483,750 - -

Lapsed BERM HKD7.0697% 7T (4,059,000) WOy v (2,435,000)

Outstanding at 31 December  A+=-HA=+—H
HARTTHE HKD5.6163& 7T 15,774,750 IO b5 19,350,000

Exercisable at 31 December M=—A=+—8
{7 HKD4.1417%& T 12,699,750 B OYRELY: T 7,714,500

The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 have an
exercise price in the range of HKD3.731 to HKD11.707 and
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.93 years
(2009: 5.76 years).

During the year ended 31 December 2010, three employees
voluntarily resigned from the Group and therefore ceased
to be entitled to the share options granted by the Company.
On 30 October 2010, the vesting condition of 3,000,000
share options granted in 2009 was not satisfied and relevant
employee ceased to be entitled to such portion of the share
options. The number of shares involved in the above lapsed
share options amounted to 4,059,000 shares with a weighted
average exercise price of HKD7.069.

During the year, an expense of RMB3.9 million (2009: RMB6.5
million) in relation to share-based payments is charged to
administrative expenses in profit or loss.

R-ZE—ZTFE+-A=+—HHEkKT
EzEREZITEENFITNET
2170782 8 mE s MEFEH
ABRBRABIBF(ZZEZNF : 576
F)o

BHz—_Z2—ZF+_A=+—H1t
FEHH —REEEHEEASEE
B AL TBEEZEARRRAM
BHZERE - R-_ZT—ZF+A
=+H  ZZZTAF K H#3,000,000
1D RERR M ) 57 B I R RK - BUE
HEBEEZAZBONERE - £
MEABEREMSERORNDEE A
4,059,000& f 1+ hN#EFHITEE A
706978 JT °

FRN - EERMNIAHAIARE
3000000 (ZEZENF: AR
6,500,0007T ) B 7 FE & AT E A
—IEE -
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40. SHARE CAPITAL 40. BRZA
(a) Authorised and issued share capital (@) ZEERESBITRA

At 31 December 2010 and 2009
RZZE—TFERZZTTNF

+-—A=t+—8
The Group and the Company
REERARE
No. of shares Amount
iz 1n 2 B % %
(thousand) HKD’000
(F &) T T
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each f& EE0.1% T 1) & @ AR 10,000,000 1,000,000

2010 2009
—g-2x —TThE
No. of shares No. of shares

of nominal of nominal
value of Nominal value of Nominal
HKDO.1each  value of shares HKDO.1 each value of shares
BREE1ET BREMEIET
HROHAE REEE olbanr 4] RIDE(E
(thousand) RMB'000 (thousand) RMB'000
T AR¥T T i ARBTT

BEITRER

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January n—A—H 1,025,491 104,347 1,030,115 104,818
Bonus issue of ordinary BITEARAR
shares (b) (b) - -
Shares repurchased and BRI RTH
cancelled Bt (4,624) @71)
At 31 December RTZA=t—H 1,051,128 106,591 1,025,491 104,347
(b) Bonus issue of ordinary shares (b) RITEBRAR
Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Board of Directors BER_ZT—ZTF=FHBE
meeting held on 5 March 2010, a bonus issue was made to THESESSRLBAMNEE
the shareholders whose names appear on the register on X AR RNRTHEBA B ZE
the record date, 10 May 2010, representing 1,025,491,000 —ZEFRATBE)ZHBEEM
shares in total, on the basis of one bonus share, credited A R% 3 (& $£1,025,491,0000% A% 17)
as fully paid, for every forty shares held on the record date, BTk - EEARNGEHEBH
resulting in the issue of 25,637,275 shares of HKDO.1 each, BAEMN TR MDTEE—KRA
ranking pari passu with existing shares in all respects but they R RBERRNAK B
did not rank for the final dividend declared by the Company %% 1725,637,275 T IR E (B0.15
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009. THERG ZERMHESH EH

AAEBEODEZAERSEEZ HXT
FEARBARBE_ZTTNF
TZA=+T-HILEFEETRHD
REIB B -
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41. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

N ROBREREE

(@) The Company @ ZA21F
Capital reserves (undistributable)
ERGE (RTE)
Retained
Capital -convertible - employee profits/
Share redemption  Contributed bonds equity share (accumulated
premium reserve surplus  component option losses) Total
EARRE -ERES RERA/
Ri&E fie EBMER BRI -ERERE (RHER) £
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETn ARMTn ARETR ARETR ARz ARETz ARETn
(note d1(b))  (note 41(c)) (note (i) (note 37) (note 39)
(Wamp)  (HE00) () (a3 (H&E30)
At 1January 2009 RZZENE-A-B 2,081,584 760 308439 109,164 35173 (47428) 2,487,692
Equity-settled share-based transactions & ZHRA TS - - - - 6,467 - 6,467
Repurchase of convertible bonds ERE - - - (10542) - - (10,542)
Purchase and cancellation of own shares: B E JizHs#E 551
— premium paid —E2H&E (10,254) - - - - - (10,254)
— transfer between reserves —REEER - i - - - () -
Dividends declared to equity holders B iR EATERE - - - - - @151 (81511)
Profit for the year EEEH - - - - - 134,585 134,585
At 31 December 2009 and RZZEAET=A=T-R
1January 2010 R-E-%£-f-H 2,071,330 1,231 308,439 98,622 41,640 5175 2526437
Equity-settled share-based transactions R EMRHT AR S - - - - 3899 - 3,899
Bonusissue of ordinary shares (note 40) - /T & BRI (Fi540) (2,244) - - - - - (2,244)
Repurchase of convertible honds EERER
(note 37) (Mz37) - - - (98622) - 14,903 (83,719)
Dividends declared toequity holders — ERRIERAAZ RS - - - - - (56,400  (56402)
Profit for the year ERR - - - - - 189,212 189,212
At 31 December 2010 RIE-ZE4-B=1t-A 2,009,086 1,231 308439 - 45,539 152888 2,577,183
Note ():  The excess of the consolidated net assets represented by WEE) : I FARRO G FE

the shares of the subsidiaries acquired over nominal value
of the shares issued by the Company in exchange under
the Reorganisation was transferred to the contributed

surplus account in the Company’s financial statements.

ERBARANEMFETL
NRMZERNEEZ ZHE
BEAQRAMBRERNEHK
REHBE
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41. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

(o)

(d)

(e)

()

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2007 Revision), the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
the business.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value
of the shares repurchased which has been paid out of the
Company’s distributable reserves.

Merger reserves

The merger reserves represent the difference between the
Company’s share of the nominal value of the paid-up capital
of the subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the
ordinary shares issued by the Company.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve relates to property reclassified
from owner-occupied to investment properties. For such
reclassifications, the cumulative increase in the fair value of
the property at the date of reclassification in excess of any
previous impairment losses is included in the revaluation
reserve.

PRC statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to PRC statutory reserves
were made in accordance with the relevant PRC rules and
regulations and the articles of association of the Company'’s
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC and were approved by
the respective boards of directors. The statutory reserves
consist of:

(i) General reserve fund
Transfers from retained earnings to the general reserve
fund were made in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries and were
approved by the respective boards of directors.

For the entity concerned, the general reserve fund
can be used to cover previous years' losses, if any, and
may be converted into capital in proportion to equity
holders’ existing equity holdings, provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of
their registered capital.

M RPBREREEE)

(b)

©

(d)

(e

®

IR A7 i &
BEERNSAZRAERERFDE
FRE - RIEMERBREDE(ZF
TLEFBAAN)  ARABRDEER
MEZA DK TARBRIR - HERE
DK EERR - NRARMEBERES
BEABEBTNEHRER -

N ERE
AR R AR A R A D IR
B2 BERGEE

BOtE
B REERERREARRR T AR
REAEERARNRRETHERR®E
EMER

Effhf#EE
EfHREESFTOBERREYMENA
RYWEEH - ARSEFIEAMS -
MERRBERENDER BN RET
EiRBE B R EBENEET AE
G

FEDEE
BRI B R E D EAE AR
7 B o 2 91 45 91 B 2 R
B AT A R B IR M AIET -
TREEEEFGUE - FEHER
i

) EEBHLES
mRBENEBREEAERBRA
BENIRBEARRFAANE
THAETT YEEEESRS
#fE -

RAEBENRRME  EATAH
NEETAERBE EFEES
() - MAlRRERE AR
R 35 IR B R B IR AR - M
HBEHRTBIONFMRER
#925% °

SE-TEFHR 205
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41. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES (Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

PRC statutory reserves (Continued)

(ii) Enterprise expansion fund
Transfers from retained earnings to the enterprise
expansion fund were made in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
and were approved by the respective boards of
directors.

For the entity concerned, the enterprise expansion fund
can be used for business development purposes and for
working capital purpose. This fund is non-distributable
other than upon liquidation. Transfers to this fund must
be made before distribution of dividends to the equity
holders.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3(b)ii).

Distributable reserve

As at 31 December 2010, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company was RMB2,531,644,000 (2009:
RMB2,386,175,000).

Capital management

The Group's primary objective in managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurate with the level of risks and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowing and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
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41. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES (Continued) 41, RSB #E (Z)

(i) Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted equity
ratio. For this purpose the Group defines net debt as total
debt (including interest-bearing loans, convertible bonds,
long-term payable, trade, other payables and advance
receipts) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

The net debt-to-adjusted equity ratio as at 31 December 2010
was 288% (2009: 159%). There were no changesin the
Group's approach to capital management during the year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

42. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group has arranged mortgage loan facilities for certain
purchasers of property units and provided financial guarantees
to secure obligations of such purchasers for repayments. The
outstanding guarantees amounted to RMB819,864,000 as at
31 December 2010 (2009: RMB948,420,000). Such guarantees
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the real estate
ownership certificate which will generally be available within six
months after the buyer takes possession of the relevant properties;
and (i) the satisfaction of the mortgaged loan by the buyer of the
properties.

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the fair values of the
financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at initial
recognition and the directors consider the possibility of default by
the parties involved to be remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2010.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 43. ¢RI A

The Group conducts its operations in the PRC and accordingly is
subject to special considerations and significant risks. These include
risks associated with, among others, the political, economic and
legal environment, influence of national authorities over pricing
regulation and competition in the industry.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of
financial instruments:

o credit risk
o liquidity risk

. market risk (including interest rate risk, currency risk and

equity price risk)

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each
of the above risks, and the Group's objectives, policies and processes
for measuring and managing risk.

Management has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Group's risk management framework. Management
establishes policies to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, to set up appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor
risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group’s activities. Through training and management standards
and procedures, management aims to develop a disciplined and
constructive control environment in which all employees understand
their roles and obligations.

(a) Creditrisk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from
the Group’s trade and other receivables and investments.

The Group’s management has a credit policy in place and
exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade, other
receivables and advance deposits. In respect of trade and
other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed
on each new customer. The Group's review includes external
ratings, when available, and in some cases bank references.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s liquidity to make
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Customers are generally required to
transact with the Group on a prepayment basis. The Group
generally offers no credit terms to customers and does not
usually obtain collateral from customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has
influences on credit risk, but to a lesser extent. At the balance
sheet date, the Group had a certain concentration of credit
at 83% (2009: 53%) of the total trade, other receivables and
advance deposits arising from the Group's deposits for land
acquisition. These deposits will be transferred to the cost of
properties under development upon the Group obtaining the
relevant land use rights.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account
of any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments,
inthe balance sheet after deducting any impairment
allowance. Except for the financial guarantees given by the
Group as set outin note 42, the Group does not provide
any other guarantees which would expose the Group or the
Company to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk
in respect of these financial guarantees at the balance sheet
date is disclosed in note 42.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade, other receivables
and advance deposits are set out in note 29.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are placed
with a group of banks and financial institutions which
management considers have good credit ratings. Investments
are normally only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised
stock exchange and management does not expect any
investment counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from banks to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet of the Group's non-
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay:

Undiscounted

Carrying  contractual
31 December 2010 cash flow
KBRS
ARRERE
RMB'000

ARBTR

amount

—E-2£4+-A=1-AH REE
RMB'000

AR

A& EERNTA

Trade, other payables and

advancereceipts excluding UGB ETBHEE

advance receipts from WEFHE

customers 4,858,773  (4,858,773)
Unsecured interest-bearing & Bzt 8 E

loans 630,000 (740,464)
Secured interest-bearing loans & ##t 8 & 5,252,080  (6,063,722)
Long-term payable REEMR 48,738 (72,000)

10,789,591

(11,734,959)

43. SRIE(E)

(b) FENEEE
mEERBANEEERHAELRE
TEMBEBNRR - NEBRBUR
ATHERERYELTEE LT
REZAONER  BREFTENES
FEHERNBITESEANETOME
S - LA A o A R
REESER -

TERAMNEEBAKEITESR
BEETAXAENREBER - 5%
EFNARBRRERE (BREEEH
MRk (¥ %) BHE B E RN EG
HOMEMNR) RAKEAEFE2N
RHZRFAHREREED

Within 1
yearoron

Within 2
years but

Within 5
years but Over5
demand years
—ERg
RMB'000

ARBTR

over 1 year
MER
B-FUL
RMB'000
ARBTR

over 2 years
REHNRA
BREAL
RMB'000
ARBTR

BENL
RMB'000
ARBTR

(4,855,302) (3471)
(61,200)
(1,810,910
()

(679,264)
(1,495,320)
(6.000)

(1,891,348)
(18,000)

(866,144)
(42,000)

(6,733,412)  (2,184,055)  (1,909,348) (908,144)
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

43. SRTE (&)
(b) FEERER(Z)

Within 1
year or on

Within 2
years but

Within 5
years but

Undiscounted
Over5
years

Carrying contractual

31 December 2009 demand
—FRY

REX
RMB'000

ARBTT

amount cash flow over 1 year
MER
B E
RMB'000

ARETT

over 2 years
BEIR
BRI L
RMB'000
ARETT

ARHE

“EEAET-A=t-H WRE(E
RMB'000

ARETT

RENE
RMB'000
ARKFT

RMB'000
ARKFT

Trade, other payablesand ~ FERERZL - AR FUE

advance receipts excluding  REUGIEET AR

advance receipts from WxFFE

customers 2,013,928 (2,013,928) (1,972,387) (41,541) - -
Secured interest-bearing loans At 8 &5 4487039 (5102132)  (1512946)  (1,187,486)  (1,743,858) (657,842)
Unsecured interest-bearing ~ EF#At S &R

loans 800,000 (860,607) (860,607) - - -
Long-term payable REERF 51,301 (78,000) (6,000) (6,000) (18,000) (48,000)
Convertible bonds EAESR 902,642 (951,362) - - (951,362) -

8,254,910 (9,006,029) (4,351,940) (1,235,027) (2,713,220 (705,842)
(c) Interest rate risk © FIERE

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-
bearing loans, convertible bonds, interest rate swaps, cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash comprise
mainly cash at bank, with an interest rate of 0.36% per
annum as at 31 December 2010 (2009: 0.36% per annum).
Pledged bank deposits and time deposits maturing after three
months are not held for speculative purposes but are placed
to satisfy conditions for borrowing facilities granted to the
Group and for higher yield returns than cash at bank.

The Group's variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk
of change in cash flows due to changes in interest rates. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the interest-bearing
loans and convertible bonds are disclosed in notes 34 and 37.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
The Group manages the net exposure to interest rate risks

(9]

by maintaining sufficient lines of credit to obtain acceptable

lending costs and by monitoring the exposure to such risks

on an ongoing basis. When appropriate and at times of

interest rate uncertainty or volatility, interest rate swaps may

be used to assist in the Group’s management of interest rate

exposure.

0]

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings at the balance
sheet date:

43. SRIE(E)

(© F=mb(Z)
AEBBBERFAECNEEREUE
EEXRARRAIET KN BBEE
B R IR E IR R R FRE o 7
T B 2 R R AR BA S & - A LA
FRAMEEHRGE AR EEE R ER

(G
AA

2010
—2-%F

Effective
interest rate
il

%

Fixed rate borrowings [EEKIZ &
Secured interest-bearing Azt B E
loans 13.71%
Unsecured interest- ERRTEEX
bearing loans 9.71%
Convertible bonds AERES =

Variable rate AEFREE

borrowings
Secured interest-bearing A Azt BB
loans

Total borrowings E)-Fex

Fixed rate borrowingsas  ElE FI R {E EHEE
apercentageof total ~ BBEDLL
borrowings

RMB’000
ARBTR

674,000

630,000

1,304,000

4,578,080

5,882,080

o

FEER
TRAMNEE B AEBEHE

BEFMEER -

Effective
interest rate

RMB'000
ARBTT

2.01% 691,747
6.52% 800,000
4.24% 902,642
2,394,389

5.41% 3,795,292
6,189,681

39%
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

(9]

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and equity. Therefore, a change in interest rates at
the reporting date would not affect profit or loss and
equity.

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates applicable
to variable rate instruments at the reporting date would
have increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by
the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that
all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates,
remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as in 2009.

43. SWMITE(E)
(© F=mEk(2Z)

(ii)

Profit or (loss)

BREDSW
REBWEE AR AR EET]
AR A 18 2 N2 7 B T Y [ 58 A
ZeRMEERAGE At B
REAHMNNEEHTETE
B R o

RBEBRAIZF LT EEH
2= BB 100 1B E B EE 00, Ol
D EZREBER @BIRT
& RO MREBFTA E Al &
F& (CERINEER) REFD
2 —_TTNFHDNIZER
AT o

o

Equity

T-THEFH 223

wAR (FE) &
100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

AW 100EE 5
RMB'000

ARETT

100 bp
increase
12010012 2
RMB'000

NRBFTT

100 bp
decrease
1008 E 2
RMB'000

ARETT

#IN100EEL
RMB'000
ARETTT

31December2010 =—E-E&£+=f
=t+-H
Variable rate AEFETA
instruments (34,336) (34,336) 34,336

31 December2009 —EEAE+=A
=t+-H
Variable rate AEMNETA

instruments

(28,465)

28,465 (28,465) 28,465
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. €T A (&
(d) Currency risk d ExER

Renminbi is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. All
foreign exchange transactions involving Renminbi must take
place through the People’s Bank of China or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The exchange
rates adopted for the foreign exchange transactions are the
rates of exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of China and
are determined largely by supply and demand.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through borrowings that are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which they
relate. The currencies in which these transactions primarily are
denominated are Hong Kong Dollars (HKD) and United States
Dollars (USD).

In respect of the monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that the net
exposures to this risk is kept to an acceptable level by buying
or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary
to address short-term imbalances. The currencies primarily
giving rise to this risk are USD and HKD. Management does
not enter into currency hedging transactions since it considers
that the cost of such instruments outweighs the potential risk
of exchange rate fluctuations.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. ¢MIAE)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) d) E%EREZE)
(i) Exposure to currency risk @ &
The following table details the Group's exposure at TEHhAEBREERES
the balance sheet date to currency risk arising from NEOREZBRELSER NETE
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a Ee S N B HEN A
currency other than the functional currency of the EXaENSERE -

entity based on notional amounts.

31 December 2010 —E-TEFE+=-HA=+—8H

HKD usD
V- E

‘000 ‘000
Fr Fr

JE U BR AR~ E Al B MR TR A I

Trade, other receivables and

advance deposits EAES 10,246 13,000
Cash and cash equivalents BERESEEY 18,892 3,861
Financial derivatives R T A 625 -
Trade, other payables and JE 5 BR B - Eofb E AT BB

advance receipts LA K 7B U 51 1E (3.983) ()]
Interest-bearing borrowings T EER (500,000) (169,850)
Overall exposure 4 3 B (474,220) (152,998)

31 December 2009 —ETNFE+-A=+—8

Trade, other receivablesand  Ji& Uz 8% 7« E b & Ug U IE LA B

advance deposits BN &S 381 -
Cash and cash equivalents WELRBEELEEY 17,831 13,226
Interest-bearing borrowings &t B & & - (119,470)

Overall exposure 48 & & 18,212 (106,244)
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

43. EWMITE(E)

(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥mEKE)
(i)  Exposure to currency risk (Continued) () E%EREE)
The following significant exchange rates applied during UTAERNEANTEER :

(i)

the year:

Average rates
2010

Reporting date spot rate
HERHREER
2010
—Z-2F kS

2009

e

0.8675
6.7255

0.8509
6.6227

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change
inthe Group's profit and other components of
consolidated equity in response to a 5% strengthening
of the RMB against the foreign currencies to which the
Group had exposure at the balance sheet date. This
analysis assumes that the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to each for the
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009.

BT
usD ESD

A 5% weakening of the RMB against the above
currencies at 31 December would have had the equal
but opposite effect on the above currencies to the
amounts shown above, on the basis that all other
variables remain constant.

=% 2k 15

AR¥ TR

BREDF

TRETR  WARBEHATA
SERBEEAFRBROINET
B5% @ AEBENGEN L6 H#E
mEMAYNROEES - KD
TBREERGEEARERER
REMINEEREE)  YOFE
AEEZEENZBFENS
BIAE®ER BEMAEM
AERR(LERNE) REFN
o —ERAFNHMRER
EAEETT -

Profit or (loss)
s Al =% (5 18)
2010

2009
—ZETNF
RMB'000
AR T T

RMB'000

15,152

37,997 27,201

WARER+=A=+—83%
ER BN 5% B Fi
EAAHSK ERSBEAR
FENEE  BRAARGT
BEERSTE o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. EWMIAE
(e) Fair values e AAREE
(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value (@) LAARBEIIEZ2EBIEAE

The following table presents the carrying value of TE2VNEE[ERRY %

financial instruments measured at fair value at the WAELERETHRI ST A

balance sheet date across the three levels of the fair E|RATY AL BE=BEE

value hierarchy defined in IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: AR EBESEZSBT

Disclosure, with the fair value of each financial EEEE mMEe4mI Ay

instrument categorised in its entirety based on the NhBEUEZALEBESS

lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value BEASEB NG ASIEM

measurement. The levels are defined as follows: RS AKE o FTRTE Y BRI

o Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using . E—EBR(ZESER) A
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for BRI TANERME
identical financial instruments. PR B (REHE)HE

RAfEE-

. Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices o E-Eh o ELUS T
in active markets for similar financial instruments, BRNERTIEHRE - s
or using valuation techniques in which all HEEM(ERREEA
significant inputs are directly or indirectly based 5% A BUE Ty B i sk R R L
on observable market data. A RATIESIE AE) L

ERREE-

U Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using o EoEBK(SEEB X)) : B
valuation techniques in which any significant HEEM(EPEE X
input is not based on observable market data. B B T IE AT B AR T

SBEBER/RT)FEAAE
(8 o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. £WMIE(E)
(e) Fair values (Continued) e 2REBEE)
(i) Financialinstruments carried at fair value i) UDAAREEIEzZEMIA
(Continued) (#)
2010 —E—TF

The Group
rEE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F-BRX F-BRX F=ER EH
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT R ARBTR ARBTR

Assets BE
Equity securities held — #1{EE BRI A E 5
for trading

Financial derivatives MESLRIA

The Company
NG|

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE—BAR FEZER B=ER @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR AR¥TT ARETR

Assets &E
Financial derivatives ~ $T4S @ T A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B B AR B R

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. EWMIE(E)
(e) Fair values (Continued) () 2AREHEE)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value @ LANAEBEYWE2SRITA
(Continued) (&)
2009 ZEBENF
The Group
AEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—ER FER FZER Het
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT ARETT ARBTTT
Assets BE
Equity securities held £ S & ) IRARE
for trading 1,228 - - 1,228
Financial derivatives TEERTE - 51,491 - 51,491
1,228 51,491 - 52,719
The Company
/NG|
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—ER BEER H=EN
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARET T ARBTTT
Assets EE
Financial derivatives TEeRT A - 51,491 - 51,491
- 51,491 - 51,491
During the year there were no significant transfers F-BrEE-_BHRITAY

between instruments in Level 1 and Level 2. RS 72 4E PO 3 4 B8 A BRI o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. 2RI A (EZ)
(e) Fair values (Continued) e AREEE)

(ii) Fairvalues of financial instruments carried at (i) YFLUAABEIERZEHIT
other than fair value B
The fair values of financial instruments carried at cost R-E—TER-_TENF
or amortised cost as at 31 December 2010 and 2009, + =B =+ — B AR A S i
together with the carrying amounts shown in the AT BER A BEAGBERN
consolidated balance sheet, are as follows: SMTAZ AL BAERERE

m

2010
=

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

BEE MfERE HEE MfEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARETT

EHERR 939,672 939,672

Long-term receivable

Available-for-sale MHLESREE
financial assets 13,032 13,032 13,032 13,032
Trade, other receivables EUER 2 H b e W
and advance deposits FEREAES 3,270,269 3,270,269 864,878 864,878
Cashandcashequivalents B4 RBELSED 3,499,975 3,499,975 5,447,693 5,447,693
Trade, other payables EREZ HtER
and advance receipts R R E WA (10,162,183) (10,162,183) (5,592,876) (5,592,876)
Interest-bearing loans dEER (5,882,080) (5,882,080) (5,287,039) (5,287,039)
Long-term payable RHAEMAK (48,738) (48,738) (51,301) (51,301)
Convertible bonds TERES - (902,642) (902,642)
(f) Estimation of fair values (H 2REEMGE
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and AAEEMGFTRE—ERE R HEZ
based on relevant market information and information about HEAMSERERAHEZERIAD
the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in BRMmIEL c ARZEMRETAE LB
nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant TE AR THBERREE K
judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. EOARHAE  SERT—E 5%
Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the Mo EMEBRRLENESE Ay
estimates. HEEASATE -
The following methods and assumptions were used to HERENEeRITAARBEREA
estimate the fair value for each class of financial instruments: ITHERBF
(i) Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade, () BRERBLSEEY ZRHER
other receivables and advance deposits and trade, & BURRR - H A BIKRIE
other payables and advance receipts RENMEZES BHRN - Hit
EARERERRE
The carrying values approximate fair value because of HRZETAHEGIANE |JHﬁ

the short maturities of these instruments. HEREEE N EEER
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(f) Estimation of fair values (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Equity securities held for trading

Fairvalue is based on quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

Interest-bearing loans

The carrying amounts of bank loans approximate
their fair value based on the borrowing rate currently
available for bank loans with similar terms and maturity.

Long-term receivable and long-term payable

The fair values of long-term receivable and long-term
payable are estimated as the present value of future
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at
the reporting date.

Derivative financial instruments

An external independent valuation company, with
appropriate recognised professional qualifications,
values the Company’s convertible bonds at each
balance sheet date. Appropriate valuation methods
and assumptions with reference to market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date to determine the
fair value of the embedded financial derivative of the
convertible bonds that is separated from the host debt
contract are adopted. The basis for determining the fair
value is disclosed in note 37.

The Group relies on the valuations provided by financial
institutions to determine the fair values of the interest
rate swaps based on the discounted cash flow analysis
using the applicable yield curve over the duration of
the instruments. Judgment is required for the variables
used in arriving at these fair values.

43. €I A (&
DNREEGE (E)

®

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

FEXS B AR E S
AABEDRENES AR
B (MHRERIRZR ZA) 7
o

R
RSB AR A L R R B 2
BB B SR1T A0 R -

BITEFMEEESEAQAEBE
pi=H iy
EHERRERBENSR

REEKZ R RBEN RO A
AREERAKREEREMNRE
EITHE - LR E2HRAHD
TG A RAEA

fTEEmMIT A

REEEBERAB - —RINE
BRI AT (A BENITAR
HAEERA CERER)HAR
AMABRERETHE - A
REREEBINIEBELN
MR EBRESHRANITES
RTANAAEBEEMZRERE
BERERAMETHRARR
MBEEREDERKRR EBEE
NABEMEENHEI7HE -

ANEBEKRBEH SR ER
HOMBE NEETERF
R RESNEERS D
MMEXiEH AR EBEEL
BEFHANERERO WS
Mg -SHEHEAABE
Pt FB &Y BUS I E A # B
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. e@MIA(E)
(f) Estimation of fair values (Continued) h 2AREEMGS(E)
(vi) Financial guarantees (vi) BIFBER
The fairvalue of financial guarantees issued is BB EERNALEBED
determined by reference to fees charged in arms’ 2B ANFRGEUREET
length transaction for similar services, when such WELH B A mE T (LeEEE it
information is obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by SRR 2B REEmME
reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing FoOMEEE AT EREBR
the actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee TERNER M BRI R - shst
is made available with the estimated rates that lenders EEERER TR F =
would have charged, had the guarantees not been VER & (Inge s BRI E R e
available, where reliable estimates of such information ARG c BEAABEN
can be made. The basis for determining the fair value is EEN SRR E -

disclosed in note 42.

(vii) Interest rates used for determining fair value (i) FAEEBEAABEZAE
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash RARRBEA RS RE (HE
flows, when applicable, are based on the government ) WIRBRE B IR B T2
yield curve at the reporting date plus an adequate credit BHESN I EENEEEEA
spread, and were as follows: EOEMFIRT

Long-term receivable & H e N/ATNE

Long-term payable & HA B 3% 6.90%
Interest-bearing loans FEEX 1.30%-14.00% 1.12%-7.13%
Convertible bonds AERE S N/ATE A 4.243%
44. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 4, KEHEERRE
(i) Leases as lessee () FRABANHEE
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as AR R A EEN A T AR ST 1~
follows: WASLT -

2010 2009
-85 -TTAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FR ARETE

Less than one year 6,618
Between one and five years —FERF 5,582

Total & &t 12,200

The leases, in respect of office rental charges, run for a period Hp A NE=HeRYEHNOBEETRAFERNRE
within five years. e
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44. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 4. REFERE(E)

(Continued)

(ii) Leases as lessor (i) EAHBANESE
The Group leases out its properties, which include investment NEBRELLHESHEYYE A5
properties and completed properties held for sale leased out BEYELEELANEERSEY
on a temporary basis, under operating leases. The future o RERATRNESARANRIUT
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as HARSWEN A B4 B EZEMT «
follows:

2009
—TENF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARBT T

Less than one year —F R 29,099 28,172
Between one and five years —FERF 117,646 114,150
More than five years HBi@ AT 235,998 262,418

Total & 382,743 404,740

For the year ended 31 December 2010, RMB29,069,000 (2009: HE_Z-ZHF+_A=+T—HLFE B2
RMB27,271,000) was recognised as rental income in respect MLEMEEBRRERNESWARBARE
of investment properties in profit or loss. 29069,0007T (ZFZE NF : ARM27,271,000
T e
45. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 45. EAREE

2010 2009
—®¥-%F -TTAF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBT T

MEZERLE:

Property development activities:

— Contracted but not provided for —BEAIHERER 3,094,452 2,607,856
— Authorised but not contracted for —EREERTH 3,122,908 2,841,889

Total & &t 6,217,360 5,449,745
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46. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 46. BEALRS
Particulars of significant transactions between the Group and certain AREBMBEETEHSIAT (KAATZEEHEE
related parties in which a director or shareholder of the Company is Y ETEEASEE)NBEAST BN
in a position to exercise significant influence are as follows: T
(@) During the year ended 31 December 2010, @ RB=E=-—=2—2Z22F+=AH
transactions with the following parties were =+—HILEFE BEUTAL
considered as related-party transactions: ETHRZREEEALR
Z .
Name of party Relationship
BEALTER &
—Mr. Wang Weixian The founding equity holder and Chairman

of the Company; Controlling shareholder
of the Company’s ultimate holding company

-TRERE RATEIER B AFRER  ARRINSEKRERA
AR R
— Starwaly Properties (Group) Pty Ltd. (“SPG") Controlled by Mr. Wang Weixian
HEEE LA
— Shanghai ZhongXin An associate of the Company
- bERE RN [Z0)i NS
—Shanghai Yunjie Real Estate Consultancy Controlled by a director
Company Limited (“Shanghai Yunjie”) of various operating subsidiaries
- DEEREMEZABRAR ([ LEEXR] ) HEZREE T QAN —(IEFES
—Shenzhen Huibo Investment Development A minority equity holder of Sipo Education
Company Limited (“Huibo")
- RIImEFEREERARAR ( [EFH] ) BEHENDBRERE A
— Peninsula Waitan 50% indirectly owned by Delta Link
-INEEE FiDelta Link E#£#5 50%
—Shanghai Sendao Xinxing Men Chuang Co., Ltd Controlled by a close family member
("Sendao”) of Mr. Wang Weixian
- PEREHEMAEERAA ( [RE] ) TR B AT
— Prestige Glory Enterprises Limited (”Prestige Glory"”) Equity holder of the Company

and owned by Mr. Wang Weixian
AAREBEFAALAERERERS

—Boom Rich Investment Limited (“Boom Rich") Equity holder of the Company
and owned by Ms. Wang Xuling
AREREREARBTIRELZTHS
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46. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2010,
transactions with the following parties were
considered as related-party transactions:
(Continued)

Name of party
BRALER

— SPG Investment Holdings Limited (“SPG Investment”)

—Tianyuan Lifeng and its subsidiaries
(collectively as “Tianyuan Lifeng Group”)

—RENEREMBRR (5 [KRMNEERE] )

—Wuxi Taihu Xincheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(“Taihu Xincheng”)
—EP I ARRFIRERIEEERBR AR ([ARMF])

—Zhaozhi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Zhaozhi”)
—BHEEEBRAT(HE D

(b) Recurring transactions

BEEME -

Pre-sale of properties:

4. BEALREG (&)

REE-ZT-Z25+-A
=t—BLEFE BUTAL
BEITHXZRBAEALX
% (#)

(a)

Relationship

£

Equity holder of the Company
and owned by Mr. Wang Weixian
RARIEREARBEREELRLESR

Jointly controlled group of companies of the Group
REE R R RS S E

A minority equity holder of Wuxi Xindu

B DB A A

An associate of the Group
REEEE AT

b) BEXZ

2009
—ZEETNF

RMB’000
AR®T R

RMB'000
ARBT T

Wang Xuling
Construction cost:
Sendao
Sales commission expense:
Shanghai Yunjie
Sales of service:
Peninsula Waitan
Receipt of accommodation services:
Peninsula Waitan
Financing cost:
Huibo
Consulting expense:
Shanghai Zhongxin

Em
e
#e
HEHS L
EEER

R 75 94 1
S B
R AR
S8
BB

1S
HHEA:
LERE

137

405

6,874

70
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46. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 46. BEALXRS (&)

(Continued)

(b) Recurring transactions (Continued) b) BEXS (&)
Expenses and costs of the above transactions were charged iR B R AR IERE AT
based on the services rendered between the related T R M IRFS A ARSI R o
parties and in accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreements.
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that AATEERA FHREEA TSI
the above related-party transactions were conducted on —REEETETT WREHEER
normal commercial terms and were priced with reference BRAEETEETEER -
to prevailing market prices, and in the ordinary course of
business.

(c) Balance with related parties (0 EHEREALTHEER
As at the end of 2010, the Group had the following balances HE-"T-TEFE . AEEEESEA
with related parties: THUT &%

2010
S5

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT T

Trade balances due B RE B A+ RIE & %
from related parties (note 29): (P 5£29) -
Peninsula Waitan INEFE

Non-trade balances due from related f& U B8 i A + H fib &

parties (note 29): U 5% 48 &4 (B 5229)
Peninsula Waitan INEF S
Mr. Wang Weixian and TRELXERAEAE
his close family members
Prestige Glory Prestige Glory
Boom Rich Boom Rich
SPG Investment SPG Investment
Long-term receivable due JE IR B A £ K A E R
from related parties (note 30): (Pff 5E30) -
Tianyuan Lifeng Group RIREAME & 939,672

941,581 4,051
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46. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Balance with related parties (Continued)

Non-trade balances due to related
parties (note 35):
SPG
— dividends payable
— other payables
Huibo
Tianyuan Lifeng Group
Zhaozhi
Taihu Xincheng

FETREE AT H A E
3% 48 8 (B 5E35)

SPG
—EAERE
—H b F& < RIA
b 18
RBEMEEE
we
KO H

BREALRS (&)
© EBEALHEL(E)

2010 2009
—e-2%

—ZEENF
RMB‘'000
AR F T

RMB’000
AR® TR

9,173
4,051
6,930
128,900
4,030
2,522,000

2,675,084

Trade and non-trade balances due from/to related parties are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Long-
term receivable due from Tianyuan Lifeng Group is unsecured
and repayable by 10 annual instalments starting from 30 June

2011.

(d) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in
note 15 and five of the highest paid to employees as disclosed

in note 16, was as follows:

Salaries and other emoluments

TE R % 8

YR RE A TR K K M
W R R R BRI - RERA
RERFEE - BUKRAN L EEH
BT EBERARER —F——
FRA=ZTREDH(T5)EE -

d) BAREEASHH
PRERABHH - BIEEH TS
WIS T AR D E F O F B
IR BB T A& S
EYF BT

2010 2009
—e-2%
RMB’000
AR®TF

29,176

RMB’000

47. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

(i) Dividends

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Board of Directors
meeting held on 7 March 2011, it was resolved that dividends
of RMB68,390,000 (RMB6.5 cents per ordinary share) were
declared for the year ended 31 December 2010.

(ii) Notes issue

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Board of Directors
meeting held on 7 March 2011, it was resolved that the
Company will issue up to USD500 million (or its equivalent
amount in RMB) in aggregate principal amount of senior
notes (the “Notes”). The Notes are to be listed and quoted on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

HER®BSEE

i RBE
BER-_ZT——F=ZA+tBEHANE
FELRBBOARBE  ARAIRZE
EREE-_FT—ZEF+-_A=+—H
IEFEMR B ARKEE3390007T (&
% AR A R#655)

(i) EE#T
BREEER-_T——F=H
CRBTNERBBNREE
RBAAABETSSABE
T(REEEARB RS ENE
EERBE(ZERE) -REER
BRI NMBEERSHARA
AETREE-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FE2EANBXR

Revenue

Year ended
31 December
2010

A

51
z
£

[=-]
=
=1 S % m o -+

+
+
i
M
G

>._
=
_H

4,271,189

Cost of sales HEMAK ERLERERY  (2,151,003) (853,196)  (1,072,298)  (1,307,483)
Gross profit EX 1,267,206 914,438 541,797 642,209 579,975
Other income Hip A 3,423 5,020 3,289 9,237 15,858
Selling and marketing costs HERTHEBRRA EEREDE  (116,507) (69,484) (65,592) (28,281)
Administrative expenses THER (260,446) (154,183) (157,982) (151,743) (81,546)
Other operating expenses Hinl@ 2R % (24,005) (4,994) (7,129) (9,115) (213)
Net gain on acquisition of a jointly WELFZHERN

controlled entity WEFE 149,911 - 48,216 - -
Net gain on disposal of equity interestin 1} & F 2 7] i 1 £

subsidiaries WHFHE - 61,140 193,112 -
Net gain on repurchase of convertible ~ § 0] 7] & ¥t & 5 2

bonds WaFE 17,248 49,394 58,252 - -
Results from operating activities R B & F &M% A 1,003,151 693,168 478,099 618,108 485,793
Finance income BERA 107,851 16,914 14,199 46,359 23,092
Finance expenses BEKA (61,982) (86,771)  (102,056)  (152,729) (36,640)
Fair value changes on financial NESBIAMDAE

derivatives 2y (20,123) 50,263 (42,495) 20,725 -
Net finance income/(expenses) BEWA/(RK)FHE 25,746 (19,594) (130,352) (85,645) (13,548)
Share of profits of associates FE(E B2 AR A 281,792 66,645 (12,717) (8,239) (318)
Share of losses of jointly controlled entity fE {f £ [ 1% &I & B8 /& 12 (20,008) - - - -
Profit before revaluation gainson KT RENEEHWERFF

investment properties and income 5 % 41 % 7

tax 1,290,681 740,219 335,030 524,224 471,927
Revaluation gains on investment BEMESHE Y&

properties 229,203 517,254 25,000 269,626 39,882
Profit before income tax WRETEHANER 1,519,884 1,257,473 360,030 793,850 511,809
Income tax expense MEHRRAZ (618,278) (427,726) (172,025) (251,580) (112,799)
Total comprehensive income forthe £ E 2 & W A & 5

year 901,606 829,747 188,005 542,270 399,010
Total comprehensive income UTATESEZERA

attributable to: am:

Equity holders of the Company KRERERBEA 890,206 678,520 151,499 517,614 390,818

Minority interests DERRE R 11,400 151,227 36,506 24,656 8,192
Total comprehensive income for the & £ 2 H kA 4 %

year 901,606 829,747 188,005 542,270 399,010
Earnings per share BREF
Basic earnings per share (RMB) RERBFARE L) 0.644 0.146 0.499 0.480
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) REsBRFARET 0.524 0.146 0.462 0.479

Year ended
31 December
2009

Hr ol

=

oo
=
=/ S ¥ IO S -y

JEF++

S=
p2iil
4H

3,065,441

Year ended
31 December
2008

1 S Xt D o -

1,394,993

Year ended
31 December
2007

LR
=1 S Xt o Sm -y

4,;\
=

(Restate
(LE5

1,714,507

Year ended
31 December
2006

=1 S Xt o Sm - K

1,887,458
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

HEEERABR
31December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2010 2009 2008 2007
“EENE ZETLF
T= A +=A
=+—-H =+—8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Restated)
(E50)
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment ngE BERRE 904,068 236,144 252,756 246,039 226,856
Intangible assets BEREE 1,610 1,655 - - -
Land use rights T AR 81,732 74192 79,500 64,173 74,280
Other investment HE&E 13,032 13,032 - - -
Properties under development BRAME 3,600,904 4,235,962 2,558,728 2,356,458 758,434
Investment properties REME 1,948,000 1,640,500 723,000 698,000 333,700
Investment properties under development  # E h ik & ¥ % = - - - 40,907
Investments in associates BELNARE 1,263,247 989,822 923,177 982,507 944,134
Interests in a jointly controlled entity HEAZHEEER 738,468 - - - -
Long-term receivable RBEKRT 814,186 - - - -
Financial derivatives MESBITE 625 51,491 3,382 46,171 -
Deferred tax assets BERBEE 287,139 212,969 88,149 73,728 64,148
Total non-current assets FRBEELE CEEIRED 7455767 4,628,692 4,467,076 2,442,459
Properties under development BRANE (PR 2,963,347 1,800,902 642,593 505,290
Completed properties held for sale BEMGEENE 505,220 235,635 509,861 253,976 387,533
Other investments HpkE 16,115 1,228 856 730 3,319
Trade, other receivables and JEWER - H it R R
advance deposits BREE 3,270,269 864,878 1,340,466 1,079,564 650,009
Long-term receivable with one year —FRIBHEHERR 125,486 - - - -
Restricted cash XRERE 1,985,536 BV 539,771 241,593 841,717
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEED 1,514,439 3,038,945 403,531 863,237 818,974
Total current assets THEELSE 12,338,532 9,512,781 4,595,387 3,081,693 3,206,842
Total assets EEHE PAIERIEIERS 16,968,548 9,224,079 7,548,769 5,649,301
Equity B
Share capital fi% A 106,591 104,347 104,818 105,571 105,571
Share premium & 10 % (B 2,069,086 2,071,330 2,081,584 2,084,437 2,084,437
Reserves HiE 743,255 721,498 689,460 685,931 549,831
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) REHFN/ (2 ERB) 1,499,732 865,426 447,989 451,772 (65,233)
Total Equity attributable to ARARARERBAEN
equity holders of the Company ELdE 4,418,664 3,762,601 3,323,851 3,327,711 2,674,606
Minority interests PERRES 108,254 343,924 524,409 304,577 15,830
Total equity ExEE 4,526,918 4,106,525 3,848,260 3,632,288 2,690,436
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)
RERERERE

31December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT ARBTT ARB®TRE AREBTR

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued) (Restated)
REEERRR(H) (EE5)
Liabilities =X
Interest bearing loans FEER 1,534,694 2,135,747 580,000 372,400 1,111,390
Trade, other payables and advance receipts  J& 1 8% 7%+ £ #h JE 5 30 )2

B A 10,162,183 5,592,876 1,895,128 1,238,662 848,026
Tax payable JE [+ BB 879,931 566,663 323,556 332,421 185,934
Long-term payable within one year —FRNIHHRBEMRK 6,000 6,000 6,000 — -
Total current liabilities RBEELE 12,582,808 8,301,286 2,804,684 1,943,483 2,145,350
Interest bearing loans HEER LDV 3,151,292 1,141,860 678,810 789,470
Long-term payable REEMR 42,738 45,301 49,013 — —
Convertible bonds AE R E A - 902,642 1,029,227 1,080,189 —
Deferred tax liabilities EXEHBER 491,693 461,502 351,035 213,999 24,045
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELAE 4,881,817 B ECOVEY 2,571,135 1,972,998 813,515
Total liabilities EERAE 17,464,625 12,862,023 5,375,819 3,916,481 2,958,865

Total equity and liabilities BEREEAE ARERER 16,968,548 9,224,079 7,548,769 5,649,301
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